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President
Nancy House

“As a profession, we must 
better communicate the  
value of geophysics in 
terms that are digestible to 
nongeophysicist managers  
and business people.”

It has been a pleasure to serve as 
the SEG president and work with 
the Board of Directors, staff, and 
members. While the oil and gas 
industry, which has provided most of 
the support for SEG over the past 80 
years, stabilized in 2018, the role of 
applied geophysics in the search and 
development of energy is changing 
as more unconventional resources 
are developed, the cost of applied-
geophysical studies increase, and 
machine learning gains traction. 
SEG must enable members of the 
profession to adapt to these changing 
realties while maintaining the integrity 
of the science and passing it on to 
future generations.

PORTFOLIOS 

For these reasons, it became 
apparent that a revolutionary change 
in the culture of our Society was 
needed. To this end, a rebuild was 
orchestrated by Past President Bill 
Abriel in 2017. He stated, “A key aim 
is to achieve long-term sustainability 
for core programs. Implementing 
the rebuild initiatives will occupy 
most of 2018 and should provide 
the foundation for effective program 
management in the years ahead 
with a portfolio of certified program 
offerings that meet the same need.” 

SEG 2.0 was implemented with further 
grouping of activities, programs, and 
committees. The appointing of volunteer 
advisors, Board liaisons, and staff 
managers to coordinate the activities 
of each portfolio was instigated by this 
year’s Board, volunteers, and staff. The 
old way of doing business where the 
Board merely accepted or rejected 
proposals on an ad-hoc basis gave 
way to portfolios of similar programs, 
initiatives, and committees so that new 
programs could be weighed against the 
others to better prioritize resources. 

One new committee, the Strategy 
and Planning Committee, was formed 
to advance strategy, planning, and 
business planning for the portfolios. 
This committee sits above the 

portfolios and offloads much of the 
prioritizing burden of the Finance 
Committee that occurs during the 
annual budget process. 

The intent is to have a long-range plan 
for programs within each portfolio 
and for each portfolio to have better 
strategic long-range planning. While 
the concept was challenging to 
achieve, it became apparent at the first 
pass of the budget that a program that 
might have been rejected due to an 
insufficient budget could be put into a 

portfolio and balanced there. Several 
new initiatives that might have perished 
for timing and budgeting reasons 
remained in a portfolio as unfunded 
opportunities ready for a potential 
windfall or a change in priorities. 
Such was the case for the GROWTH 
program, which was approved for 
development by the Board.

FINANCES

SEG finances track the indicators 
of the industry with a slight lag. The 

year 2018 was a time of stable and 
cautious investing by the hydrocarbon 
industry. While SEG exited 2017 with 
a small surplus, it was mostly due to 
continued fiscal discipline practiced 
by SEG staff. As noted last year, to 
achieve sustainability the Society 
must add revenue from programs 
and new initiatives. The staff took on 
these challenges and succeeded in 
increasing revenue in most portfolios. 
We expect to exit 2018 with an 
increase of cash reserves and above-
budgeted revenue. 

SM
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To that end, several initiatives were 
passed that will help ensure SEG 
remains financially stable in the 
future. The first was a much-needed 
dues increase, the first rate change 
(aside from a 2013 inflation-triggered 
adjustment) since 2009, when a 20% 
increase and the inflation trigger were 
instituted. Additionally, there were 
numerous changes and adaptations 
to increase attendance at the Annual 
Meeting in a location approved by the 
Board in 2011 that was not popular 
with some stalwart exhibitors, some 
struggling financially. The registration 
fees also were increased to ensure 
that the meeting did not suffer a loss. 
The success of the meeting increased 
revenue targets necessary for SEG to 
continue to thrive and was due to the 
efforts of SEG management and staff.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 

An applied geophysicist entering 
the industry can’t possibly know all 
the specific knowledge to contribute 
immediately. As more and more 
professionals retire and ranks are 
filled with early-career professionals, 
the gaps in knowledge and 
experience continue to grow. The 
incidence of costly and potentially 
dangerous mistakes increases as 
well. The need for mentors and 
coaches to transfer best practices 
and fundamental knowledge to those 

entering the applied-geophysics 
profession can’t be overstated. For 
geophysicists early in their careers, in 
mid-career, or taking career detours, 
SEG is ideally situated to provide 
learning opportunities to facilitate 
professional advancement.

The job task analysis (JTA) completed 
in 2017 identified the critical 
geophysical, professional, and soft 
skills that a qualified petroleum 
geophysicist needs to master. This, 
combined with SEG’s competency 
management system (CMS), rolled out 
in 2016, can provide members with 
an assessment of skills required to 
become qualified. The JTA additionally 
highlighted the need for nontechnical 
skills one must possess to contribute 
as a professional. The GROWTH 
program was approved to develop 
a curriculum in soft skills and ethics. 
SEG will be the place for a professional 
geophysicist to develop and hone skills 
they need. The Society will coordinate 
offerings with other organizations 
such as the American Association 
of Petroleum Geologists (AAPG), the 
Society of Petroleum Engineers (SPE), 
and the American Geophysical Union 
(AGU) to provide members with the 
tools to manage careers at all stages 
— from student to retiree.

MEETINGS

For the first time in 2016, planning 
for the Annual Meeting started two 
years in advance. Anaheim was 
a challenging location during a 
downturn in the industry and not a 
traditional oil and gas marketplace, 
even though it sits on one of the 
earliest-discovered and largest 
oilfields in the country. Society 
leaders thought it was critical that we 
do everything possible to improve 
the meeting. The Annual Meeting 
Steering Committee was mobilized 
well before the meeting in Houston: 
Exhibitors were invited to a forum in 
early 2017, and new procedures for 
Technical Program Committee chair 
and co-chair were implemented. 
The co-chair is now invited to serve 
as chair of the following year’s 
committee. This continuity will help 
improve the technical content of future 
Annual Meetings.

Early planning continued for the 2018 
Annual Meeting with the appointment 
of a co-chair experienced in 
unconventional geophysics. Plenary 
sessions were added focusing on 
the Business of Applied Geophysics, 
and Darryl Willis, vice president for 
oil, gas, and energy for Google, was 
invited to speak. Other improvements 
were made across the board, and the 
meeting was a success even though 

attendance was lower than for any 
Annual Meeting held during the past 
20 years.

We have heard from numerous 
exhibitors and attendees who 
have to choose among petroleum 
geology, applied geophysics, and 
engineering conferences, and we are in 
negotiations with sister organizations to 
host a mega joint meeting in the near 
future where each organization would 
have a show contemporaneously 
or consecutively with the others. A 
joint meeting could be held every 
few years to foster cross-disciplinary 
collaboration and provide efficiencies 
for attendees and exhibitors. 
Collaborative multidisciplinary 
conferences such as the 

Unconventional Resources Technology 
Conference, Offshore Technology 
Conference, and International 
Petroleum Technology Conference are 
expected to be more important in the 
future for SEG and other professional 
scientific societies. SEG must continue 
to evolve to keep up with the times and 
improve the continuity and quality of 
our meetings. 

ALLIANCES AND COOPERATION WITH 
OTHER SOCIETIES

Geophysics exists to better understand 
geology and to provide better input for 
engineering solutions. As a Society, 
we must maintain connections and 
solicit input from those who rely on 
geophysics to enable their science 

R E P O R T S  O F  O F F I C E R S
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and profession. As a profession, 
we must better communicate the 
value of geophysics in terms that 
are digestible to nongeophysicist 
managers and business people. The 
continued downward pressure on 
cost has significantly hurt the industry. 
Without clear communication to 
other disciplines of the value and the 
technical quality required to realize 
the value, the industry is at risk to 
those who believe that data are data 
and just need to be put through a 
machine-learning algorithm. The best 
way to achieve greater understanding 
of geophysics’ value is through better 
collaboration and communication 
with practitioners of other disciplines 
in joint, focused meetings. To that 
end, SEG has led the way for a joint 
machine learning/artificial intelligence 
conference in cooperation with SPE 
and AAPG in the second quarter of 
2019. The name of the conference is 
Energy in Data.

GLOBAL AND REGIONAL IMPACT 

SEG Global Inc., which facilitates 
operations in China, has succeeded 
in operating numerous events in 
China in a cost-effective and efficient 
approach. The SEG Middle East 
Advisory Committee continues 
to host high-quality successful 
workshops in the Middle East along 
with cooperative biannual events 

with AAPG. SEG, teamed with the 
European Association of Geoscientists 
and Engineers (EAGE) and the Society 
of Petroleum Geophysicists (SPG) in 
India, will host a workshop on foothills 
and sub-basalt imaging in 2019. 
Gustavo Carstens engaged members 
and partners in Latin America 
to promote SEG activities and 
workshops suggested or planned by 
the Latin America Regional Advisory 
Committee. SEG has implemented 
several methods for dues and event 
payments in currencies other than 
U.S. dollars. Each of these initiatives 
during the past year represent 
incremental improvements in 
operations that will enable members 
and others worldwide to benefit from 
and participate in SEG  
more effectively.

DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION

Diversity issues continue to be a 
focus for further improvement. I 
hosted a “Bias Workshop” for the 
Board in April facilitated by Mary 
Anne Holmes, who has received 
numerous grants from the National 
Science Foundation (NSF) to better 
understand how to increase diversity 
in the geosciences. Practicing 
diversity of ideals, gender, culture, 
and age must begin at the top of an 
organization, and our profession can 
go a long way to improve in these 

areas. Geophysics has adopted 
a double-blind review process to 
reduce the opportunity for bias 
in acceptance decisions. More 
and more women and members 
from outside North America are 
recognized for their contributions 
each year. There is a concerted effort 
to ensure that qualified candidates 
representing greater diversity are 
put forward for Board nominations, 
award nominations, and committee 
chair positions. The editorial board 
will enhance review processing for 
nontechnical articles submitted for 
publication. Our Society should lead  
this endeavor rather than accept the 
status quo.

President-elect 
Robert R. Stewart

“We aspire to increase our 
impact on the science and 
profession of geophysics along 
with advancing the industry and 
enhancing social prosperity.”

Albert Einstein noted (as translated 
from German) that, “Life is like riding a 
bicycle — to keep your balance, you 
must keep moving.” My time serving 
as president-elect during 2017–2018 
has been active, challenging, and 
satisfying. It included a lot of movement 
with many exciting developments and 
balancing needs. The mainstay of our 
applied-geophysics profession — the 
exploration and production of resources 
— has recovered and stabilized 
somewhat from a previous downtrend. 
This has allowed us to assess our new, 
more compact industry and academia 
and plan for the continuing adjustment 
of our Society to external drives, internal 
initiatives, and the delivery of knowledge 
and services to our members. We’re 

planning for growth. We aspire to 
increase our impact on the science and 
profession of geophysics along with 
advancing the industry and enhancing 
social prosperity.

I’m grateful for the counsel of the 
past, current, and future presidents 
along with the Board and staff. We 
certainly test the limits of Zoom 
teleconferencing. Many thanks to the 
tireless efforts of Past Presidents Bill 
Abriel and John Bradford, 2017–18 
President Nancy House, and 2018–
2019 President-elect Rick Miller. 
We have numerous ongoing efforts 
in the Society to improve member 
services, increase online offerings, 
and deepen our educational and 
networking opportunities. The key to 
help budget and operate effectively 
has been the rebuild effort. SEG has 
redefined parts of the operational 
structure of the organization to group 
activities and committees into related 
units or portfolios. We hope that this 
new structure will allow more nimble 
responses, further administrative 
enhancements, and result in financial 
efficacies.

The Society’s mandate includes 
the four Cs of activity — creation, 
communication, conservation, and 
commercialization of geophysical 
knowledge. Education and 
professional development form a 

R E P O R T S  O F  O F F I C E R S
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large part of our efforts. The staff 
and Board considered some form of 
“certification” for geophysicists. But 
this was controversial, and ultimately 
the decision was to enhance our 
educational offerings in other ways. 
Part of this enhancement is based 
on a very detailed worldwide survey 
of knowledge required for a resource 
geophysicist — the job task analysis. 
We are organizing an exciting 
curriculum around this foundation. 

SEG owns an attractive campus with 
two buildings on Yale Avenue in Tulsa. 
Some organizations own their buildings 
while others lease theirs. Depending 
on time and circumstance, either 
option can be viable. During the last 
year, there has been much debate 
about these special buildings and 
the allocation of SEG resources. The 
discussion continues with real-estate 
decisions to be made that will provide 
the greatest benefit to the Society and 
its members.

Our Annual Meeting in Anaheim was 
a full financial and technical success. 
Thank you to Dan Hollis (general chair) 
and team. Proximity to Disneyland, 
California’s beaches, and the nearby 
high-tech world gave the meeting a 
distinctive character. There were many 
emergent technologies introduced with 
a number of new participants such as 
Google. Both before and in Anaheim, 

we were well into planning and 
contracting of our upcoming Annual 
Meeting in San Antonio. With many 
activities — technical, professional, 
and collegial — as well as field trips, 
we anticipate a large and enthusiastic 
gathering in south Texas.

As mentioned earlier, we envision 
growing the Society in terms of 
membership, geography, scope, and 
impact. To augment our ability to 
extend services and benefits to further 
regions (in addition to our successful 
Middle East and China offices), we will 
open a Houston office and hopefully 
other locations in South America, 
Southeast Asia, and Europe. We 
want to increase our usefulness in 
underserved parts of the world. This 
will entail further interacting with our 
associated groups, regional advisors, 
volunteers, and staff closer to areas of 
activity and membership.

Of very special and substantial impact 
to the people and science of SEG 
is the SEG Foundation. I can’t give 
enough praise to our Foundation, 
which contributes some US$2 million 
per year toward our programs, 
scholarships, and grants. They have 
a very direct contribution to many 
young geophysicists and numerous 
other individuals’ professional lives and 
development. Thank you, Foundation. 
And to all our members, please 

consider giving to the SEG Foundation 
— it will make a real difference.

In summary, based on a solid 2018, we 
are very optimistic about the future of 
applied geophysics and SEG. We plan 
to grow the Society with imagination 
and fiscal discipline.

I’m looking forward to seeing you at an 
SEG event – San Antonio at the latest!

Past president
Bill Abriel

“One of the most important 
objectives of SEG is to facilitate 
the integration of geophysics 
along with the entire petroleum 
value chain of exploration, 
development, and production.”

This is my third year serving on the 
SEG Executive Committee and Board 
of Directors in a presidential role, and 
I am pleased to have been engaged. 

SEG has wisely staged the presidency 
into three one-year segments 
including president-elect, president, 
and past president. 

It has been my pleasure to work 
closely with the president, Board, 
executive director, and staff. As 
President Nancy House explained, 
the potential for a step change in 
operational excellence is under way to 
manage SEG initiatives organized in 
portfolios. This allows for a coordinated 
way to manage the balance between 
similar programs, and the portfolios link 
directly to SEG’s strategic goals.

There is excellent progress in 
aligning SEG activities to the goals of 
building on our legacy of geophysical 
excellence and expanding our influence 
in the social contribution of the 
profession. SEG staff help coordinate 
hundreds of volunteers across the 
globe to offer the finest knowledge 
management and connectivity 
necessary for professionals in applied 
geophysics. Below are examples 
in which I am engaged and plan to 
support going forward.

One of the most important objectives 
of SEG is to facilitate the integration 
of geophysics along with the entire 
petroleum value chain of exploration, 
development, and production. This is 
a major focus of the SEG Advanced 

Modeling program (SEAM). Now in its 
tenth year, SEAM is not only operating 
the generation of world-class data 
sets to challenge imaging practices, 
but it is now engaged in challenges 
for geologic inversion, interpretation, 
pressure prediction, and time-lapse 
production monitoring. In 2019, SEAM 
will begin a multifaceted initiative for 
facilitating the application of artificial 
intelligence to petroleum geophysics.

A second important objective of SEG 
is to aid the geophysical community in 
illustrating and supporting the business 
value of applied geophysics. The 2018 
Annual Meeting included a series 
of plenary sessions led by industry 
experts titled “Business of Applied 
Geophysics.” The sessions included 
the topics of unconventionals, digital 
transformation, social contribution, 
regulatory environment, and the 
business environment of the southern 
Gulf of Mexico. They were effective, 
and SEG plans to continue and expand 
business-focused plenary sessions.

SEG also is engaged in working 
more closely with related professional 
organizations such as the American 
Association of Petroleum Geologists 
and the Society of Petroleum 
Engineers. In 2019, these organizations 
will combine their efforts to produce a 
new multisociety integrated conference 
operated by SEG and focused on the 
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digital transformation in the upstream 
petroleum business. The new Energy 
in Data Conference will hold its first 
meeting 17–19 June in Austin, Texas, 
and will highlight the interactions of 
industry leaders and practitioners 
to describe the problems, issues, 
solutions, and future path of how digital 
technology is changing the way the 
petroleum industry operates.

It is my hope that you will find a way to 
engage in the activities of SEG. Actively 
working with applied-geophysics 
professionals is richly rewarding, and 
SEG is the finest example of a well-
run and effectively focused institution 
with a rich history and an encouraging 
future. My thanks to you for allowing 
me the opportunity to serve in a 
presidential role.

First vice president
Madeline Lee

“As SEG relies on a dynamic 
industry, it is important that we 
adapt as a Society.”

During my 2017–2018 term as SEG first 
vice president, my aim was to support 
emerging professionals, students, the 
SEG Women’s Network Committee 
(WNC), as well as several other technical 
committees. I was the Board liaison for 
numerous committees including Gravity 
and Magnetics, Mining, AGU–SEG 
Collaboration, Field Camps, Committee 
on University and Student Programs 
(CUSP), Membership, Emerging 
Professionals International (EPIC), and 
WNC. It was a pleasure to support their 
efforts over my term and provide a voice 
on their behalf during Board discussions. 
I would like to highlight a few of the many 
accomplishments of the  
various committees.

The Gravity and Magnetics Committee 
continued to be active at the 2018 

Annual Meeting with a successful 
technical session, a postconvention 
workshop with more than 50 attendees, 
a luncheon, and many well-recognized 
publications in the Meter Reader 
column in The Leading Edge (TLE). 

The Mining Committee organized 
multiple events during the 2018 Annual 
Meeting including oral and poster 
sessions, a luncheon, and a student-
appreciation evening. 

The AGU–SEG Collaboration 
Committee continued development 
of their collaborative workshops 
including the AGU–SEG 2019 Airborne 
Geophysics Workshop that will 
delve into airborne applications for 
groundwater, resource exploration, and 
hazard investigations.

SEG continued to provide opportunities 
to the student membership through 
various committees. The Field Camps 
Committee had another successful 
year. Fourteen field camps applicants 
from around the world received 
awards, totaling US$103,751, which 
allowed nearly 650 students the 
opportunity to practice geophysics in 
the field. 

Within CUSP, the Student Chapter 
Excellence program continued to 
flourish with 226 active student 
chapters. 

As SEG relies on a dynamic industry, 
it is important that we adapt as a 
Society. Therefore, this remains an 
ongoing challenge faced by the 
Membership Committee. That being 
said, the committee has proposed 
means to streamline membership 
roles. In 2018, a ballot on Bylaws 
changes was presented to the 
SEG Membership in the hope of 
increasing voter turnout and ultimately 
engagement by SEG Members. 

Large strides were carried out by 
newer committees, such as EPIC and 
WNC, which held many impactful 
events leading up to and at the 
2018 Annual Meeting. EPIC hosted 
numerous international networking 
events throughout the year, which 
carried on the tradition of bringing 
together members who are still 
navigating the transition between 
school and the workforce. 

WNC worked tirelessly to empower 
women’s participation within SEG. 
Its efforts included a Career Workout 
at the Annual Meeting and monthly 
publications in TLE’s Full Spectrum 
— a section dedicated to articles 
promoting the impact of women in 
the geophysical community. A notable 
advancement was the GROWTH 
initiative put forward by WNC. This 
proposed program aims to streamline 
activities related to WNC, EPIC, and 

students with a focus on leadership, 
diversity, and talent. I had the privilege 
of working with a driven group of 
members to begin developing a 
model for this program. I presented 
the preliminary business plan at the 
Board of Directors’ meeting in October 
2018, and it received positive feedback 
and endorsement. I look forward to 
continued involvement in GROWTH 
as it comes to fruition, as I believe it 
will be an important means to bridging 
the gap between many of SEG’s 
committees and members.

Reflecting on my term, I remember 
how I stepped into my role as first 
vice president the week I began my 
maternity leave. Taking on this new 
position was both a challenge and 
a blessing. Learning to balance my 
volunteer role in conjunction with my 
new personal responsibilities was a 
rocky road at times. I appreciated that 
I work in Canada where I could take a 
full year of leave without any worry of 
impact on my employment. However, 
it also meant a stretch of time with 
limited connection to fellow colleagues, 
ongoing research and development, 
and engagement in innovative 
discussions. SEG and the Board were 
my link to the geophysical community 
while I learned to navigate my changing 
world at home. SEG provided me the 
opportunity and forum to continue 
to be involved in discussions of both 
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technical and logistical matters so that 
I would not face a steep reintegration 
curve upon my return to work. For 
that, I am thankful to all those with 
whom I have worked during my term 
for their encouragement, thoughtful 
discussions, and most of all, patience.

Second vice president
Alexander Mihai Popovici

“As we are coming out of the 
downturn, SEG is focusing on 
strengthening and expanding 
geophysics internationally, and 
following the success of the 
Middle East and China offices, 
increasing the reach of its 
membership services to more 
countries and global areas.”

I joined the SEG Board at the 2017 
Annual Meeting, and it has been a 
great honor to represent and serve 
the SEG Membership as second 
vice president during the 2017–2018 

period. During my first year on the 
Board of Directors, I participated in 
several Board meetings and served 
as liaison between the Board and a 
number of committees. One such 
committee, Geoscientists Without 
Borders® (GWB), is close to my heart 
as I served on the original founder 
board led by Craig Beasley and as 
chair after Craig finished his tenure. 
I still help with fundraising and hope 
GWB grows into a Nobel Prize 
candidate. Many thanks to all of the 
dedicated volunteers who serve our 
Society and the outstanding group of 
professionals on the SEG staff.

As we are coming out of the downturn, 
SEG is focusing on strengthening and 
expanding geophysics internationally, 
and following the success of the 
Middle East and China offices, 
increasing the reach of its membership 
services to more countries and global 
areas. The SEG Middle East office 
is a good model to replicate in other 
markets, as it is approaching US$1 
million in local revenue from organizing 
8–12 local workshops every year, 
partnering in local conferences, and 
reaching several countries in their 
orbit. The potential to each SEG 
regional office is to reach a US$1–2 
million revenue level in a few years, 
increase local membership in each 
area, engage students and early 
professionals, collaborate with local 

societies, and increase scientific and 
innovative activities in their territory.

The four largest international oil 
companies (ExxonMobil, Shell, BP, 
and Chevron) have only 16% of the 
total market for oil and gas revenue 
(learn more here). The other 84% are 
national oil companies (NOCs) such 
as Saudi Aramco, China National 
Petroleum Corporation (CNPC), 
Kuwait Oil Company (KOC), Petronas, 
Petrobras, Pemex, etc. To have access 
to the NOCs, many service companies 
establish subsidiaries in their local 
markets. SEG will expand its global 
reach in these world markets by 
establishing offices in each geographic 
influence area following the model of 
the service companies. In the same 
way Houston became the energy 
center for North America, Rio de 
Janeiro is the center for South America, 
and London is the gravity center for 
Western Europe. SEG already has an 
office in Dubai that covers the Middle 
East market and in Beijing that covers 
the China market. Apart from London 
and Rio de Janeiro, the other market 
centers in which to establish offices 
are Singapore for the Southeast Asia 
market, Lagos for the Africa market, 
Moscow for the Russia market (in a 
future when sanctions will allow it), 
and Bucharest for the Eastern Europe 
market. Full disclosure here, I was 
born in Romania so Bucharest is my 

personal bias. India is another separate 
market, with the center in Mumbai.

The SEG Board can rank the priority 
of opening global offices following a 
rational process. The SEG president 
and a member of the business 
development staff can visit each 
market; talk to the local companies; 
establish their interest in local 
workshops, lectures, participation, 
and sponsorship for local events; 
and create a budget estimate. My 
gut feeling is that the top market in 
terms of SEG revenue is Western 
Europe with London as the location 
for the next SEG office, followed by 
South America with Rio de Janeiro 
and Southeast Asia with Singapore. 
But that has to be determined after 
visits on the ground. The goal for each 
office is to serve local SEG Members 
and constituents and deliver on the 
SEG mission to promote the science 
of exploration geophysics and related 
fields including applications and 
research, foster the common scientific 
interests of geophysicists, and 
maintain a high professional standing 
among members.

Local societies are naturally 
apprehensive when another 
international society enters their turf.
They don’t have to be. SEG should 
not endanger their revenue stream; on 
the contrary, SEG’s presence should 

increase it. By working together on 
new events, workshops, and lectures, 
both the local society and SEG will 
benefit. SEG advertising of the events 
will attract international researchers 
and managers who normally do not 
attend local events. SEG needs to 
carefully communicate the benefits and 
advantages of partnering and structure 
the collaboration without interfering 
with the existing local events.
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Treasurer and Finance 
Committee 
Lee Bell and Alison Weir Small

“The Finance Department, 
senior management team, 
and boards of all subsidiaries 
worked diligently to achieve a 
consolidated cash net zero (or 
positive) balanced budget …”

The treasurer and Finance Committee 
wish to recognize the diligent work of 
SEG staff and volunteers in their effort 
to continually improve the stewardship 
of SEG funds. Once again budgeting, 
monitoring, and forecasting cash 
reserves and cashflow were a prime 
focus of staff, the Finance Committee, 
and the Board of Directors. This 
year emphasis was placed on 
consolidated SEG cashflow rather 
than SEG standalone cashflow. In 
particular, the Finance Department, 
senior management team, and boards 
of all subsidiaries worked diligently 
to achieve a consolidated cash net 
zero (or positive) balanced budget for 

calendar year 2018. The process took 
much time and effort, and all should 
be commended for their perseverance 
and effort.

The Board mandated that all 
subsidiaries present budgets ending 
the year in a net cash neutral or net 
cash positive position, ensuring that 
SEG did not have to dip into SEG 
reserves to subsidize programs or 
subsidiaries, and allowing preservation 
and growth of these reserves. (As per 
policy, SEG’s budget is capped at one-
half of the reserve. A larger reserve 
translates to more money for program 
operations.) As of this writing, SEG 
and all subsidiaries are cash positive 
for the year 2018, as recommended 
by the Finance Committee last year. 
This is an incredible and much-
needed achievement. Success 
can be attributed to enaction of 
recommendations from the Board and 
Finance Committee. Many suggestions 
that the Finance Committee has made 
over the past years regarding planning, 
fiscal responsibility, and charges for 
services in line with their delivery costs, 
were moved forward this year.

The Board and Finance Committee 
expectations are that future SEG and 
subsidiary budgets will be cash net 
neutral or cash net positive. Variances to 
the budgets have been and will continue 
to be monitored closely so that mitigating 

action can be taken if projections indicate 
a cash net negative year-end outcome. 
The purpose of early warning/financial 
monitoring is to provide sufficient time 
for dialogue among all stakeholders to 
achieve a productive, mutually agreeable 
solution to any budget variances that will 
result in net cash losses by the end of 
the year.

Progress continued to be made 
in the areas of business planning, 
budgeting, and financial reporting with 
the introduction of business portfolios. 
Business portfolios have been defined 
and assigned to staff and volunteers. 
Past President Bill Abriel’s initiative to 
divide SEG’s operations into portfolios 
(or business lines) to facilitate business 
planning, improve business analysis, 
and encourage innovation and 
volunteer involvement continued under 
President Nancy House’s leadership, 
culminating in the presentation of 
abridged portfolio business plans at 
the 2019 Finance Committee budget 
meeting. Presentation of these 
abbreviated plans relieved the Finance 
Committee of much of the business-
planning function that it had taken on 
through time. As a result, the 2019 
budget process was significantly 
streamlined for the Finance Committee 
and Board, allowing them to focus on 
the big picture and add strategic value. 
The portfolio system is currently in its 
infancy, so the planning and budgeting 

process should continue to improve 
as it becomes refined over the next 
few years. The goal is to have five-
year plans and rough out-year budget 
projections for each portfolio, and each 
program within each portfolio, at the 
2020 budget meeting.

The Finance Committee undertook 
a review of the SEG investment 
company, as is required periodically 
by SEG policy, and solicited bids 
from several investment firms. Upon 
recommendation of the Finance 
Committee, the Board chose to 
move SEG’s investments from 
Ameriprise to Morgan Stanley, which 
also manages the SEG Foundation 
funds. Employing Morgan Stanley as 
SEG’s investment firm elevated the 
total investment over the threshold 
that allowed the SEG Foundation to 
take advantage of some powerful 
nonprofit resources and services 
at Morgan Stanley. The Finance 
Committee took the opportunity 
of the move to Morgan Stanley to 
re-evaluate the investment policy and 
align it with current best practices 
using the SEG Foundation investment 
policy template as a starting point. 
The investment profiles are different, 
but much of the policy is similar. 
SEG was able to take advantage of 
the hard work that the Foundation 
and its Finance Committee put into 
rewriting their investment policy. The 

Finance Department has become 
effective at forecasting and projecting 
cashflow and cash needs, so attention 
was turned to defining investment 
guidelines that would improve return 
while maintaining a relatively low level 
of risk and reasonable liquidity. The 
reserve policy also was reviewed, 
and recommendations are being 
formulated.

Indirect cost (IDC) phase-in continued 
such that subsidiaries covered 60% 
of their fully allocated indirect costs in 
2018. Subsidiaries will cover 80% of 
their indirect costs in 2019 and 100% 
in 2020. Phasing in the reimbursement 
of IDC has allowed the subsidiaries 
to adjust to this added expense and 
become more cost efficient in their 
business.

SEG’s guarantee of the SEG Real 
Estate Corporation (REC) loan 
continues to impact SEG financial 
decisions and will impact SEG 
reserves in 2020 if other options are 
not pursued. It is recognized that 
further cash requests may be made 
with regard to commissions and 
tenant improvements necessitated 
by any new leases. The SEG Board 
of Directors has instructed the Real 
Estate Board to pursue options with 
regard to Geophysical Resource 
Center I and II buildings. It is crucial 
that SEG decide on the path forward 
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with REC as soon as possible, as it 
has been a distraction from SEG’s core 
business for both staff and volunteers.

It is the goal of the treasurer and 
Finance Committee to provide the 
Board with all of the pertinent correct 
information necessary to make 
informed decisions in the best interest 
of SEG, ensuring that due diligence 
has been provided by all those with 
knowledge of SEG’s finances, strategy, 
and business planning.

Chair of the Council
Lee Lawyer

“The SEG Board approved three 
changes to the SEG Bylaws.”

The SEG Council met twice during 
the 2017–2018 Society year. The first 
was in the second quarter to approve 
the 2017 SEG Annual Report. The 
second was at the Annual Meeting.

A communication method was 
initiated titled “From the Chair.” It was 
monthly and described the actions of 
the SEG Board and internal news of 
the Council. 

An ad-hoc committee was 
appointed by the chair to investigate 
communication challenges facing 
district representatives. District 
representatives are elected to 
represent all SEG Members within 
their respective districts. They have 
no communication channels with  
that group. It was still an ongoing 
study at the close of the 2018 
Council Annual Meeting. 

The chair serves a three-year term. 
During the final year of the term of office, 
a nominating process is undertaken to 
identify chair candidates for the following 
term. An election is held at the close of 
nominations. The winning candidate for 
2018–2021 is Gustavo Carstens. A gavel 
was passed to him at the 2018 Council 
Annual Meeting. The runner-up in the 
election, John Duhault, was named 
Council vice chair.

The SEG Board approved three changes 
to the SEG Bylaws. Those changes were 
sent to the Council for approval. The 
three proposed changes were:

PROPOSAL 1: COUNCIL CHAIR 
NOMINATIONS

This proposal called for expansion of 
the pool of Council chair candidates 
from current members of the Council 
to current members plus previous 
members of the Council. 

PROPOSAL 2: MEMBERSHIP 
CREDENTIALS 

This proposal provided for reduction of 
credential-submission requirements for 
applicants to Active Membership. 

PROPOSAL 3: ASSOCIATE MEMBER 
VOTING RIGHTS

This proposal aimed to provide 
voting rights and the right of petition 
to Associate Members. Under this 
change, Associate Members still 
would have been restrained from 
holding elective office or serving on the 
Council. Associate Members would 
have been included in the member 
count to determine the number of 
representatives on the Council. 

Proposals 1 and 3 were approved by 
the Council and subsequently sent to 
the Active Membership in December 
2018 for approval. Both were approved 
in the ballot of Active Member voting 
and, therefore, were adopted.

Director at large
Rocky Detomo

“The growing diversity in our 
technology and membership 
will offer us the opportunity 
to learn more from each other 
and contribute to the improved 
identification and use of our 
planet’s resources.”

A changing professional membership 
and a persistent constrained-oil-price 
environment require us to deliver new, 
innovative, and historically valued 
programs in a more creative and cost-
effective manner. 

I would like to begin my final report 
by thanking the SEG Membership 
for continued support during these 
past three years. My time as director 
has seen SEG become a much more 
cost-conscious, effective, and efficient 
organization, all occurring while the 
oil and gas industry underwent a 
historic contraction. SEG Membership 
participation, volunteerism, and 

activism have reached new levels and 
continue to be of critical importance 
in helping SEG achieve excellence in 
the quality and delivery of material and 
programs. It has been a true honor for 
me to serve during the 2017–2018 term. 

The Board of Directors is committed 
to making progress in building 
an organization that better aligns 
future membership needs with 
the organization’s capabilities and 
deliveries. During this past year, SEG 
leadership has been successful in 
continuing to deliver proven high-quality 
core programs for students, members, 
and participating businesses, while 
improving diversity across members, 
industries, and the globe. 

When I accepted the nomination for 
this office, I made several promises to 
the SEG Membership. The following 
are the actions I took during 2017–2018 
in continued support of my promises. 

HELPING OUR YOUNG 
PROFESSIONALS AROUND THE 
WORLD GROW 

I have continued to strongly support 
our student events and lecture series 
including the Distinguished Lecture, 
Honorary Lecture, Student Leadership 
Symposium, Scholarship, and Student 
Chapter programs. These programs 
are expensive but are fully supported 
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by the continued generous support 
of our corporate and individual 
donors through the SEG Foundation. 
Although these programs do not 
generate any direct income for 
SEG, they are critical components 
in supporting our future leaders and 
educating our emerging professionals.

I worked closely with our sponsors, 
staff, and the SEG Foundation to 
execute a highly successful 2018 
EVOLVE program — a revolutionary 
approach to multidisciplinary, 
integrated, team-based experiential 
learning for geophysicists, geologists, 
reservoir engineers, petrophysicists, 
and rock physicists. This year, more 
than 60 student participants from 
across the globe executed exploration 
evaluations that helped prepare them 
as future leaders of the oil and gas 
industry. I also have supported the 
professional development of our young 
professionals and recent graduates 
through SEG’s existing Emerging 
Professionals International Committee 
(EPIC) program and Special Interest 
Groups and as well as the new 
GROWTH initiative.

In addition, I sponsored a task force 
to create a roadmap for prioritizing 
and aligning SEG’s existing and future 
career-development offerings through 
the Professional Development Portfolio 
Alignment Project. The results will help 

steer the balanced allocation of SEG 
resources to member programs for 
many years to come.

And, finally, as a contributor to 
the Membership Committee, I 
assisted in the committee’s effort 
to find solutions to issues that have 
limited opportunities for members 
to contribute through volunteerism, 
helped institute the implementation 
of our new PayPal option for easier 
dues payments across the globe, and 
advised on proposed bylaw changes 
that expand Associate Member 
benefits and voting rights.

ENCOURAGING GEOPHYSICISTS TO 
WORK ACROSS DISCIPLINARY AND 
PROFESSIONAL BOUNDARIES 

As a professional physicist working 
in the oil and gas industry for more 
than 37 years, I believe there is 
tremendous opportunity for our 
technical membership to work across 
disciplinary and national boundaries 
and to operate in a more integrated 
way with other closely related 
professional organizations, such as the 
European Association of Geoscientists 
and Engineers (EAGE), the American 
Association of Petroleum Geologists 
(AAPG), the Society of Petroleum 
Engineers (SPE), the Society of 
Petrophysicists and Well Log Analysts 
(SPWLA), the American Geophysical 

Union (AGU), and the American 
Geosciences Institute (AGI). I also 
continue to support our volunteers 
and contributions to the Offshore 
Technology Conference (OTC), the 
SEG Advanced Modeling Corporation 
(SEAM) subsidiary and its integrated 
modeling projects, partners in the 
fledgling EVOLVE project, and as 
the SEG Board liaison to the Mining, 
Development and Production, SEG–
AAPG Cooperation, and SEG–SPE 
Collaboration committees. In support, I 
personally have met with the leadership 
of many of these organizations to 
discuss areas in which we can work 
more closely together for the benefit of 
all of our industry’s professionals. 

CONTRIBUTING TO AWARENESS OF 
THE POSITIVE ROLE SEG PLAYS IN 
SOCIETY 

I am proud to have been a member 
of SEG leadership that has moved 
strongly to advance our support for 
diversity and women in the industry, 
and to make more visible to regulators 
and the populace the important 
role geophysics plays in helping to 
understand serious issues facing our 
society. As a member of the SEG 
Women’s Network Committee, I 
challenge all members to continue to 
work to help address gender issues 
facing our profession across the globe 
and to support the network’s move 

to provide nontechnical support to all 
SEG Members via GROWTH. Gender 
equality, opportunity, and respect 
are not just “women’s issues” but are 
“human rights issues” for which we all 
have responsibility. 

As a professional who has the 
knowledge and tools to make the 
world a better place, I have worked 
on a committee charged with 
raising additional funding for SEG’s 
acclaimed Geoscientists Without 
Borders® program. I have continued 
to strongly support the expansion 
of data availability from SEAM, and I 
have offered a supporting voice for the 
excellent work that our offices in China 
and the Middle East are doing. 

SEG as a professional organization 
is only as strong as its members 
and the benefits it can deliver to 
them. Although SEG’s programs 
have been under resourcing and 
financial pressures, they continue to 
be enhanced and delivered through 
the continued effort of the hard-
working SEG staff and Board of 
Directors. These staff and professional 
colleagues, all of whom I consider 
my friends, demonstrate a dedication 
and commitment to excellence that 
I find unmatched in my professional 
experience. If you have a chance, 
please thank them for the extraordinary 
effort they make. 

The coming years will bring growing 
challenges for SEG and oil and gas 
professional societies. A persistent 
constrained-oil-price environment will 
require us to be creative in providing 
valued programs for existing and 
new-recruit members. Technology 
and information-sharing advances 
will drive us to find innovative ways to 
deliver programs to members across 
the world. The growing diversity in 
our technology and membership will 
offer us the opportunity to learn more 
from each other and contribute to the 
improved identification and use of our 
planet’s resources. New programs 
must be implemented that address 
the needs of our future membership 
and the changes our profession 
is undergoing. We must deliver 
enhanced training opportunities, 
expanded online engagement, and 
career-planning assistance. These 
challenges will require us to examine 
how we are doing things today and 
how we might do them better in the 
future. Although my current term on 
the SEG Board of Directors has come 
to an end, my commitment to these 
aspirations for the Society continue, 
and I will support these programs 
in a volunteer role as the Society’s 
professional development portfolio 
advisor. In this role, I hope to provide 
advice and assistance to our staff to 
better execute programs that meet our 
strategic objectives.
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Lastly, if you see me about, please 
feel free to stop and engage me — I 
am interested in your opinion. And 
if you have any questions or are 
interested in learning more about any 
of these programs, please contact me 
or the SEG staff. Thank you for your 
continued support.

Director at large
Paul Cunningham

“The Society has stabilized 
finances, is once again investing 
in new programs, and will 
continue to lead in its mission 
to connect the world of applied 
geophysics.”

I would like to begin by thanking 
the SEG worldwide membership for 
its continued support as SEG has 
implemented changes to ensure 
long-term sustainability of its core 
programs. In recent years, budgetary 
and other resource constraints have, 

in retrospect, been beneficial in 
forcing our Society to evaluate what 
is truly important to our members 
and optimize how these programs 
are implemented. The Society has 
stabilized finances, is once again 
investing in new programs, and 
will continue to lead in its mission 
to connect the world of applied 
geophysics. The rebuilding of SEG 
included grouping programs and 
services into portfolios to ensure 
activities are aligned with SEG’s 
mission and strategy, making the 
best use of resources, and to serve 
members worldwide. 

SEG’s list of activities is impressive 
and continues to grow. As the Board 
liaison to the International Petroleum 
Technology Conference (IPTC) and 
North American Prospect Expo (NAPE) 
committees, I had the pleasure to 
witness the effort of SEG staff and 
volunteers in making these events a 
success, despite circumstances in 
the oil and gas industry. Such efforts 
included organizing a forum titled “E&P 
technologies that deliver a solid return 
on investment” at the 2018 NAPE 
Summit. After a two-year hiatus, IPTC 
will be back in March 2019 in Beijing 
and again in January 2020 in Dhahran, 
Saudi Arabia.

I also continued as a Board liaison to 
the Meetings Review and Planning 

Committee (MRPC) and the Health, 
Safety, Security, and Environment 
(HSSE) Committee. Members of the 
MRPC are dedicated to ensuring that 
SEG’s best interests and wise use of 
resources are carefully considered in 
their recommendations to the SEG 
Board and staff regarding in which 
events the Society should participate. 

The HSSE Committee, which focuses 
on safety and health matters as related 
to SEG activities, experienced growth 
in volunteers. Final personal protection 
equipment, HSSE, and emergency 
escape plan guidance documents for 
field camps, Geoscientists Without 
Borders® (GWB), and other activities 
sponsored by SEG in which HSSE 
matters are of concern, were approved 
and made available to all interested 
parties. The committee also redeveloped 
the HSSE Web resources page, which 
was relaunched as part of the SEG Wiki 
(learn more here). 

The Near-Surface Geophysics 
Technical Section (NSTS), for which 
I also served as Board liaison, 
continues to be a bright spot for SEG. 
Membership has continued to grow 
along with the number of publications 
and events. This included the section’s 
largest-ever participation in an SEG 
Annual Meeting with four special 
sessions, six poster sessions, six oral 
sessions, three panel discussions, 

and two workshops in 2018. The 
NSTS also was involved in the 
ICEG workshops with the American 
Geophysical Union, organized a 
forum on infrastructure, developed 
continuing-education courses, and 
developed and completed engineering 
and environmental geophysics 
core competencies for the SEG 
Competency Management System. 

The sixth and final committee for 
which I had the pleasure of serving 
as liaison was the GWB Committee, 
which celebrated its 10th anniversary 
in 2018. The success of this program, 
focused on humanitarian applications 
of geoscience around the world, 
has been outstanding. A total of 45 
applications were received in 2018. 
The majority of applications were in the 
categories of disaster risk reduction 
and water sanitation and hygiene. 
Six projects were ultimately granted 
funding, which totaled US$464,678.

Finally, I would like to reiterate my 
closing statement last year in that 
SEG’s accomplishments this past year 
would not have been possible without 
the dedication and effort of the SEG 
volunteers, staff, and management, as 
well as the wisdom, thoughtfulness, 
and commitment of my fellow Board 
members with whom it has been a 
pleasure to work. Through everyone’s 
effort, SEG will continue to improve 

and expand services to its members 
while maintaining sound stewardship of 
its finances. I look forward to my final 
year on the Board.

Director at large
Ruben D. Martinez

“The Board is an impressive 
group of volunteers from whom 
I have learned from their skills 
and knowledge.”

I completed my second year serving 
as director at large at the 2018 Annual 
Meeting. As in my first year, it has been 
a great honor and privilege to serve. 

I had the great opportunity to meet new 
members who joined the SEG Board 
in 2018. The Board is an impressive 
group of volunteers from whom I have 
learned from their skills and knowledge. 
It was also great to work with the SEG 
senior management team (SMT) and 
staff. I continue to be impressed by their 
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dedication and hard-working attitude. 
They deserve many thanks from all of 
us on the Board. 

In 2018, I spent considerable time 
reaching out to SEG associated 
societies in Latin America. My 
main effort was focused in Mexico, 
specifically with the Mexican 
Association of Exploration 
Geophysicists (AMGE). We held 
meetings among Rob Stewart, SMT 
members, and AMGE board members 
including AMGE President Jorge 
Barrios. The objective was to develop 
a closer link between SEG and AMGE. 
Some initiatives are still in progress 
between the two societies in areas such 
as membership, publications, meetings, 
and continuing education. We are 
looking forward to continuing this close 
communication throughout 2019. 

In the second half of 2018, I had the 
honor and privilege to be the SEG 
Honorary Lecturer for Latin America. 
What a great opportunity to reach 
out to hundreds of professionals and 
students to tell them about SEG! 
I toured five countries: Argentina, 
Brazil, Colombia, Mexico, and 
Uruguay. During the tour, I met many 
geophysicists and geoscientists  
and discussed with them how SEG 
can benefit them as professionals  
or students.

In November 2018, I was invited 
to be a keynote speaker at the 
Seismic Imaging Workshop jointly 
organized by SEG, the Research 
Institute of Petroleum Exploration and 
Development, and PetroChina. The 
event was co-organized by the Institute 
of Geology and Geophysics, Chinese 
Academy of Sciences, and Tarim 
Oilfield Company PetroChina. This 
workshop was held in Beijing, China. 
I had the distinct privilege and honor 
to give the welcoming remarks in the 
opening ceremony. At the end of the 
two days and on behalf of SEG, I also 
was invited to recognize the organizers 
of this successful event. 

In 2018, I became chair of the SEG 
Committee on Nominations, after 
serving as vice chair in 2017. This is 
an honor with great responsibilities. 
The committee’s vice chair for 2019 is 
Director at Large Ken Tubman.

The Committee on Nominations 
held its first meeting during the 
2018 Annual Meeting in Anaheim. 
During this meeting, committee 
members defined the roadmap to 
fulfill responsibilities during this term. 
A new nomination form was designed 
and used for the first time this year. 
This new form helped standardize the 
information submitted by nominators. 
This should make the selection 
process easier and more transparent. 

As I write this report, the committee 
still is working on the selection of 
highly qualified candidates to run for 
positions on the Board.

Director at large
Kenneth Tubman

“It is very clear that when we 
have strong links to the oil 
and gas industry, we must 
be prepared to handle the 
variability by being experienced 
in that industry.”

My first year on the SEG Board 
has been filled with many healthy 
discussions and a lot of learning. I 
have been fortunate to work with a 
great group of Board members. They 
bring different experiences, different 
approaches to addressing problems, 
and a wide variety of opinions to the 
Board. They are all focused on doing 
the right thing for SEG.

Many different topics have been 
addressed, from details on SEG 
Bylaws and operations to high-level 
strategic choices. I’m pleased that 
one area where the Board placed 
emphasis was financial discipline.  
That emphasis revealed itself early 
when the Board passed motions 
requiring the budget to be at least 
cash neutral for the year and 
going forward. It was a strong 
demonstration of commitment for  
the long term as well as short term.  
There was a clear effort to not 
sacrifice long-term health for short-
term comfort. It is very clear that 
when we have strong links to the 
oil and gas industry, we must be 
prepared to handle the variability by 
being experienced in that industry.

All subsidiaries were included in the 
need for at least cashflow neutrality 
going forward. That was a significant 
challenge for some which had spent 
many years using cash for the hope 
of a future gain. The long-term focus 
precluded some approaches of 
pushing problems out to the future. 
The subsidiaries stepped up to the 
challenge with serious evaluations of 
their businesses.

My personal focus for 2018 was on 
some of those larger challenges. I 
worked with subsidiaries and especially 
with the SEG Real Estate Corporation. 

SEG has a significant amount of capital 
invested in real estate (the buildings in 
Tulsa). After years of consuming cash, 
there was recognition of the need for 
improved cashflow. President Nancy 
House appointed a real-estate task 
force, and I was asked to lead it. With 
agreement on the need for ongoing 
positive cashflow, the SEG Real 
Estate Corporation Board of Directors 
changed brokers and made moves 
in the right direction for higher levels 
of occupancy. The task force also 
took a very hard but realistic look at 
the valuation of the assets and likely 
cashflow projections under different 
scenarios. Significant effort was put 
into this evaluation (most of it by REC 
Board chair Keith Willson, who did a 
terrific job). While forecasting always 
has uncertainty, multiple iterations 
on various scenarios gave the Board 
enough confidence to choose a  
path forward. We are moving to get 
hard data on the value of the real-
estate assets.

I look forward to 2019 and helping to 
position SEG for long-term success.
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Director at large
Bob Brook

“It is a credit to our staff that 
despite the industry challenges, 
the Society met the goal of a 
balanced cash budget while 
maintaining a broad array of 
services for our members.”

My first year on the SEG Board got off 
to a rocky start. Hurricane Harvey had 
a huge influence on everyone in the 
Houston area. I was fortunate to avoid 
flooding at my house but altered travel 
plans had me out of the country for 
the 2017 Annual Meeting — my first 
Board meeting was a video conference 
over a sketchy Internet connection in a 
different time zone.

Fortunately, that disruption is mostly 
behind us. In 2018, I had the pleasure 
of numerous interactions with fellow 
SEG Board members and staff. It 
has been an honor to represent the 
members and to work with the capable 
and professional volunteers and 

staff who make this organization so 
successful.

The year proved to be another wild 
one in the oil business. We started 
with prices in the low US$60s and 
saw a steady rise to nearly US$80 in 
October. Just as we started to hear 
the word recovery, prices fell back 
to US$50 by the end of the year. In 
this environment, a tightly controlled 
budget is a necessity whether you are 
an oil company, a service company, or 
a professional society.

As a first assignment on the Board 
of Directors, I was asked to serve on 
the Audit Committee. It was a good 
opportunity to take a hard look at the 
Society’s financials and to meet the 
finance and accounting team. It is 
a credit to our staff that despite the 
industry challenges, the Society met 
the goal of a balanced cash budget 
while maintaining a broad array of 
services for our members. In 2019, I 
will be replacing Rocco Detomo as 
chair of the Audit Committee. I would 
like to thank Rocky for his advice and 
mentoring in 2018.

Under the new organization, I 
was appointed Board liaison to 
the Expanding Markets portfolio 
and directed to build on current 
initiatives. The primary focus in 
2018 was to organize and operate 

an interdisciplinary event on digital 
transformation (artificial intelligence and 
machine learning). In partnership with 
the American Association of Petroleum 
Geologists (AAPG) and the Society of 
Petroleum Engineers (SPE), the Energy 
in Data Conference is now scheduled 
for June in Austin, Texas. Machine 
learning is rapidly developing in the 
industry, and this appears to be a 
timely initiative.

As we enter 2019 with oil prices 
hovering between US$50 and US$60 
a barrel, these are still challenging 
times for our industry. We need to 
focus on continued streamlining of our 
Society while expanding the services 
our members require.
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Advisory
John Bradford, chair

The committee had no activity to 
report. 

AGU–SEG Collaboration
Chi Zhang, cochair

The AGU–SEG Collaboration Committee 
(ASCC) was established as part of 
the AGU–SEG Alliance MOU signed 
in 2010. In the MOU, ASCC was 
“charged with considering and making 
recommendations to the respective 
organizations regarding areas of 
cooperation, such as joint workshops 
or programs, publications, continuing 
education courses, etc.”

AGU and SEG provide complementary 
support for geophysical sciences, 
with SEG focusing on methodology 
development in applied geophysics and 
AGU primarily supporting geophysics as 
applied to broader scientific questions. 

ASCC identified the following areas of 
overlap between the two communities: 
active and passive seismology, 
gravity and magnetics, electrical and 
electromagnetic methods, near-surface 
geophysics, geothermal exploration, and 
basin analysis. 

ASCC meets four times per year, of 
which two are in person at the major 
annual meetings of each organization.

COMMITTEE MEMBERS

• Chi Zhang 
University of Kansas  
SEG cochair

• Sarah Kruse 
University of South Florida 
AGU cochair

•  John Lane 
USGS

• Fred Day-Lewis 
USGS

• George Tsoflias 
University of Kansas 

• John Bradford 
Colorado School of Mines 

• Louise Pellerin  
Green Engineering 

•  Benjamin Drenth 
USGS 

• Andrew Lamb 
University of Arkansas 

•  José Arce 
Arce Geofisicos 

• John Louie 
University of Nevada at Las Vegas 

• James Irving 
University of Lausanne 

•  Dimitrios Ntarlagiannis 
Rutgers University 

• Anja Klotzsche  
Forschungszentrum Jülich 

• Stephen Wilson 
Seismogenic 

• Anne Becel  
Columbia University 

•  Chris Sherman 
Lawrence Livermore National 
Laboratory 

• Dale Bird 
Bird Geophysics 

• Esben Auken 
Aarhus University 

• John Goff  
University of Texas at Austin 

• Jonathan Ajo-Franklin 
Lawrence Berkeley National 
Laboratory 

• Kristina Keating 
Rutgers University 

• Michael Behm 
University of Oklahoma 

• Nathan Bangs  
University of Texas at Austin 

•  Sarah Morton-Rupert  
University of Kansas 

SEG support was provided by Board 
Liaison Madeline Lee and Staff Liaison 
Laurie Whitesell.

In 2011, SEG and AGU executives 
approved an MOU that provides a 
framework for joint meetings and 
workshops to be held by the two 
organizations. The first cooperative 
workshop on hydrogeophysics was 
held in July 2012. Subsequent annual 

workshop topics included cryosphere, 
potential-field and electrical methods, 
rock physics, airborne geophysics, 
distributed array acoustics, etc.

Another goal of ASCC is to conduct joint 
sessions at the major annual meeting of 
each organization. The standing special 
session on hydrogeophysics at the SEG 
Annual Meeting has been held since 
2012. Kristina Keating served as lead 
convener since inception until John Lane 
took over in 2016, Louise Pellerin in 2017, 
Chi Zhang in 2018, and Niels Grobbe 
will assume lead convener for 2019. This 
standing special session has attracted 
the brightest hydrogeophysicists. At 
AGU, an annual joint technical session 
on exploration geophysics is held and 
organized by Kennedy Doro and Louise 
Pellerin. This session continues to grow.

Annual Meeting Steering (2017)
Dan Hollis, chair

The 2018 SEG International Exposition 
and 88th Annual Meeting was held 
in the Anaheim Convention Center in 
Anaheim, California, 14–19 October 
2018. The Steering Committee and 
SEG staff started working on the 
meeting in the summer of 2016. As 
described herein, the committee’s 
review of past Annual Meetings and 
discussions with stakeholders resulted 
in minor changes to some events 
and the addition of new educational 
and networking opportunities. Great 
interest by authors resulted in a record 
number of abstract submissions for 
the technical program. A program 
to include more applied geophysics 
disciplines resulted in greater 
participation in the technical program 
and exhibition.

Over the past couple of decades, 
the demographics of SEG have been 
evolving, making the organization 
truly global. The Steering Committee 
chose the theme “One World, One 
Geophysical Community” for the 
2018 meeting to celebrate our global 
community. In all, there were 4456 
attendees at the meeting including 590 
students. These attendees represented 
70 countries. There were 216 exhibitors 
and 28 sponsors in the International 
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Exhibition, which covered 70,500 
square feet of booth space.

Normally, the committee is formed and 
starts to work one year prior to the 
Annual Meeting with a kickoff meeting 
at the preceding Annual Meeting. For 
Anaheim, the key positions of the 
committee were filled two years prior, 
and the members were commissioned 
with using the first year to review 
every aspect of the meeting to identify 
potential changes that would add value 
to the meeting. Committee members 
had numerous discussions within their 
own networks, SEG governance, SEG 
staff, SEG Membership, exhibitors, and 
affiliated organizations. One notable 
discussion occurred at the Exhibitor’s 
Roundtable held in Anaheim in April 
2017 that resulted in the development 
of the Business of Applied Geophysics 
(BAG) program.

By the time of the kickoff meeting 
at the 2017 Annual Meeting, the 
committee had a good idea of 
changes and new programs to 
incorporate into the 2018 Annual 
Meeting. Briefly, the changes consisted 
of small alterations to traditional 
Annual Meeting events, the addition 
of new events, and inclusion of digital 
transformation content across multiple 
events. A few of the changes included 
the following.

BUSINESS OF APPLIED GEOPHYSICS 
(BAG) PLENARY SESSIONS 

The BAG program was created to 
provide educational opportunities to 
managers and future managers of 
applied geophysics organizations. Bill 
Abriel and his committee put together 
a program covering deepwater Gulf of 
Mexico, digital transformation, working 
in a regulated industry, how geophysics 
impacts society, and geophysical return 
on investment for unconventionals.

ENTREPRENEURSHIP EVENT 

Modeled after the Shark Tank 
television show format, this event 
provided a forum for startup 
companies to present their business 
models to a panel of experts and the 
audience. The panel and audience 
provided feedback to the contestants. 

WEDNESDAY MORNING NETWORKING 
EVENT

This event targeted early-career 
members and encouraged them 
to become more involved in SEG. 
This was a breakfast event where 
participants could meet with SEG 
committee chairs.

DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION

Digital transformation is identified as 
a topic of increasing importance in 
applied geophysics. At the 2017 Annual 
Meeting, Technical Cochair Dimitri 
Bevc organized a planning meeting 
with a multitude of stakeholders on 
incorporating the topic in the 2018 
meeting. The results were inclusion 
of the topic in the technical and BAG 
programs, reformatting and rebranding 
the High-Performance Computing 
Showcase as the Digital Arena, 
inclusion of the hackathon, and an effort 
to encourage companies in the digital 
transformation space to participate in 
the meeting. The digital transformation 
topic was kicked off by a very well-
attended Opening Session keynote 
address by Darryl Willis, Google’s vice 
president of oil, gas, and energy.

NEAR-SURFACE GEOPHYSICS 

The SEG Near-Surface Geophysics 
Technical Section targeted the 2018 
meeting to increase participation of the 
near-surface geophysics community. 
The outcome of their effort resulted 
in the inclusion of more near-surface 
geophysics-focused technical sessions, 
workshops, and panel discussions.

A detailed report about the 2018 
technical program is presented 
on page 20. It was the Steering 

Committee’s primary goal to present 
a high-quality technical program. A 
record 1854 abstracts were submitted. 
The Technical Program Committee 
and staff did an outstanding job 
of reviewing abstracts and putting 
together a great program. One change 
made to the poster sessions for 2018 
was that each day brought new poster 
presentations, which increased the 
total number of poster presentations.

A big part of the Annual Meeting is the 
International Exposition and exhibitors. 
Exhibitors provide equipment, 
services, and other resources that 
facilitate applied geophysics. A 
Steering Committee goal was to reach 
out and discuss ways to increase the 
value of the exhibition and the meeting 
for both the exhibitors and attendees. 
The 2018 committee followed the 
2017 committee’s recommendation 
to continue the extended lunch break 
and Focus on Commercial Technology 
exhibitor booth presentations. Also, 
traffic to the exhibits was increased 
by placing the poster sessions, 
Digital Arena, Near-Surface Pavilion, 
and Consortium Showcase in the 
exhibition hall.

I believe I speak for the 2018 
committee when I say that the two-
year term for key Steering Committee 
members should be continued. The 
first year provides overlap with the 

previous year’s Steering Committee, 
continuity in the Annual Meeting 
planning process, and allows the 
committee members and staff a quick 
start in the detailed planning process. 
Also, we believe the BAG program was 
well received, provided much-needed 
value, and should be continued in 
future meetings.

I would like to conclude by 
acknowledging and thanking the 
members of the 2018 committee:

• Richard Xu (vice chair)
• David Alumbaugh (technical program 

chair)
• Dimitri Bevc (technical program 

cochair)
• Bill Bartling (exhibition cochair)
•  Bill Keach (exhibition cochair)
• Minoo Kosaran (opening session 

chair)
• Karla Tucker (applied science 

education chair)
• Chris Peoples (applied science 

education cochair)
• Kelly Regimbal (applied science 

education cochair)
• Heidi Anderson Kuzma (volunteer 

chair)
• Lynda Hollis (guest program chair)
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Annual Meeting Technical 
Program
David Alumbaugh, chair  
Dimitri Bevc, cochair

The 2018 Annual Meeting in Anaheim 
marked the first time the event has 
been held in California since the 
1994 Annual Meeting in Los Angeles. 
Because of the location outside 
normal recent host cities (Houston, 
Dallas, San Antonio, New Orleans, 
and Denver), the 2018 Technical 
Program Committee initiated a kickoff 
at the 2016 Annual Meeting in Dallas 
to allow for two years of planning 
rather than one. This allowed the 
Technical Organizing Committee time 
to focus on special topic areas unique 
to California and time to assemble 
a list of volunteers, many of whom 
were local to the West Coast. Given 
extended planning time for the event 
and various special emphases, the 
cochairs relied heavily on volunteers 
and SEG staff to make the technical 
program a success. The cochairs 
would like to extend appreciation for 
the hard work and commitment of 25 
session topic organizers, 10 special 
session organizers, 1034 reviewers, 
more than 90 postconvention 
workshop organizers, 302 session 
chairs, and 96 session monitors. And 
special thanks to Jenny Cole and 
the rest of the SEG staff whose hard 
work, dedication, and positive attitude 

had a huge imprint on the success of 
the technical program.

The abstract submission portal was 
open 1 February through 1 April, and 
a record number of abstracts (1854) 
were submitted. Of those, 1090 were 
accepted; 763 were presented as 
oral presentations, and 327 were 
posters. The rejection rate was 41% — 
significantly higher than in recent years. 
This rate resulted from a limitation on 
the number of available presentation 
rooms. To keep the rejection rate as low 
as possible, posters were only displayed 
during the day of presentation rather 
than during the whole technical program. 
In addition, the Technical Program 
Committee eliminated the e-poster 
presentation option. This was due to a 
lack of enthusiasm for the format from 
the committee and attendees.

This year, SEG used a new abstract 
management system (AMS) that was 
created by SEG and ScholarOne. 
Again, Jenny Cole deserves special 
acknowledgment and thanks for 
this endeavor. ScholarOne provided 
the base of the system, and Jenny 
implemented SEG’s processes and 
requirements that produced the final 
product. The resulting portal was a 
great improvement over last year’s 
AMS, with fewer complaints about the 
submission and review processes. 
In fact, it may be that the higher 

number of abstracts received this year 
was due in part to the ease of the 
submission process. 

The technical program consisted 
of 96 oral sessions and 55 poster 
sessions. The oral and poster 
sessions were spread out over 25 
topic areas. There were also 10 
oral special sessions that included 
Recent Advances and the Road 
Ahead (RARA) and a special global 
session. And to end the convention, 
the technical program included 22 
postconvention workshops. 

In order to provide a technical program 
that had connection to California, two 
technical areas were emphasized. First, 
with the rising use of machine learning 
and data analytics in geophysical data 
processing and analysis, as well as 
California being the hub of much of 
the technology industry, a large focus 
was on Machine Learning and Data 
Analytics (MLDA).

This new technical session topic area 
was the focus of the RARA special 
session, 2.5 days of postconvention 
workshops dedicated to MLDA and 
cloud computing, and a Big Data 
Hackathon that was sponsored by 
Google. The topic accounted for 77 
of the accepted papers, and the oral 
sessions boasted an average of  
121 attendees. 

This can be compared to the full-
waveform inversion and interpretation 
sessions, which hosted 72 and 66 
papers, respectively, and in recent 
years have been lead topics in terms 
of number of presented papers and 
posters. An additional sign that MLDA 
was a popular topic was that the 
hackathon sold out its maximum limit 
of 85 participants. 

The second topic that was specific to 
California, and therefore a focus of the 
technical program, was near-surface 
geophysics. California is a geologically 
complex and active region with a lot 
of infrastructure and geologic hazards. 
The state is also one of the largest 
agricultural producers in the world — 
relying on groundwater. 

This topic area had 84 papers 
accepted and presented, which 
were split between six oral and six 
poster sessions. In addition, the Near-
Surface Geophysics Technical Section 
sponsored three special sessions 
and hosted three panel discussion 
sessions. The cochairs would like to 
extend thanks to members of the Near-
Surface Geophysics Technical Section 
for their effort in promoting this focus at 
the 2018 Annual Meeting.

The new Business of Applied 
Geophysics (BAG) plenary sessions 
at the 2018 Annual Meeting 

were designed to be attractive to 
geophysics managers, service 
companies, operators, regulators, and 
geophysicists focused on the value 
of applied geophysics. The sessions 
included the themes: 

• Southern Gulf of Mexico — 
Challenges and opportunities 

• Digital transformation — Business 
opportunities and challenges

• Operating in a regulated industry 

• Impacting society — Frontiers for 
geophysicists 

• Geophysical return on investment for 
unconventionals

All of the sessions received excellent 
reviews regarding topic, focus, and 
quality, and BAG sessions are planned 
for the 2019 Annual Meeting.

Efforts continued to improve attendee 
traffic to the exhibition floor at key times 
through the structure and schedule of 
the technical arrangement. This was 
facilitated by reducing the number 
of talks and posters in order to allow 
30-minute coffee breaks (in the morning 
and afternoon) on the exhibition floor 
as well as a two-hour lunch break. In 
addition, the poster presentation area 
was located on the exhibition floor. It is 
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difficult to determine if these nuances 
aided in bringing additional attendees 
to the floor. 

One negative attribute to the 2018 
technical program was an increase in 
no-shows versus withdraws compared 
to last year as shown in Table 1. Part 
of this may be due to the withdraw 
deadline being moved earlier — 
from two weeks to approximately 
1.5 months before the convention. 
This was in order to avoid problems 
when printing the final schedule. An 
additional factor that may have aided 
in this year’s high no-show rate was 
the increased political tension between 
the U.S. government and countries 
such as China and Russia that delayed 
U.S. Visa application time. We highly 
recommend that future technical 
program organizers strongly encourage 
attendees to obtain permission to travel 
and to start the U.S. Visa application 
process as soon as possible to avoid 
the need to cancel.

Audit
Rocco Detomo Jr., chair

The Audit Committee is a committee 
of the Board of Directors that is 
responsible for oversight of the financial 
reporting process, review of the 
independence and performance of 
the independent auditors, and review 
of audit results with external auditors. 
The committee assists the Board by 
fulfilling its corporate governance and 
overseeing responsibilities in relation to 
an entity’s financial reporting, internal 
control system, risk-management 
system, and internal and external 
audit functions. Its role is to provide 
advice and recommendations to the 
Board within the scope of its terms of 
reference or charter. 

The Audit Committee consists of 
three nonexecutive members of the 
Board. Members of the 2017–2018 
Audit Committee were Robert Brook 
and Rocco Detomo along with SEG 
Treasurer and Board Liaison Lee 

Bell. The staff liaison was SEG Chief 
Financial Officer Kay Doolin Lang. 
During this period, members of the 
Audit Committee and the Finance 
Committee worked closely with one 
another. SEG President Nancy House 
and Finance Committee Chair Alison 
Small participated in the meetings. 

SEG experienced an improved financial 
status in 2018, principally due to reduced 
expenses and overhead along with 
prudent execution of the 2017 Annual 
Meeting in Houston. Meanwhile, the 
financial performance of SEG local 
offices in China and the Middle East 
showed significant improvement in their 
balance sheets. A new business model 
brought the China office to near-break-
even status. The Middle East office, 
under continued excellent leadership, 
became cash positive.

Of concern were the financial results of 
the 2018 Annual Meeting in Anaheim. 
Although extensive planning and 
preparation was made for this meeting, 
it still carried a significant financial risk 
for SEG. Final numbers are provided in 
the consolidated financial statements on 
page 61.

In addition, options for dealing with 
the continued underperformance 
of SEG’s real estate are being 
considered, and long-term solutions 
will be pursued in 2019.

Books Editorial Board
Mauricio Sacchi, chair

The following books were published 
during calendar year 2018:

•  Introduction to Petroleum 
Seismology, second edition, by Luc 
Ikelle and Lasse Amundsen

• The Seismic Signal and Its Meaning 
by André Luiz Romanelli Rosa

• Seismic Attributes as the Framework 
for Data Integration Throughout the 
Oilfield Life Cycle by Kurt Marfurt

Books we expect to publish during 
calendar year 2019:

•  Ludger Mintrop: The Man who 
Looked into the Earth — The 
Conquest of the Subsurface by 
Gerhard Keppner

• Physics and Mechanics of Rocks: 
A Practical Approach by Manika 
Prasad

• Illustrated Seismic Processing: 
Essentials, Potential, and Pitfalls by 
Steve Hill and Andreas Rueger

• Understanding Signals: Basic 
Waveform Analysis from a 
Geophysical Perspective by Michael 
Burianyk

Acting as reviewers of book proposals 
and as managing editors for accepted 
proposals, Board members identify 
authors and topics, particularly those 
that explain geophysical technologies 
to a broad audience of earth scientists, 
to keep the SEG books program 
topical and successful.

Committee on University and 
Student Programs
Jeffrey Shragge, chair

The main accomplishments of the 
Committee on University and Student 
Programs (CUSP) during 2017–2018:

• To better define the overall purpose 
and objectives, committee members 
evaluated and discussed the 
organization of the committee. They 
decided to reorganize the structure 
to include specific roles and activities 
for individual committee members. 
The new structure shifts the focus 
from an advisory capacity to a more 
active support capacity for SEG 
student programs.

•  The Student Chapter Excellence 
Program (SCEP) continues to 
thrive with 226 SEG student 
chapters, 101 of which participated 
in the competition to be named 
Best Student Chapter. The 
SCEP Subcommittee scored all 
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PRESENTATIONS ACCEPTED FOR ANNUAL MEETING 
Year City Presentations
2015 New Orleans 1094 accepted for presentation; 50 withdraws; 5 no-shows
2016 Dallas 1103 accepted for presentation; 38 withdraws; 21 no-shows
2017 Houston 1163 accepted for presentation; 50 withdraws; 7 no-shows
2018 Anaheim 1090 accepted for presentation; 18 withdraws; 37 no-shows
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applications and named Taras 
Schevchenko National University of 
Kyiv Geophysical Society the 2018 
Best Student Chapter. The Uppsala 
University Geophysical Society was 
awarded the 2018 Most Improved 
Student Chapter Award.

2018–2019 OBJECTIVES AND UPDATES

The four main objectives of the CUSP 
Committee:

1)  Recruit volunteers for the new roles 
set forth by the new committee 
structure.

2)  Promote and assist with the 
International Geosciences Student 
Conference, which will be organized 
by the Uppsala University Geophysical 
Society Student Chapter.

3)  Review requirements and evaluation 
criteria for student chapter reports.

4)  Promote the Student Chapter Forum 
for one more year to see if activity in 
the forum can be increased to a level 
to justify continuing to maintain it.

Continuing Education
Bill Harbert, chair

The Continuing Education (CE) 
Committee works to provide a 
curriculum of high-quality professional 
courses to the exploration-geophysics 
community. To ensure that the current 
needs and standards of the community 
are met, it is essential to exercise 
constant control on the curriculum of 
offered topics and the way the courses 
are given.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT  
TASK FORCE

In 2018, the SEG Board tasked this 
group, led by Steve Hill, with taking 
stock of our current course offerings 
to determine gaps in our learning 
resources and the best way to fill 
those gaps.

Steve presented the findings to the 
Board at the 2018 Annual Meeting. In 
summary, the findings were as follows.

• The CE Committee augments the 
present program by:

 º  Including asynchronous Internet 
availability of lecture courses

 º  Including forums and/or e-mail 
mentoring for remote participants

 º  Including workflow information for 
the courses

 º Seeking out courses in 
communication, geophysical 
interpretation, and hydrocarbon 
engineering 

 º Recommending International 
Human Resources Development 
Corporation courses to augment 
gaps

• Originators of the Competency 
Management System should 
consider closing the engineering gap

• SEG should be advertised as a 
geophysical knowledge source that 
uses multiple technology-transfer 
mechanisms

• The audience needs to be 
determined for soft-skills courses

SEG ON DEMAND 

Ten Geophysical Society of Houston/
SEG webinar recordings were added 
to the SEG on Demand library in 2018.

In December, SEG entered into a 
partnership with Knowledgette, an 
online platform that specializes in 
bite-size knowledge taught online by 
experts in the petroleum industry. It 
was founded by Shipeng Fu, who is a 

reservoir engineer. This resource will 
be available at no additional cost to 
SEG Members. It will include the SEG 
Honorary and Distinguished Lecture 
recordings as well as recordings 
from the American Association of 
Petroleum Geologists and Society of 
Petrophysicists and Well Log Analysts. 

COMPETENCY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

Our partnership continues with the 
International Human Resources 

Development Corporation, a respected 
provider of training and competency 
development solutions for the oil 
and gas industry, to provide the 
Competency Management System free 
of charge to SEG Members.

This system allows members to 
assess their current capabilities 
against specific competency models 
for key geoscience careers. The 
software is designed to easily 
identify competency gaps based 
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TABLE 2 
CE COURSES HELD IN 2018 

Event Dates
Number of 

courses
Number of 

participants
Australian Society of 
Exploration Geophysicists 5–6 April 1 18
TU Freiberg 29–30 May 1 10
2018 Annual Meeting 13–14 October 10 102

TABLE 3 
COMPETENCY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM USAGE 

Accounts 
created In progress

Assessments 
completed

2016 172 114 49
2017 312 216 73
2018 440 195 83
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on assessment results and then 
recommend a learning plan that 
helps close those gaps. Members 
are referred to an ever-growing list 
of SEG training resources including 
SEG CE courses, e-learning courses, 
third-party course titles, SEG 
technical papers, books, and on-job 
work assignments.

Per the user progress data report in 
Table 2, we are seeing an increase in 
use of this resource.

Development and Production 
Andrew Royle, chair

The Development and Production 
Committee continued to promote 
discussion and interaction on the 
latest technologies to improve 
reservoir characterization.

• Five new members were recruited 
in order to build a strong committee 
core and to remain active in the 
dissemination of development and 
production in geophysics.

• The 2018 Annual Meeting included 
a good presence of the topic of 
development and production. 
This included two workshops 
titled “Integrated geophysics and 
geomechanics for conventional field 
development and production” and 
“Understanding unconventionals: 

Rock physics, geomechanics and 
seismic.” A luncheon also was held 
featuring a presentation by Alan 
Cohen from the U.S. Department of 
Energy titled, “Improved subsurface 
decision making through 
technology integration.” 

• Committee members made good 
progress solidifying technical 
sessions for the 2019 Annual 
Meeting. The committee proposed 
two workshops titled, “Interpretation, 
decision making and derisking 
for development and production” 
and “Geophysical monitoring of 
unconventional reservoirs.” A special 
session, “Booking P2 reserves 
using geophysical data” also was 
proposed. The session would be 
held in conjunction with the Oil and 
Gas Reserves Committee. 

•   In addition, planning started for a 
2020 development and production 
joint forum/workshop with the 
Society of Petroleum Engineers 
(SPE), which will be held in Houston. 

KEY FOCUS AREAS

• Committee membership — 
Continued focus is on rebuilding the 
committee and looking into ways to 
attract early-career members.

• 2019 Annual Meeting special 
session/workshop — Work began 
with the 2019 Annual Meeting 
Technical Program Committee to 
solidify special sessions/workshops. 
The committee is currently in early 
stages of planning the events and is 
canvasing for invited papers.

•  D&P Forum — Discussions for the 
2020 forum planning began. Houston 
or Austin will be likely venues due to 
travel limitations. May or June is being 
considered in order to include awards 
at the Annual Meeting. Engagement 
with SPE, the Geophysical Society 
of Houston, or the American 
Association of Petroleum Geologists 
(AAPG) could be an option.

• Engagement with other societies 
(AAPG/SPE) — Engagement with 
other disciplines on the integration 
and use of geophysics occurred. 

 º  Interpretation (SEG/AAPG) — 
Meetings were held with the 
AAPG Reservoir Development 
and Geophysical Integration 
Committee during the AAPG 
Annual Meeting.

 º Joint workshop with SPE — Ways 
to better integrate with SPE were 
investigated. Potential topics 
include applications of geophysics 
in reserves booking and monitoring 

unconventional reservoirs with 
geophysical methods.

 º Possible Offshore Technology 
Conference technical session

•  Engagement within SEG — Work 
continued with sister committees 
such as Oil and Gas Reserves, 
Research, etc.

•  Knowledge share — Committee 
members investigated how to share 
the mission of the committee. This 
included avenues such as the 
SEG Wiki, the Doodlebugger, and 
SmartBrief.

Distinguished Instructor Short 
Course
Adel El-Emam, chair

In 2018, Kurt Marfurt served as the 
Distinguished Instructor Short Course 
(DISC) instructor. His course, “Seismic 
attributes as the framework for data 
integration throughout the oilfield life 
cycle,” was a great success. The 
course explored modern workflows 
used for interactive interpretation 
and displays that are supported by 
machine learning.

As expected, it was a great tour and 
a very attractive one-day course. A 
total of 28 stops were held covering 19 

different countries including the United 
States, Canada, Germany, Austria, 
Italy, Denmark, Norway, Australia, 
Brazil, Argentina, Japan, China, 
Colombia, Trinidad and Tobago, Oman, 
Saudi Arabia, Malaysia, Kuwait, and 
South Korea. The total attendance was 
more than 800. 

The 2019 DISC instructor is Manika 
Prasad. She is a professor in the 
Petroleum Engineering Department at 
Colorado School of Mines. She is an 
outstanding instructor and educator. 
Her course, “Physics and mechanics of 
rocks: A practical approach,” covers a 
very interesting topic for geoscientists 
and engineers. 

The DISC Committee selected the 
2020 instructor, Dave Monk. He is a 
worldwide director of geophysics and 
a distinguished advisor for Apache 
Corporation. His course will be titled 
“Survey design for land, marine, and 
in-between in light of new technology 
and techniques.” We are looking 
forward to attending his course and are 
expecting a great turnout and success.

The committee conducted a meeting 
15 October in Anaheim, California, 
where several subjects were reviewed 
and discussed including the DISC 
candidate selection and criteria. 
Committee members emphasized the 
following main objectives to achieve:
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•  DISCs should focus on leading-edge 
topics of popular interest.

•  DISCs should be presented 
by accomplished instructors 
with strong presentation and 
technical skills. Selection as an 
instructor is considered to be an 
SEG commendation and special 
recognition by geophysical peers. 

I want to thank the committee 
members and especially the SEG staff 
and instructors for the professional 
work and tireless effort to ensure 
successful continuation of the high-
level DISC program.

Distinguished Lecturer
Gerard Schuster, chair

The Distinguished Lecture (DL) and 
Honorary Lecture (HL) programs are 
considered to be among the most 
effective outreach programs of SEG 
as evidenced by the reported 7281 
attendees in 36 countries for the 
2018 tours. Attendance of a DL/HL 
talk is the only opportunity for many 
young people to directly interact with 
distinguished SEG speakers. We 
applaud SEG for continued support 
and growth of the outstanding  
DL/HL program.

The DL program is supported by  
PGS and Equinor through the  
SEG Foundation. 

• William Symes, Q1/Q2 DL, 34 
lectures, 1053 attendees

Countries: Argentina, Brazil, Brunei, 
Canada, China, Colombia, Indonesia, 
Malaysia, and United States 

Title: “Advanced imaging for 
practitioners”

Quote: “I enjoyed Bill’s style. He 
explains things clearly without using 
too much technical jargon so everyone 
can take something away while at the 
same time not taking away from the 
complexities of the topic. I heard much 
praise from people familiar with the 
topic and from newcomers to the field, 
and both groups were kept interested 
throughout the talk.” — Matthew 
Sexton, University of Houston, Texas, 
United States

• Satish Singh, Q3/Q4 DL, 30 lectures, 
1011 attendees

Countries: Australia, Canada, France, 
Indonesia, Italy, New Zealand, Poland, 
Singapore, Spain, Switzerland, United 
Kingdom, and United States

Title: “Seismic full-waveform inversion 
for fundamental scientific and industrial 
problems”

Quote: “Satish was extremely well 
prepared and delivered an excellent 
talk. He kept within our time limitations 
and left time for several questions 
from attendees after his presentation. 
He also visited freely with attendees 
both before and after the event. 
Feedback from attendees was 
completely positive, especially as his 
presentation content was regarded 
as directly useful to our membership.” 
— Jim Howard, OGS, Istituto 
Nazionale di Oceanografia e Geofisica 
Sperimentale, Trieste, Italy

THE 2019 DISTINGUISHED LECTURERS

• Felix Herrmann, Georgia Institute of 
Technology, Q1/Q2 DL

•  John Etgen, BP, Q3/Q4 DL

The HL program, which includes tours 
in six regions, is sponsored by Shell 
through the SEG Foundation.

THE 2018 HONORARY LECTURERS

• Latin America: Ruben D. Martinez, 
23 lectures, 1028 attendees

Countries: Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, 
Mexico, United States, and Uruguay 

Title: “How recent advances in seismic 
depth imaging can enhance prospect 
identification and appraisal”

Quote: “Dr. Martinez gave an 
outstanding presentation that 
stimulated interest in modern 
seismic imaging applications for our 
geophysics and geology students. 
This was the most exciting event 
for our student chapter to date and 
will serve as reference for future 
activities. He explained the benefits 
of being active with SEG, particularly 
for students. Thank you SEG and 
Dr. Martinez.” — Carlos Mendonça, 
University of São Paulo, Brazil

• Europe: Ivan Vasconcelos, 24 
lectures, 816 attendees

Countries: Austria, France, Germany, 
Italy, Netherlands, Norway, Sweden, 
Switzerland, and United Kingdom

Title: “Full-wavefield focusing in seismic 
imaging — Concepts, applications, 
and examples”

Quote: “Ivan was very good at 
presenting and took his time to explain 
some of the more complicated parts 
of the lecture. We (the officers/student 
members of the student chapter) 
really enjoyed that Ivan took time to 
sit down with us for almost an hour 
after the presentation, chatting about 
life as a geophysicist, his background, 
suggestions for career paths, and telling 
us stories from his career. This informal 
(and unplanned) part of the lecture is 
what we have talked most about after 
the HL.” — Helene Meling Stemland, 
University of Bergen, Norway

• Middle East and Africa: Maria Angela 
Capello, 16 lectures, 1082 attendees

Countries: Azerbaijan, Egypt, Kenya, 
Nigeria, Oman, Saudi Arabia, South 
Africa, and United Arab Emirates 

Title: “The evolving challenges of 
geophysicists — From amplitude 
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mappers to partners in drilling and 
water search” 

Quote: “On behalf of SEG Azerbaijan, 
I would like to thank Ms. Capello for 
her great presentation. Everything 
was great. She managed to motivate 
students to become geophysicists and 
explained to them the importance of 
geophysics in the global processes.” 
— Aleksandra Khramtseva, Baker 
Hughes, Baku, Azerbaijan

• North America: Christine Krohn, 15 
lectures, 555 attendees

Countries: United States and Canada 

Title: “The complexity just below our 
feet and the implications for the fidelity 
of land seismic data”

Quote: “During the lecture, the 
participants constantly engaged with the 
speaker and the participants interviewed 
after the lecture were impressed with the 
way Dr. Krohn presented the subject and 
by her in-depth knowledge of the topic.” 
— Ted James, Geophysical Society of 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, United States

• Pacific South: Mazin Farouki, 25 
lectures, 902 attendees 

Countries: Australia, China, Indonesia, 
Japan, Malaysia, New Zealand, 
Singapore, and Thailand

Title: “Dense sampling in marine 
seismic: Efficiency in acquisition 
without compromising data quality”

Quote: “Mazin’s presentation on 
marine seismic acquisition was 
excellent and makes us want to host 
more SEG lecturers in the future. He is 
very aware of the audience in that he 
added some basics to make audience 
members without much background 
on the topic better able to understand 
the content. Thanks again!” 
— Zhengguang Zhao, University of 
Queensland, Brisbane, Australia

• South and East Asia: Rima Chatterjee, 
12 lectures, 687 attendees

Countries: India and Indonesia 

Title: “In-situ stress, pore pressure, and 
geomechanical modeling: An aid to 
reservoir exploration and development 
in the Kirshna-Godavari and Upper 
Assam Basins, India” 

Quote: “Dr. Chatterjee made a very 
good presentation that was at a 
level we could understand, and she 
challenged us to continue to work hard 
and search for answers for ourselves.”  
— Sieto Nuryeni, University of 
Bandung, Bandung, Indonesia

2019 HONORARY LECTURERS

• Latin America (virtual): Gladys 
Gonzales, Conroe, Texas,  
United States

• Europe: Dirk Gajewski, University of 
Hamburg, Germany 

•  Middle East and Africa (virtual): 
Hesham ElKaliouby, University of 
Cairo, Egypt

•  North America: Heloise Lynn, Lynn 
Inc., La Veta, Colorado, United States 

•  Pacific South: Boris Gurevich, Curtin 
University, Perth, Australia

• South and East Asia (virtual): 
Subhashis Mallick, University of 
Wyoming, Laramie, Wyoming, 
United States

Due to a reduction in funding, three 
of the HLs in 2019 will be virtual. In 
addition, the traveling lecturers will 
have a reduced schedule.

Many members of the DL Committee 
expressed concern about the reduced 
effectiveness of virtual HL tours and 
recommended efforts to restore funding 
for ensuring that all HL tours are live. 
We will be happy to work with SEG in 
identifying options for restoring funding.

VIRTUAL NEAR-SURFACE GLOBAL 
LECTURER

Beginning in 2018, the SEG Board 
approved a Virtual Near-Surface Global 
Lecturer, who will deliver two virtual 
lectures to be viewed around the world 
and recorded for online viewing (as are 
all lectures). 

• 2018 Virtual Near-Surface Global 
Lecturer: Esben Auken, two virtual 
lectures, 147 attendees

Title: “Exploiting the huge advancements 
in EM instrumentation for full 3D large-
scale resolution of the subsurface”

Quote: “A very clear presentation. The 
data examples were excellent.” — Jan 
Stammeijer, Petroleum Development, 
Oman

• 2019 Virtual Near-Surface Global 
Lecturer: Rosemary Knight, Stanford 
University, Stanford, California, 
United States

View SEG lectures online. Encourage 
your friends, colleagues, and students 
to explore this valuable resource. 

SEG Members are welcome to submit 
nominations for DLs and HLs, as well as 
the Virtual Near-Surface Global Lecturer 
at any time. Submit a nomination here.

Emerging Professionals 
International
Johannes Douma, chair

This was the fourth year for the Emerging 
Professionals International Committee 
(EPIC) of SEG. The committee is 
made up of members from around the 
world. EPIC is dedicated to positively 
increasing SEG’s professional, technical, 
and social impact on the lives of early-
career geophysicists. An “emerging 
professional” is defined as someone who 
has worked in the industry for eight years 
or less and may be gaining seniority and 
increasing responsibility. The goal this 
year was to continue building different 
opportunities for emerging professionals 
to locally connect and grow their 
technical skill set. 

GLOBAL EPIC HAPPY HOUR

Last year, several social events were 
held throughout the world. The purpose 
of these events is to provide emerging 
professionals with the opportunity to 
develop friendships and professional 
relationships and to discuss technical 
aspects of geophysics with fellow 
emerging professionals in their local 
community. As members transition from 
universities and student chapters to 
their full-time employment, they will be 
able to quickly build a network if they 
relocate to a new city for their job. 
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DISTINGUISHED LECTURERS AND 
HONORARY LECTURERS

Members of the committee are moving 
toward connecting Distinguished 
Lecturers and Honorary Lecturers with 
EPIC events, which provide an informal 
setting for emerging professionals to 
network and discuss the presenters’ 
work after their presentations. Last 
year, this concept was pioneered 
in Tulsa, Oklahoma, with visiting 
Honorary Lecturer Mirko van der Baan 
over dinner following his presentation. 
This year, a similar event was held in 
Midland, Texas. After Kurt Marfurt’s 
presentation, a happy-hour event 
enabled geophysicists to network 
with the speaker and continue asking 
questions. This provides emerging 
professionals with a different avenue 
for connecting with lead experts in their 
respective field.

SOCIAL MEDIA

This was the first year of solely using 
Facebook for communication with 
emerging professionals in geophysics. 
The following grew to 196 people. 
Facebook is now used to highlight 
upcoming events by engaging 
the events calendar functionality. 
Additionally, the page is used to 
highlight EPIC events held around the 
globe. EPIC Member Aurelian Roeser 

does an excellent job maintaining the 
page and sharing relevant posts.

TECHNICAL MEETINGS

This year, committee members 
worked toward holding EPIC technical 
meetings outside of social gatherings. 
Sankhadip Bhattacharya organized 
the first meeting in India, which 
was the first EPIC event for the 
country. T. R. Murali Mohan shared a 
presentation titled “Recent advances 
in seismic data processing.” The 
turnout was fantastic. An event also 
was held in Lagos, Nigeria where 
Muyiwa Olawoki discussed “Seismic 
stratigraphy: A critical tool for future 
hydrocarbon exploration.” 

SEG ANNUAL MEETING REMOTE

Another effort by EPIC to bring the 
benefits of SEG to local communities 
was an event organized by Elena 
Dutcher. A remote event was held 
17 October 2018 in Houston. The 
event enabled SEG Members who 
were unable to attend the Annual 
Meeting to participate in a live-
streamed technical session. It 
focused on fostering inclusion of new 
geophysicists who often are unable 
to obtain sponsorship to attend 
conferences. Attendees were able 
to view a live stream of “Imaging, 
inversion, and integrated studies” 

with live audio including the question-
and-answer session. The intimate 
feel of the event allowed attendees 
to discuss the material and ask 
questions of the more experienced 
geophysicists in attendance.

EVOLVE
Olga Nedorub, chair 

The EVOLVE program offers students 
direct experience in conducting 
real-world workflows and projects 
through experiential learning. EVOLVE 
establishes a noncompetitive team 
environment that fosters collaboration 
and global participation and consists 
of open-ended exercises that have no 
prepared answers.

EVOLVE kicked off in February and 
included 60 students from around the 
world (10 teams) who collaborated and 
conducted multidisciplinary analyses 
using real-world seismic, wireline, 
core, production, and other data. 
Each multidisciplinary team had four 
to six members including geologists, 
geophysicists, petrophysicists, and 
reservoir engineers. The participants’ 
progress was supported by their 
local professors and mentors in the 
development of skills such as project 
management, presentation, teamwork, 
and business analysis.

In 2018, the program was led by 
Technical Coordinator Allen Bertagne, 
EVOLVE Program Manager Andrew 
Geary, and Technical Advisor Mike 
Forrest who were supported by 
a group of experienced industry 
mentors. The iEnergy Cloud 
infrastructure and support as well 
as software were managed by the 
Halliburton Landmark EVOLVE team, 
and additional Houston-based data 
loading and data management were 
provided by Jesus Nevarez.

All teams were assigned one of three 
data sets and received the same data, 
software, and educational materials. 
The data sets used in 2018 were 
public domain and located in the Gulf 
of Mexico Shelf, the Dutch North Sea 
Shelf, and offshore northwestern New 
Zealand. Several tutorials were donated 
by the International Human Resources 
Development Corporation, and teams 
also had access to a Rose & Associates 
risk analysis course. The overarching 
goals were (1) to find the best exploration 
or production investment opportunity 
within the team’s asset (data set) and 
(2) to make business recommendations 
to management on the best way(s) to 
create value from the asset. 

In April, each team made a one-
hour presentation to the committee 
members, mentors, and other 
key stakeholders. The next phase 

consisted of in-depth analysis 
and interpretation conducted in 
the DecisionSpace platform. After 
considerable work over an eight-month 
period, in September, the students 
presented their best investment 
opportunities to a panel that simulated 
an oil company boardroom. 

EVOLVE 2018 finished successfully 
at the 2018 Annual Meeting. All 10 
teams presented before a full room 
of EVOLVE team members, the 
SEG EVOLVE Technical Committee, 
the Halliburton-led Advisory Board, 
mentors and volunteers, as well as 
public guests. In addition, the teams 
hosted poster sessions for in-depth 
discussions of their project.

The 2018 year was highlighted in a 
cover story in December’s The Leading 
Edge written by Geary, Bertagne, and 
Forrest. EVOLVE also was featured 
in Exploration Insights, a Halliburton 
magazine published in December 2018.

Field Camps
Jeffrey Shragge, chair

In 1993, the Field Camp Grant 
program was established by the SEG 
Foundation to provide seed money for 
geophysics faculty and SEG student 
chapters to create and support field 
courses that provide students with 
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hands-on experience in data collection 
and analysis using geophysical 
instruments and software applications. 
The 2018 Field Camps Committee 
provided leadership in evaluating 
applications and awarding grants 
to eligible applicants, ensuring that 
geophysics students around the world 
receive valuable applied geophysical 
field training in contexts that emphasize 
safety and high-quality learning.

In 2018, SEG received 21 
applications for funding with a total 
support request of US$232,173.40. 
From the submitted applications, the 
Field Camps Committee selected 
14 to receive awards, totaling 
US$103,751, with values ranging 
between US$2000 and US$20,000. 
Awards were given to help sponsor 
field camps in Bulgaria, Czech 
Republic, India, Indonesia, Poland, 
Romania, South Africa, Ukraine, 
and the United States. More than 
650 students participated in field 
camps sponsored in whole or in part 
through funding provided by donors 
to the program. 

The committee continued to work on: 
(1) strengthening the health, safety, 
security, and environment portion of 
the proposal-evaluation process; (2) 
establishing a rubric for evaluating 
applications; and (3) tightening up 
procedures for applicants wanting to 

engage with a volunteer application 
reader in order to encourage more to 
take advantage of the opportunity.

The 2018 Field Camps Committee 
included Jeffrey Shragge (chair), 
Hendratta Ali, Anton Duchkov, Joe 
Estep, Ingo Geldmacher, Dylan 
Mikesell, and Justin Simmons.

Geophysics
Valentina Socco, editor

In 2018, Geophysics proved to 
be an extremely successful and 
attractive journal as witnessed by the 
increasing number of submissions 
that reached 858 in 2018, the highest 
number ever. This is possible thanks 
to the work of the Editorial Board 
that includes assistant, associate, 
special, SWAT, and department 
editors; guest editors associated with 
special sections; and the availability 
of a large number of competent 
reviewers. I thank them for their 
dedication and for their time. I want 
to mention Randy Keller for his 
30-year service to Geophysics. The 
whole process from submission to 
publication would not be possible 
without the professionalism 
and commitment of the staff of 
SEG’s Knowledge Management 
Department, to whom goes my 
warmhearted gratitude. 

During 2018, some associate editors 
and one assistant editor resigned. 
Two new associate editors joined 
the Editorial Board during 2018, and 
eight others have been invited and 

will start their activity in 2019. One 
new assistant editor joined for regular 
papers, and Mauricio Sacchi accepted 
to serve as an assistant editor for 
publication integrity.

The number of submissions to 
Geophysics doubled in the last 
decade. The major contribution to 
submissions in 2018 comes from 
China (43%) followed by the United 

R E P O R T S  O F  C O M M I T T E E S

TABLE 4 
SUBMISSION AND PUBLICATION BY COUNTRY 1 JANUARY 2018–31 DECEMBER 2018

Country Submitted Published
China 369 115
United States 161 84
Canada 41 27
Saudi Arabia 33 14
Brazil 29 15
United Kingdom of Great 
Britain and Northern Ireland 

27 12

Norway 25 14
Germany 21 14
Netherlands 15 14
France 15 13
Islamic Republic of Iran 14 13
India 10 1
Denmark 8 4
Japan 8 3
Australia 7 4
Italy 7 3
Malaysia 6 0
Switzerland 5 6
Russian Federation 5 2
Argentina 5 1
Republic of Korea 4 2
Egypt 4 0
Nigeria 4 0

Country Submitted Published
Singapore 3 5
Mexico 3 2
United Arab Emirates 3 2
Sweden 3 1
South Africa 3 0
Poland 2 1
Portugal 2 1
Taiwan 2 1
Indonesia 2 0
Thailand 2 0
Czech Republic 1 1
Israel 1 1
New Zealand 1 1
Turkey 1 1
Aruba 1 0
Azerbaijan 1 0
Belgium 1 0
Chili 1 0
Spain 1 0
Vietnam 1 0
Austria 0 1
Finland 0 1

Total 858 380
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States (19%) and Canada (5%). Europe 
contributes 16% of submissions, the 
Middle East contributes 6%, Asia 
(excluding China) contributes 5%, and 
Latin America contributes 5% (Table 4). 
For the first time, China has the highest 
number of accepted papers.

The contributions from oil and service 
companies continue to be relatively 
moderate and tend to decrease (8.5%) 
(Table 5).

Manuscript turnaround times have 
slightly increased, mainly due to the 
high number of submissions. The 
average time required for first review 

is 73 days (Table 6), while the average 
time between acceptance and 
publication is stable and equal to 65 
days (Table 7). 

The 2017 impact factor according to the 
Science Edition of Clarivate Analytics’ 
Journal Citation Reports is 2.368 

(Table 8), a very slight decrease with 
respect to 2016 (2.391, our record).

Since January 2018, Geophysics 
has used a double-blind review 
process. In double-blind review, 
the reviewers are anonymous and 
the authors are unknown to the 
reviewers. The decision of moving 

to double blind was taken after long 
discussion within the Editorial Board 
and thorough pros and cons analysis 
carried out by SEG’s Knowledge 
Management Department. The reason 
for considering the process was to 
mitigate possible bias due to fame, 
nationality, and gender in the review 
process. It was decided to carefully 

monitor the possible negative effects 
of double blind, and after one year no 
reduction in submission or anomalous 
change in acceptance rate (56.6% in 
2018, 51.6% in 2017, 57.2% in 2016, 
60.3% in 2015) have been evidenced. 
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TABLE 7 
MANUSCRIPT-HANDLING STATISTICS

Year  
published  
1 July–30 
June

Average number 
of days between 
acceptance and 

online publication
1991–92 176
1992–93 181
1993–94 178
1994–95 210
1995–96  N/A
1996–97  N/A
1997–98 180
1998–99 177
1999–00 202
2000–01 208
2001–02 213
2002–03 195
2003–04 161
2004–05 158
2005–06 181
2006–07 143
2007–08 82

Year  
published  
1 July–30 
June

Average number 
of days between 
acceptance and 

online publication
2008–09 111
2009–10 122
2010–11 135
2011–12 126
2012–13 78
2013–14 72
2014–15 65
2015–16 69

Year 
published 
1 January–31 
December 

Average number 
of days between 
acceptance and 

online publication
2016  66
2017 53
2018  65

TABLE 6 
MANUSCRIPT-HANDLING STATISTICS

Year  
submitted 
1 July– 
30 June

Average number  
of days required  

for first review
1991–92 172
1992–93 157
1993–94 184
1994–95 182
1995–96 211
1996–97 186
1997–98 205
1998–99 214
1999–00 212
2000–01 211
2001–02 178
2002–03 133
2003–04 141
2004–05 105
2005–06 66
2006–07 53
2007–08 57
2008–09 55

Year  
submitted 
1 July– 
30 June

Average number  
of days required  

for first review
2009–10 66
2010–11 61
2011–12 66
2012–13 61
2013–14 72
2014–15 70
2015–16 66

Year 
submitted  
1 January–31 
December 

Average number 
of days required 

for first review
 2016  66
 2017  71
*2018  73

*First reviews have not been 
returned for all papers.

TABLE 5 
ORIGIN OF PAPERS SUBMITTED 
FOR PUBLICATION IN Geophysics 
BY EMPLOYER 1 JANUARY 2018–
31 DECEMBER 2018

Universities 652
Research institutes 106
Oil companies 49
Governments 26
Service companies and 
manufacturers 

15

Consultants 7
Instrument company 2
Retired 1

Total 858



2018 Annual Report

29

SM

SPECIAL SECTIONS

In 2018, Geophysics published three 
special sections.

1)  “Deciphering fractured rock 
properties from seismic wavefields” 
provides an overview of the 
current understanding of how 
seismic signatures can be used 

to characterize fractured rock 
masses by covering a wide range 
of topics including numerical and 
theoretical aspects of seismic waves 
in fractured rocks, determination of 
fracture parameters from seismic 
data, and laboratory experiments 
designed to study the characteristics 
of seismic signatures of these media.

2)  “Shared advances in exploration and 
fundamental geophysics” aims to 
bring fundamental and exploration-
geophysics communities together 
with contributions showcasing 
shared advances across 
spatial scales and geophysical 
specializations. 

3)  “3D forward modeling and 
inversion of electromagnetics and 
applications” concerns advances 
in theory, modeling, inversion, and 
innovative applications of 3D EM 
geophysics and considers a wide 
range of EM methods including 
airborne EM, magnetotellurics, land-
based controlled-source EM (CSEM), 
marine CSEM, and borehole EM. 

One other special section on a 
crucial topic was announced in 
2018 and will be published in 2019: 
“Hydromechanical phenomena at 
the pore scale and their upscaling.” 
“Machine learning and data analytics 

for geoscience applications” will be 
published in 2020.

REVIEWER OF THE YEAR

Julián L. Gómez was named reviewer 
of the year for 2018. He served as a 
reviewer for Geophysics combining 
a high number of reviews, highly 
relevant feedback, and extreme 
efficiency in responding. His 
understanding of the scientific content 
of manuscripts and the careful and 
detailed analyses of them make him 
not only a rigorous reviewer who 
facilitates the editors’ work, but also 
a very useful support for the authors, 
to whom he provides constructive 
remarks and suggestions on both 
technical content and style issues. His 
communication toward the authors is 
always encouraging and clear.

IN MEMORIAM

Dimitri Komatitsch, associate editor 
of Seismic Modeling and Wave 
Propagation, passed away 21 January 
2019. He joined the Editorial Board 
in 2013 and contributed significantly 
to Geophysics. He was research 
director in the Laboratory of Mechanics 
and Acoustics at CNRS/University of 
Aix-Marseilli in France. His research 
interests included adjoint/inverse 
imaging problems based on acoustic 
waves in industrial, oceanic, or 

geophysical structures; the study of 
associated effects related to strong 
local heterogeneities and steep 
topography; and the numerical study of 
acoustic or seismic wave propagation 
in complex media. The editors and 
staff of the journal will miss his rigor 
and dedication.

Geoscientists Without 
Borders®

Robert Merrill, chair

Geoscientists Without Borders® 
(GWB) is a cornerstone of the 
SEG strategic plan, providing a 
significant opportunity for SEG and 
its membership to make a social 
contribution. The program provides 
funding that supports geoscience 
projects that seek to solve problems 
of human need around the world. 

The GWB grant application process 
is divided into two phases: Phase I, 
which is an abbreviated application 
summarizing a project plan and 
the problem it is designed to solve; 
and Phase II, which requires the 
submission of a full proposal. A select 
number of Phase I applicants are 
invited to submit full proposals for 
Phase II. 

During 2018, two rounds of 
applications were submitted and 

R E P O R T S  O F  C O M M I T T E E S

TABLE 8 
IMPACT FACTOR

Year Impact factor
1975  0.629
1976  1.095
1977  0.773
1978  0.591
1979  0.918
1980 0.895
1981  1.087
1982 1.100
1983 1.461
1984  1.193
1985  1.206
1986  0.968
1987  1.084
1988  0.931
1989  1.017
1990  0.905
1991  1.166
1992  0.697
1993  0.919
1994  0.824
1995  0.877
1996  0.867
1997  0.824

Year Impact factor
1998  0.687
1999  0.818
2000  0.861
2001  0.649
2002  0.834
*2003  0.589
2004  1.087
2005  1.030
2006  1.228
2007  1.167
2008  1.349
2009  1.662
2010 1.404
2011  1.418
2012  1.723
2013  1.759
2014  1.612
2015  2.017
2016  2.391
2017 2.368
* The impact factor for 2003 is based on 
a single issue. A recalculation based on 
all issues in 2003 gives 0.862.
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evaluated. The committee reviewed 
45 Phase I applications, of which 16 
were invited to submit full proposals 
in Phase II. The committee selected a 
total of six projects to award funding, 
totaling US$464,678. 

The following projects were awarded 
funding in 2018:

• International partnership to develop 
volcano monitoring capacities in 
Guatemala

• Low-cost geophysical 
instrumentation for groundwater 
management in West Africa

• Hydrometeorologic and geologic 
hazards at Pico de Orizaba Volcano, 
Mexico

• Seismic site effects study in Nepal

•  Improved earthquake hazard 
assessment in Myanmar: Tools, 
knowledge, and infrastructure

• Geophysical investigation of fault 
zone aquifers and water-quality 
assessment in Cameroon

Additionally, the committee updated 
reporting requirements for all newly 
funded projects. Several members of 
the committee also assisted the SEG 
Foundation Board of Directors by 

providing input on fundraising efforts as 
members of a fundraising task force.

The 2018 GWB Committee included 
Robert Merrill (chair), Ted Asch, Cengiz 
Esmersoy, Susan Ganz, Doug Laymon, 
Phoebe McMellon, Richard Nolen-
Hoeksema, and Julie Svay.

Gravity and Magnetics
Luise Sander, chair

In 2017–2018, the Gravity and 
Magnetics Committee was involved 
in the organization of numerous 
Annual Meeting technical sessions, 
a postconvention workshop, and the 
Gravity and Magnetics Luncheon. 
In addition, committee activities 
throughout the past year included 
reviews of technical publications, 
updating the membership list, and 
overseeing the Gravity and Magnetics 
dedicated list server. 

The chair of the committee for 2017–
2019 is Luise Sander. The vice chair 
was Nicholas Direen; however, he 
resigned in October 2018 and was 
replaced by Irina Filina.

Chuck Campbell has been organizing 
the technical oral and poster sessions 
for many years, with abstract-reviewing 
assistance from committee members. 
Chuck continued this task in 2018 

and has once again volunteered to 
do so for the 2019 Annual Meeting. 
There were three gravity and magnetic 
technical sessions at the 2018 Annual 
Meeting — two oral sessions and one 
poster session.

The postconvention workshop, 
“Integrated imaging,” was organized 
by Ed Biegert, Irina Filina, Vicki 
Tschirhart, Neda Bundalo, and Luise 
Sander. There were approximately 
50 attendees and eight short 
presentations. Three highly interactive 
guided discussions followed the 
presentations. Participants divided 
into small groups, and each group 
focused on one discussion topic at 
a time. The groups rotated, which 
allowed everyone to discuss all 
of the topics. Based on feedback 
from the participants, these 
discussions were the most valuable 
part of the workshop. A report on 
the postconvention workshop is 
currently being written, with the plan 
to distribute it to the gravity and 
magnetics community and the general 
public through the Meter Reader 
column of The Leading Edge.

The Gravity and Magnetics Luncheon 
featured Lu An from the University 
of California, Irvine with a talk 
titled “Airborne gravity: Unveiling 
the secrets of ice shelf cavities in 
Antarctica and ice thickness in 

Patagonia using airborne gravity and 
other data.” 

The committee supports the Meter 
Reader column in The Leading Edge. 
The column focuses on different issues 
related to potential fields. Jerry Hensel 
has coordinated the publication of this 
column. Alan Morgan will coordinate 
future columns.

Dale Bird is the committee representative 
on the AGU–SEG Collaboration 
Committee. Members of the committee 
are planning a joint AGU–SEG workshop 
on airborne geophysics that will be held 
10–13 June in Florida.

The Gravity and Magnetics Committee 
had a goal for 2018 to pare down the 
committee membership list to include 
only the active members. This was 
successfully completed in February 
2018, and the committee now has 
25 members.

The committee will continue to support 
SEG-related activities that promote 
knowledge and applications of gravity 
and magnetic methods at the Annual 
Meeting and throughout the year.

Health, Safety, Security, and 
Environment
Luke Decker, chair

2017–2018 ACCOMPLISHMENTS

After four years of service from Ian 
Threadgold, Luke Decker took over as 
chair of the committee. The following 
was accomplished:

• The committee reviewed guidance 
documents related to selecting 
proper personal protective 
equipment for field activities and 
developing health, safety, security, 
and environment (HSSE) plans. The 
plans were submitted to the Board 
for approval and were approved.

• The committee coordinated with 
Geoscientists Without Borders® 
(GWB) and Field Camps to ensure 
that all field activities at a minimum 
have an escape plan. They also 
confirmed that individuals involved 
know who to contact in the event of 
an emergency and that participants 
are aware of those details.

• The committee redeveloped the 
HSSE Web resources page, which 
was relaunched as part of the 
SEG Wiki (learn more here). The 
committee updates the page as 
it identifies and develops new 
resources.

R E P O R T S  O F  C O M M I T T E E S
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•  The committee interfaced with 
GWB and Field Camps to ensure 
awareness of needs and smoother 
coordination. Jeff Shragge, the 
Field Camps chair, and Bob Merrill, 
the GWB chair, have become new 
liaisons to the HSSE Committee.

• The committee added additional 
members with an emphasis on 
students and young professionals.

•  The committee utilized Zoom for 
Web-based meetings.

2018–2019 OBJECTIVES 

• Explore ways that the committee 
can fulfill the “environmental” 
part of its mandate. Identify 
environmental resources to include 
on the Web page.

• Work with the Field Camps 
Committee to provide advanced 
feedback and coaching on  
HSSE plans.

• Work with Field Camps and GWB 
to develop Web-based modules 
related to HSSE and planning and 
risk assessment. Ensure Field 
Camp and GWB participants are 
aware of HSSE resources.

• Review the SEG International Travel 
Guidance Policy document.

• Review the SEG HSSE Overarching 
Policy document and suggest 
possible modifications.

• Increase exposure to HSSE within 
the Society by having committee 
members author an article in The 
Leading Edge. Use the article as a 
basis for an episode of the Seismic 
Soundoff podcast.

•  Promote committee continuity by 
continuing to recruit new members, 
and prepare incoming committee 
Vice Chair Tiffany Carey.

The committee’s mission continues to 
be “… to help ensure that HSSE is taken 
into consideration for any activities that 
the SEG manages or sponsors. It will 
not duplicate the work that the IAGC 
and IOGP do with HSSE for geophysical 
operations but rather complement it, 
and utilize wherever possible industry 
guidance already developed.”

Honors and Awards
David Monk, chair

The Honors and Awards Committee 
consists of the five most recent 
past presidents of SEG. The 2018 
members were David Monk (chair), 
Don Steeples, Chris Liner, John 
Bradford, and Bill Abriel. Nominations 
were solicited from the membership 

at large following the 2017 Annual 
Meeting in Houston. Nominations 
for certain Best Paper or Best 
Presentation awards were provided by 
the Technical Program Committee for 
the 2017 Annual Meeting, the editor 
of Geophysics, the Editorial Board of 
Interpretation, and the Editorial Board 
of The Leading Edge. 

The Honors and Awards Committee — 
following extensive research by each 
of the committee members — handles 
the decision process for awards. 
The committee recommendations 
must receive approval from the SEG 
Board of Directors, and in some 
cases, the recommendations must 
be unanimously approved by both the 
committee and the Board. 

This year, the Craig J. Beasley Award for 
Social Contribution was added to the 
honors bestowed by the Society. The 
following awards were conferred at the 
2018 Annual Meeting held in Anaheim, 
California. Full citations for these awards 
were published in the November 2018 
issue of The Leading Edge. 

MAURICE EWING MEDAL 

Albert Tarantola (posthumous) 

VIRGIL KAUFFMAN GOLD MEDAL 

Mrinal Kanti Sen 

REGINALD FESSENDEN AWARD 

John Parker Burg and Necati Gülünay 

LIFE MEMBERSHIP 

Huasheng Zheng and Xianhuai Zhu 

J. CLARENCE KARCHER AWARD 

Matteo Ravasi, Yunyue Elita Li, and 
Tieyuan Zhu 

SPECIAL COMMENDATION 

Maria Angela Capello 

DISTINGUISHED ACHIEVEMENT 
AWARD 

Bureau of Economic Geology 

HONORARY MEMBERSHIP 

Fred Aminzadeh 

CECIL GREEN ENTERPRISE AWARD 

Daniel Herold, Robin Herold, and Peter 
W. Flanagan — Parallel Geoscience 
Corporation 

OUTSTANDING EDUCATOR AWARD 

Hendratta Ntalla Ali and Kristina 
Keating 

CRAIG J. BEASLEY AWARD FOR 
SOCIAL CONTRIBUTION 

Paul D. Bauman

BEST PAPER IN INTERPRETATION IN 
2017 

“Time-variant wavelet extraction with 
a local-attribute-based time-frequency 
decomposition for seismic inversion” 

Rui Zhang and Sergey Fomel 

BEST PAPER IN Geophysics IN 2017 

“Exploiting surface consistency for 
surface-wave characterization and 
mitigation — Part 1: Theory and 2D 
examples” and “Part 2: Application to 
3D data” 

Christine E. Krohn and Partha S. Routh 

BEST PAPER IN THE LEADING EDGE IN 
2017 

“Operational deployment of 
compressive sensing systems for 
seismic data acquisition” 

Charles C. Mosher, Chengbo Li, Frank 
D. Janiszewski, Laurence S. Williams, 
Tiffany C. Carey, and Yongchang Ji 

R E P O R T S  O F  C O M M I T T E E S
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TECHNICAL PROGRAM AWARDS

2017 ANNUAL MEETING, HOUSTON, 
TEXAS

BEST PAPER 

“Probabilistic seismic inversion using 
pseudo-wells” 

Patrick Connolly and Mark O’Brien 

BEST POSTER PAPER 

“New global lake gravity from advances 
in satellite altimetry processing” 

Samuel Cheyney, Kirsten Fletcher, 
Chris Green, and Simon Campbell 

BEST STUDENT PAPER

“Removing numerical dispersion 
artifacts from reverse time migration 
and full-waveform inversion” 

Erik Koene 

BEST STUDENT POSTER PAPER 

“Semiautomatic seismic well ties and 
log data interpolation” 

Sean Bader

Interpretation Editorial Board 
Kurt J. Marfurt, editor-in-chief

This is the sixth Interpretation annual 
report since its launch in October 2012. 
The Editorial Board members for 2018 
included Kurt Marfurt (editor-in-chief), 
Hongliu Zeng (deputy editor-in-chief ), 
William L. Abriel, Huyen Thi Thanh Bui, 
Oswaldo Davogustto, Dallas B. Dunlap, 
Vsevolod Egorov, Shu Jiang, Donald 
A. Herron, David H. Johnston, Balazs 
Imre Nemeth, Oskar Vidal Royo, Cedric 
Schmelzbach, Gerard T. Schuster, 
Leslie Wood, Chicheng Xu, Bo Zhang, 
and Guangfa Zhong. 

Interpretation is built on special 
sections, with standing sections on 
“Tools, Techniques, and Tutorials” 
and “Pitfalls,” as well as a general 
technical section. There are three 
motivations for the special sections. 
First, the readers of Interpretation can 
find multiple articles addressing a 
given technical topic or geologic basin, 
thereby identifying unifying themes 
and alternative perspectives. Second, 
the special sections are organized by 
guest editors, thereby broadening not 
only the intellectual scope but also the 
geographic and demographic diversity 
of the journal. Third, in addition to the 
published call for papers requesting 
submissions from the geotechnical 
community at large, the special 
editors directly enlist contributions 

from potential authors who are either 
authorities on a specific technical 
topic or seasoned interpreters in a 
specific basin. Such invitations from 
the special editors on behalf of the 
American Association of Petroleum 
Geologists (AAPG) and SEG to publish 
in Interpretation greatly facilitate the 
release of proprietary data, workflows, 
and best practices from company 
management. Indeed, such requests 
are correctly viewed as outside 
recognition of company expertise and 
therefore align with business goals of 

being a preferred partner, operator, or 
technology provider.

The expectation is that each board 
member will initiate at least two special 
sections each year. Not all special 
sections receive the minimum of three 
papers; in this case, accepted papers 
appear in the general technicalsection. 
Papers that miss the special section 
due to delays in data release or 
additional revisions also appear in 
the next technical section. Papers 
accepted for publication prior to the 
target special section publication 

date are placed online as accelerated 
articles immediately after they have 
gone through the galley proof.

Table 9 summarizes the origin of 
papers. For 2018, the origin roughly 
represents the membership of SEG 
and AAPG. The focus of the special 
sections can influence the origin of 
the papers. In 2018, special sections 
on Poland, the Pannonian Basin, 
Argentina, and western Canada in 
addition to the Niobrara and Woodford 
shales of the United States broadened 
diversification beyond the United 
States and China.

Table 10 groups the contributions 
by type of institution. With the desire 
of university faculty and students to 

R E P O R T S  O F  C O M M I T T E E S

TABLE 9 
ORIGIN OF PAPERS SUBMITTED FOR PUBLICATION IN INTERPRETATION BY 
COUNTRY 1 JANUARY 2018–31 DECEMBER 2018

China 95
USA 89
Brazil 10
Canada 6
Egypt 4
Australia 3
Islamic Republic of Iran 3
Malaysia 3
Ethiopia 2
Norway 2
Saudi Arabia 2
United Kingdom of Great 
Britain and Northern Ireland

2

Argentina 1

Austria 1
Colombia 1
Croatia 1
Denmark 1
Germany 1
Italy 1
Mexico 1
Nigeria 1
Portugal 1
Romania 1
Switzerland 1
Thailand 1
Total 234

TABLE 10 
ORIGIN OF PAPERS SUBMITTED 
FOR PUBLICATION IN 
INTERPRETATION BY EMPLOYER 
1 JANUARY 2018–31 DECEMBER 
2018

Universities 140
Oil companies 32
Research institutes 26
Service companies and 
manufacturers

14

Consultants 12
Governments 10
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document their capabilities through 
peer-reviewed publications, it should be 
no surprise that universities contribute 
60% of the papers, unchanged from 
2017. However, note that the simple 
classification in these tables has a 
North American bias — with many of 
the Chinese university authors working 
in institutions that are more accurately 
categorized as university-industry-
government technology labs based at 
university sites.

During its sixth year in 2018, the 
reputation of Interpretation grew. As 
the SEG 2018 Distinguished Short 
Course instructor, I had the privilege 
to visit and interact with oil and gas 
companies around the world as well 
as with other academic institutions. 
Interpretation has quickly found its 
niche and has hit its target audience in 
the interpretation community. Equally 
important, Interpretation has risen in 
the Clarivate Analytics Science Citation 
Index Expanded (SCIE) from 0.510 
in 2015 to 0.937 in 2017 (Table 11). 
Although originally intended as a 
tool for libraries, many government 
research institutions and international 
universities use the score as a 
component in employee evaluation 
and promotion decisions. Interestingly, 
because most Interpretation articles 
cite papers previously published in 
the AAPG Bulletin and Geophysics, 
the rise of Interpretation has also had 

a positive impact on these two well-
established journals. 

This success has led to continued 
growing pains in 2018, with an 
increase in the number of unsolicited 
papers to the general technical section 
(Table 12). To aid in this effort we have 
enlisted a suite of high-energy deputy 
associate editors including Pablo 
Cervantes, Gaurav Dutta, Chaoli Lan, 
Felipe Alberto Lozano-Garcia, Murari 
Khatiwada, Yunsong Huang, Nabanita 
Gupta, Marcilio Castro de Matos, 
Osareni Christopher Ogiesoba, Bradley 
C. Wallet, Sumit Verma, Xinming 
Wu, and Rui Zhang. These deputy 
associate editors have been proficient 
in conducting efficient, timely, and 
objective reviews of papers ranging 
from organic geochemistry to machine 
learning. With their hard work, we have 
reduced the average time of the first 
review to 57 days in 2018 (Table 13). 

Table 14 shows the time of 
acceptance to publication has risen 
from an all-time low of 56 days in 2017 
to an average of 73 days in 2018. This 
does not include the publication of 
the just-accepted versions of articles 
appearing within a couple of days of 
acceptance.

In summary, through the efforts of the 
Tulsa-based editorial staff, the work of 
the special-section editors, the board 
of editors, and most importantly, 
the contribution of the authors and 
reviewers, Interpretation is running 
smoothly, addressing the needs of 
our readership, and further building its 
reputation as a peer-reviewed journal.

R E P O R T S  O F  C O M M I T T E E S

TABLE 12 
SPECIAL SECTION AND PAPER COUNT

Year 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Issue A N F M A N F M A N F M A N F M A N F M A N
Planned special sections 1 1 2 2 4 8 8 8 6 7 3 5 6 6 4 4 7 5 4 3 4 4
Special sections published 1 1 2 3 3 4 6 6 8 4 3 5 6 6 4 2 6 4 3 2 2 4
Papers in special sections 8 10 23 21 19 26 35 32 50 30 27 22 28 13 19 23 39 20 18 14 16 27
Papers in general technical section 9 7 4 6 2 9 4 7 4 6 7 11 13 18 11 12 14 14 16 19 20 21
Total papers published 21 19 28 26 21 35 40 41 55 38 35 34 42 33 30 38 53 35 34 36 37 49

TABLE 13 
MANUSCRIPT-HANDLING 
STATISTICS

Year  
submitted 
1 January– 
31 December

Average number  
of days required  

for first review

2016 61
2017 66
2018* 57

*First reviews have not been returned for 
all papers.

TABLE 14 
MANUSCRIPT-HANDLING 
STATISTICS

Year  
published  
1 January– 
31 December

Average number 
of days between 
acceptance and 

online publication
2016 68
2017 56
2018 73

TABLE 11 
IMPACT FACTOR

Year Impact factor
2015 0.510
2016 0.690
2017 0.937
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Meetings Review and Planning 
Carmen Dumitrescu, chair

The 2018 Meetings Review and 
Planning Committee (MRPC) had 
17 members including the SEG 
Board liaison and staff liaison. MRPC 
membership includes representatives 
from SEG regional advisory 
committees (RACs), SEG standing 
committees (Development and 
Production, Gravity and Magnetics, 
Oil and Gas Reserves, and Technical 
Standards), and intersocietal/
cooperative committees (Global Inc. 
and Offshore Technology Conference).

MRPC provides SEG Board of Directors 
and SEG staff with member-driven 
advice for all proposed meetings that 
request in-kind or financial support of 
SEG. A secondary role of MRPC is to 
ensure that all segments of our Society 
have visibility, voice, and representation 
in the content, approval/rejection, and 
scheduling of proposed meetings.

2018 ACCOMPLISHMENTS

• The number of reviewed and 
approved meetings reflects the 
changing face of SEG Membership 
and the increase in oil prices. The 
number of submitted and approved 
meeting proposals almost doubled 
in comparison to the previous year. 

There were 25 submissions in 2018 
and 13 in 2017.

• A total of 24% of the approved 
meeting proposals are promoted 
meetings (do not require SEG 
Board approval; SEG will 
encourage and help market), 60% 
are operated meetings (do require 
SEG Board approval; SEG will 
commit staff and financial support), 
and 16% are partnered.

• Some of the promoted meetings 
include the Association of Earth 
Science Editors Annual Meeting, 
American Geophysical Union 
(AGU)/SEG Airborne Geophysics 
Workshop, 16th Biennial South 
African Geophysical Association 
Conference and Exhibition, and 8th 
International Geosciences Student 
Conference and GeoCongress.

OBJECTIVES AND UPDATES

• The Meeting Proposal Submittal 
Form is now available on the SEG 
Basecamp portal, allowing users to 
better estimate meeting costs and 
finances and to clarify the expected 
benefits from the requested meeting 
to help allocate SEG staff and 
financial resources. 

• MRPC worked with SEG staff to 
provide a complete calendar by 

region to include the American 
Association of Petroleum 
Geologists, European Association 
of Geoscientists and Engineers, 
Society of Petroleum Engineers, AGU, 
DownUnder GeoSolutions, and other 
pertinent geoscience/engineering 
meetings, workshops, etc.

• The committee continued to provide 
informed recommendations to 
the SEG staff and Board on event 
approvals, making sure the events 
were consistent with SEG objectives; 
appropriately separated in time, 
geography, and subject matter; and 
fiscally effective for the Society.

• MRPC encouraged closer 
communication between Regional 
Advisory Committees and the 
Global Affairs Committee to identify 
particular needs for proposed SEG 
meetings. Specifically, RACs should 
act as advisors for their regions and 
countries to highlight meeting needs 
from SEG.

Membership
Dhananjay Kumar, chair

The Membership Committee set three 
goals to strive for during 2017–2018, 
and good progress was made on all of 
the items.

1)  Simplify membership

•  One of the objectives was to grant 
voting rights to Associate Members. 
The Bylaws change was successfully 
passed by the SEG Board and 
Council and by majority vote of 
Active Members. This will help with 
the number of voters and increase 
engagement from more members.

2)  Engage the Emerging Professionals 
International Committee (EPIC) and the 
Women’s Network Committee (WNC)

• Meeting minutes and ideas were 
shared with WNC, and discussions 
began about more collaboration. 
Membership Committee members 
also actively worked on better 
coordination with EPIC and local 
geoscience communities. We believe 
that social and technical meetings 
are the most effective avenue to 
build working relationships and to 
promote SEG.

3)  Market discounted student 
membership

• Because membership fees now are 
applied to all students, the members 
of the committee discussed ways 
to engage more students and keep 
them a part of SEG. 

Another objective was to merge 
membership application forms for 
Associate and Active members to 
one form by reducing the amount of 
work history information required. This 
Bylaws change was not passed by the 
Council. However, the committee may 
rework the proposal and present the 
item again in the future.

Members of the committee:

• Dhananjay Kumar (chair)
• Aldo Vesnaver (vice chair)
• Madeline Lee (Board liaison)
•  Aaron Girard 
• Alfred Liaw 
• Anita Thapalia 
• Bharath Shekar 
• Gustavo Carstens 
•  Joseph Ebeniro 
• Olga Nedorub 
• Paul Anderson 
• Rocco Detomo 
• Uzonna Anyiam 
• Zeyu Zhao 
• Zhiguo Wang 

Mining
Sean Walker, chair

As 2018 comes to an end, so does 
my term as chair of the Mining 
Committee. Throughout the year, I 
was ably supported by Jean Legault 
(vice chair) and Glenn Chubak (key 
technical contact). 

R E P O R T S  O F  C O M M I T T E E S
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The primary function of the Mining 
Committee continues to be the 
organization of mining-related activities 
at the SEG Annual Meeting. In 2018, 
the committee organized a full slate of 
events including two oral sessions, one 
poster session, two postconvention 
workshops (topics included 
electromagnetic methods and porphyry 
copper exploration), a luncheon (with 
speaker Steven Constable), and an 
informal student-appreciation evening.

The committee held five meetings 
during 2018. These took place at the 
Association for Mineral Exploration 
Roundup in Vancouver, Canada; 
the Australian Society of Exploration 
Geophysicists Conference in Sydney, 
Australia; the Prospectors and 
Developers Association of Canada 
International Convention in Toronto; 
the Resources for Future Generations 
Conference in Vancouver; and the 
SEG Annual Meeting in Anaheim, 
California, USA. 

Attendance was varied with a minimum 
of three and a maximum of 18. 
Topics discussed during the meetings 
included planning for the SEG Annual 
Meeting, restructuring of SEG and how 
it will affect the mining-geophysics 
community, updates to the list server, 
and the hosting of reference data sets.

Near-Surface Geophysics 
Technical Section
Mike Powers, chair

The SEG Near-Surface Geophysics 
Technical Section (NSTS) was formed 
in October 2014 based on SEG Board 
approval and the signatures of 50 
Active Members. Since that time, 
NSTS membership has continued 
to climb. In addition to membership 
growth, the scope and activities of 
NSTS continues to expand:

•  International Conference on 
Engineering Geophysics (near-
surface conference in Al Ain, UAE)

•  Joint workshops with the American 
Geophysical Union

•  Formative collaborative beginnings 
with other tangentially aligned 
professional societies

•  The largest-ever near-surface 
geophysics technical program 
components at the Annual Meeting 
(technical sessions, postconvention 
workshops, panel discussions, 
preconference continuing-education 
course, and reception) 

•  A forum on infrastructure that was 
conducted with the American 
Society of Civil Engineers and the 
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers

•  The Leading Edge near-surface 
geophysics quarterly column

•  Special sections in SEG journals

• Electronic table of contents that 
curates near-surface geophysics 
articles from all three SEG journals 
in one easy-to-access location 
each quarter

•  Development of near-surface 
geophysics continuing-education 
courses 

• Development and completion of 
engineering and environmental 
geophysics core competencies

NSTS nominates deserving professionals 
for the Harold Mooney Award annually 
and the Environmental and Engineering 
Geophysical Society/SEG Frank 
Frischknecht Leadership Award every 18 
months. James Harris received the 2018 
Harold Mooney Award in Anaheim. 

NSTS established the Near-Surface 
Research Endowment that provides 
funding for near-surface geophysical 
research by deserving graduate and 
undergraduate students. 

Also, NSTS offers an award for the 
best near-surface newsletter article by 
an SEG student chapter. 

In 2018, NSTS conducted its first photo 
contest and awarded prizes for the 
top three entries. First place went to 
Sajad Jazayeri, second place went to 
Geraldine Chibuzor Anukwu, and third 
place went to Aixa Ines Rodriguez.

NSTS leadership included Mike Powers 
(chair), Steve Sloan (past chair), Jose 
Arce (chair-elect), Erasmus Oware (vice 
chair), Dale Rucker (secretary), Sarah 
Morton-Rupert (newsletter editor and 
student program lead), and Sajad 
Jazayeri (social media lead).

Nominations
Vladimir Grechka, chair

The Committee on Nominations is 
charged with assembling the list of 
candidates for the Board of Directors 
and the district representatives and 
overseeing all membership votes. 
The committee is comprised of 
three immediate prior SEG past 
presidents; four representatives 
from sections, associated societies, 
technical sections, or geographic 
districts; the chair of the Council; 
and two SEG directors at large. This 
year’s committee members were 
Chris Liner, John Bradford, Bill Abriel, 
Iyabode Sindiku, Esther Babcock, 
Abdulaziz Muhaidib, Mike Wilt, Lee 
Lawyer, and Vice Chair  
Ruben Martinez.

Filling a slate of candidates is not 
an easy task. The Board and the 
Council need to represent and give 
voice to our diverse membership 
of different geophysical disciplines, 
geographic areas, and personal 
backgrounds. The committee looks 
for candidates who not only help 
balance this representation but also 
care about SEG, have shown that 
they are willing to make an effort and 
commit time, have the best interest 
of the organization and its members 
in mind, and are willing to work hard 
to achieve the goals of the Society. 
Therefore, it is not surprising that 
nominees often are people who have 
served on SEG committees, have 
been involved in the organization 
of the Annual Meeting, have served 
on the Board of an SEG subsidiary, 
have been Council members, or have 
otherwise made a mark. 
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2018 SEG ELECTION

President-elect:
•  Richard Miller
•  Maurice Nessim

Second vice president: 
•  David Bartel
•  Manika Prasad

Treasurer: 
•  Dan Ebrom
•  Zhaobo “Joe” Meng

Director at large (two positions): 
•  Maria Angela Capello 
•  David Lumley
•  Hitoshi Mikada 
•  Huasheng Zheng

District 1:
•  Barry Rava 
•  Connie VanSchuyver

District 2: 
•  Kathy Hardy 
• Tracy Stark

District 3: 
•  Biondo Biondi
•  Stuart Wright

District 4: 
•  William Harbert 
•  Debra Phillips

District 5:
•  Rachel Newrick
•  Keith Millis

District 6:
•  Jose Arce 
•  Ana Curcio

District 7: 
•  Anton Bogrash
•  Alexandre Belousov

District 8: 
•  Sandra Tegtmeier-Last
• Alfredo Mazzotti

District 10: 
• Tariq Alkhalifah 
•  Abdulfattah Al-Dajani

District 11: 
•  Yonghyun Chung 
•  Gong Feng

Survey & Ballot Systems Inc. (SBS) 
was contracted to conduct the SEG 
election for the Board of Directors. SBS 
designed and distributed an elective 
ballot and a paper ballot to each voting 
member. SBS received, tabulated, and 
verified the votes, and submitted the 
results to the SEG business office. The 
Committee on Nominations verified the 
count provided by SBS.

Official ballots were sent out 5 June 
2018 to 7250 Active Members eligible 

to vote in this year’s election. The 
annual election had a participation rate 
of 18.79%. 

ELECTION RESULTS

• President-elect: Richard Miller
• Second vice president: Manika 

Prasad
• Treasurer: Dan Ebrom
• Directors at large: Maria Angela 

Capello and David Lumley
• District 1: Connie VanSchuyver
• District 2: Tracy Stark
• District 3: Stuart Wright
• District 4: Debra Phillips
• District 5: Rachel Newrick
• District 6: Ana Curcio
• District 7: Anton Bogrash
• District 8: Sandra Tegtmeier-Last
• District 10: Tariq Alkhalifah
• District 11: Yonghyun Chung 

Passive Seismology
Ulrich Zimmer, vice chair

In 2018, the main activity of the 
Committee for Passive Seismology was 
generating a synthetic microseismic 
data set that can serve as a benchmark 
tool for new processing workflows. 
Currently, Stephen Wilson is leading the 
push of integrating these efforts into the 
SEAM project with significant support 
from Total, ExxonMobil, and Pioneer 
Natural Resources. 

In addition, the committee is 
continuing its effort to ensure that 
the Annual Meeting offers high-
quality presentations and workshops 
on topics regarding the full range 
of passive seismic technology (e.g., 
fracture mapping, induced seismicity, 
and interferometry). 

The year also saw a change in 
chairmanship passing from Stephen 
Wilson (Seismogenic) to Ulrich 
Zimmer (Shell) and an extension of the 
committee to include representation 
from Europe, Asia, and the Middle 
East. Focus for 2019 will be on the 
organization of a biannual workshop 
and the continuation of 2018 activities.

Publications 
Kris Innanen, chair

The Publications Committee is 
comprised of members of the boards 
of various SEG publications and 
committees as well as several at-large 
members. The 2018 roster:

• Kris Innanen (chair)
• Valentina Socco, Geophysics editor
•  Kurt Marfurt, Interpretation editor
• Mauricio Sacchi, Books Editorial 

Board chair
• Mosab Nasser, The Leading Edge 

Editorial Board chair

• Reinaldo Michelena, Translations 
Committee chair

• John Stockwell, Wiki Committee 
chair

• Sergey Fomel, vice president, 
publications (SEG Board of Directors) 
and SEG Board liaison

• Ted Bakamjian, SEG associate 
executive director, Knowledge 
Management (staff liaison)

• Jennifer Cobb, SEG director, journals 
and books (alternate staff liaison)

The committee began 2018 by 
discussing several important issues 
including switching Geophysics 
to a double-blind review system, 
requiring ORCID IDs from authors 
for all publications, open-access 
publications, and data policies. The 
following also occurred. 

• After being empowered by the 
SEG Board of Directors to establish 
a data policy for SEG journals, 
the committee approved a policy 
of requiring authors to include 
information about data availability 
in their papers and encouraging 
authors to post data underlying their 
work in data repositories.

• The committee voted in favor of 
two sets of procedures changes, 
approved by the SEG Board of 
Directors, that included changing 
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its name from Publications Policy to 
Publications and adding the chairs of 
the Reviews and Technical Program 
committees to the committee.

• The committee voted against the 
proposal to introduce a US$50 
submission fee for SEG abstracts. 
The hardships this was expected to 
introduce outweighed the beneficial 
increase in income.

•  The committee voted in favor of 
endorsing an SEG expenditure of 
US$150,000 to develop a content 
strategy and an applied-geophysics 
taxonomy and apply the results 
to the SEG Library and other SEG 
websites. (The SEG Board included 
this expense in the Society’s 2019 
budget.)

• The committee did not reach an 
agreement on a proposal to increase 
the open-access fee and will 
continue to discuss the merits of the 
proposal in 2019.

Positive and productive discussions 
continued throughout the year on issues 
pertaining to open access, new journals, 
and papers coming from funded 
research involving funding constraints 
on subscription models. The committee 
will continue to discuss and analyze 
imaginative approaches to supporting 
income for the publications arm of SEG.

Research 
Partha Routh, chair

The Research Committee currently 
includes 99 members from a variety 
of industry segments and academia 
including student members. 
Unfortunately, we lost two members in 
2018: Ali Mese and Mrinal Sengupta. 
We are very saddened by this news 
and send our heartfelt condolences to 
their family and friends. 

Due to travel restrictions and the 
downturn in oil and gas, committee 
attendance has been lower than 
expected. However, the committee 
meeting during the 2018 Annual 
Meeting was well attended. 

UPDATES AND DISCUSSIONS

•  Azra Tutuncu became chair of the 
Research Committee for the 2018–
2020 term. 

• Sergio Chavez-Perez was selected as 
vice chair for the committee. He will 
assume the position of chair in 2020. 

• Cengiz Esmersoy coordinated the 
2018 Annual Meeting Research 
Committee postconvention 
workshops.

• The 2019 Annual Meeting 
postconvention workshops will be 

coordinated by Technical Chair 
Dimitri Bevc. 

• Aria Abubaker with Schlumberger 
provided meeting space for the 2018 
winter meeting in Houston. 

• New volunteers joined the committee 
including Andrew Feltham, Anoop 
Mullur, Eileen Martin, Elita Li, Meixia 
Wang, Mita Sengupta, Kenton 
Prindle, and Ping Wang.

• Basecamp is now fully operational. 

•  A new SEG portfolio organization 
was announced. Volunteers are Azra 
Tutuncu (chair), Bob Brook (Board 
liaison), Bill Abriel (business advisor), 
Bill Barkhouse (portfolio manager), 
and Jenny Cole (staff liaison).

• A special session on data analytics 
titled “Recent advances and the 
road ahead” was well attended. 

• Two initiatives from SEAM were 
discussed. They focus on artificial 
intelligence and full-wavefield 
inversion. 

2018 SUMMER RESEARCH WORKSHOP

• Recent advances and applications in 
borehole geophysics

•  60 participants

•  Organizers: 

 º  Michel Verliac (chair), Aria 
Abubakar, Jim Gaiser, Azra 
Tutuncu, and Kurt Strack

• Objective:

 º  Share recent developments 
in borehole geophysics with 
the geophysical community. 
An applications and benefits 
demonstration was the 
focus. The event encouraged 
knowledge sharing and 
discussion.

2018 ANNUAL MEETING 
POSTCONVENTION WORKSHOPS 

A total of 22 workshops covering 
a variety of topics were organized, 
15 of which were sponsored by 
the Research Committee. A key 
learning was holding the first part of 
a workshop one day and the second 
part the following day instead of having 
full-day workshops. They included:

• Data analytics and machine learning 
for geoscience applications

•  New technologies to revolutionize 
resolution: Getting more out of  
the data

• Promises and challenges in least-
squares imaging

• The business value of multiple 
identification and removal — Status, 
challenges, and road ahead

• Cloud computing and deep learning 
in subsurface exploration

• Fit-for-purpose practical monitoring 
of producing reservoirs and CO2 
sequestration

• Cost-efficient acquisition in seismic

• Electromagnetic applications using 
metallic well casing

• Recent advances in remote sensing 
technologies for hydrocarbon 
exploration and environmental 
evaluation

•  Leveraging the value of SEAM 
models: What has been done and 
what is the future potential?

• Marine vibrator technology for 
seismic acquisition

• Frontier FWI: From academic 
research to cutting-edge industrial 
solutions

R E P O R T S  O F  C O M M I T T E E S



2018 Annual Report

38

SM

• Understanding unconventionals: 
Rock physics, geomechanics,  
and seismic

• DAS: Validating measurements, 
developing processing methods, 
and integrating to optimize velocity 
models for improving subsurface 
imaging

•  Frequency-dependent seismic 
analysis including processing and 
modeling and interpretation

Reviews 
Sven Treitel, chair

During 2017, we published 28 book 
reviews. In 2018, we managed to 
produce 30 reviews, of which six 
SEG books were reviewed by two 
reviewers. A number of individuals 
were added to our committee during 
2018, and total membership remains 
steady at around 40. 

Scientific publishers are increasingly 
offering e-books rather than 
conventional books for review. Some 
members of the committee don’t like to 
work with e-books, but my successor 
Amit Padhi is solving this problem.

A final word of warm thanks for their 
invaluable assistance in handling the 

affairs of this committee go to Stacy 
Baker and Callie Lee-Petricek.

Scholarships
Ron Kerr, chair

Since its inception in 1956, the SEG 
Scholarships program has been 
helping advance the field of applied 
geophysics by encouraging students 
who excel in geoscience. Gifts from 
SEG Members, their employers, 
corporate sponsors, SEG Sections and 
Associated Societies, and memorial 
funds given in honor of colleagues, 
friends, and family members provide 
substantial merit-based financial 
awards to deserving students. 
Approximately US$8.4 million in 
scholarship money has been awarded 
to date to the top geoscience students 
in the world. From freshmen just 
beginning their education to graduate 
students doing research to advance 
the field, SEG scholarship awardees 
are recipients of the most prestigious 
geoscience scholarship in the world. 

During 2018, the SEG Scholarships 
Committee managed the application 
process for the 2018–2019 academic 
year. The committee evaluated 447 
applications and granted 122 students 
scholarships, totaling US$519,766. 

During the evaluation process, each 
committee member ranked applicants 
for merit based on information 
provided in their applications. 
Individual rankings were compiled, 
and a composite forced ranking was 
created to determine the highest-
qualified applicants in each of six 
categories (freshman, undergraduate, 
and graduate, each divided into North 
American and international). 

The committee considered the specific 
selection criteria for each of the 
individual scholarships and carefully 
matched qualified applicants, in some 
cases with the assistance of advisory 
boards that provided feedback and 
recommendations on applicants. All 
scholarships are merit based, ensuring 
that the top geoscience students in the 
world are honored and awarded.

Scholarships Committee members 
also served as advisors to each of 
the 132 recipients, helping them learn 
more about career opportunities in 
geophysics and connecting them with 
valuable resources to enhance their 
education and prepare for their careers.

The 2018 Scholarships Committee 
included Ron Kerr (chair), Esther 
Babcock, Lorie Bear, Loralee Dickson, 
Camelia Knapp, Yong Ma, Karl 
Schleicher, and Kai Zhang.

SEG Bylaws 
Joseph Reilly, chair

During 2018, the Bylaws Committee 
consulted with the Board and various 
other committees on a number of 
items including rebuild, portfolio 
organization, enhancing emerging 
professional engagement, Council 
chair nominations, Associate Member 
voting rights, and membership 
credentialing forms. Subsequently, 
formal reviews were requested by the 
Board of proposals regarding the last 
four items. This eventually resulted in 
motions to the Council on Associate 
Member voting rights, Council chair 
nominations, and membership 
credentialing forms. 

The changes required to 
accommodate Associate Member 
voting rights were particularly 
challenging due to the number of 
references to “Active Member” in the 
Bylaws and Procedures Manual, which 
required review and revision. Proposals 
for Council chair nominations and 
the Associate Member voting rights 
revision were subsequently approved 
by the Council. 

During the course of the year’s business, 
it became apparent that the process 
of when the Board formally engages 
the Bylaws Committee has become 
somewhat inconsistent. For 2019 

objectives, members of the Bylaws 
Committee would like to ensure that due 
process is followed, as clearly defined in 
the Bylaws and Procedures Manual.

SEG Oil and Gas Reserves
Eric von Lunen, chair

The SEG Oil and Gas Reserves 
Committee (OGCR) continued its 
activity with sister societies such as 
the American Association of Petroleum 
Geologists, the Society of Petroleum 
Engineers (SPE), and the Society of 
Petroleum Evaluation Engineers (SPEE). 

SPE and SPEE are influential in 
agenda and direction of activity. 
SEG maintains a liaison relationship 
with these committee members to 
emphasize reliability, accuracy, and 
propose applications of geophysical 
technology. Secondarily, the SEG 
liaison follows closely with discussion 
by various committee members on 
the interpretation of the Petroleum 
Resource Management System 
(PRMS), which was updated 
significantly in 2017.

There was no formal annual meeting of 
the committee this past year, as many 
interested participants were not able 
to attend. An effort was maintained 
to inform key staff and executive 
members of SEG.
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In 2018, OGRC members focused their 
attention on several issues:

1)  They supported the reliable 
technology concepts of applied 
resource valuation as described in 
PRMS 2017.

a)  It has become apparent that 
geophysical technology will influence 
contingent resource volumes and 
probable reserve volumes.

2)  In 2017, the PRMS Subcommittee 
established a group to describe and 
search for instructive examples to 
support PRMS interpretation and 
application.

3)  In October 2018, the current status 
was reviewed and discussed at the 
annual SPEE evaluation technical 
seminar. 

In December 2018, committee 
members contacted Andrew 
Royle who serves as the chair of 
the Development and Production 
Committee. An integrated committee 
workshop for the 2019 Annual Meeting 
is being planned.

SEG–EAGE Collaboration 
Brian Russell, cochair

The SEG–EAGE Collaboration 
Committee was created in 2017 to help 
further cooperative efforts between 
SEG and EAGE. Meetings were held at 
both EAGE and SEG annual meetings, 
building opportunities on how to further 
cooperation between the two societies 
in all of the international workshops. 

Possible collaboration that our 
committee will be exploring are 
activities where both societies would 
benefit by reducing risk. Other possible 
collaboration areas are increased 
cooperation between women in 
geoscience networks and in online 
education initiatives. 

Input is welcome from members of 
both societies on any initiatives they 
feel would be of benefit to their career 
aspirations. SEG support was provided 
by Board Liaison John Bradford and 
Staff Liaison Laurie Whitesell.

Committee members included Brian 
Russell (SEG cochair), Chris Ward 
(EAGE cochair), Alexandra La Rocca, 
John Bradford, Gladys Gonzalez, 
Dorsey Morrow, and Marcel van Loon.

SEG–NGWA Collaboration 
John Lane, cochair

The SEG–NGWA Collaboration 
Committee (SNCC) was established as 
part of the SEG–NGWA affiliation MOU 
signed 23 May 2016. In the MOU, the 
National Groundwater Association  
was “charged with considering and 
making recommendations to the 
respective organizations regarding  
areas of cooperation, such as joint 
workshops or programs and continuing-
education courses.”

NGWA and SEG provide 
complementary support for 
geophysical sciences, with SEG 
focusing on methodology development 
in applied geophysics and NGWA 
primarily supporting geophysics 
as applied to hydrologic scientific 
questions. SNCC identified the 
following areas of overlap between 
the two communities: water resource 
management, ground and surface 
water measuring and monitoring, and 
remediation of water resources.

SNCC meets four times a year, of which 
two meetings are in person at the major 
annual meetings of each organization.

2018 COMMITTEE MEMBERS

• John Lane (USGS) (SEG cochair)
• Bill Ally (NGWA) (NGWA cochair)

• John Jansen (Collier Consulting)
• John Sciacca (AECOM)
•  Jonathan Ajo-Franklin (Lawrence 

Berkeley National Laboratory)
• Kristina Keating (Rutgers University)
• Gordon Osterman (Aarhus 

University)
• Stephen Moysey (East Carolina 

University)
• Niels Grobbe (University of Hawaii at 

Manoa)
•  John Bradford (Colorado School of 

Mines)
• Kathy Butcher (NGWA)

SEG support was provided by SEG 
Board Liaison and Past President 
John Bradford and Staff Liaison 
Laurie Whitesell.

SEG and NGWA agreed to sponsor 
joint technical sessions, and the 
organizations are open to the 
development of joint meetings. 

SEG–SPE Collaboration 
Jamie Rector, cochair

The SEG–SPE Collaboration 
Committee’s work has fostered a 
series of workshops on injection-
induced seismicity. Per agreement, the 
societies take turns being the primary 
operator. The initial SPE-operated 
workshop occurred September 2012 

in Broomfield, Colorado. The second 
and third workshops in the series 
occurred in Banff, Alberta, Canada 
(2014) and Fort Worth, Texas (2016). 
All workshops, including the fourth 
and latest SEG-operated workshop 
(Dallas, Texas, November 2017) have 
essentially been sellouts and, with tight 
budgetary control, profitable for both 
SEG and SPE. The fifth SPE-operated 
workshop in the series is planned for 
November 2019. 

Technical content in the workshop 
series has mirrored evolving technical 
understanding. The inaugural 
workshop in Broomfield can best 
be summarized as a starting point, 
targeting industry education and 
awareness of the issue of induced 
seismicity. The second workshop in 
Banff showcased, with expanding 
examples of induced seismicity, 
the establishment of reactionary 
operational protocols tailored to local 
conditions. The third workshop in Fort 
Worth was timed with the release 
of the USGS one-year hazard map, 
updated to include induced seismicity 
for the first time. The workshop 
identified the need for proactive 
mitigation strategies including improved 
predictive modeling capabilities. 

The most recent workshop in 2017 
drew 121 participants, by far the 
majority being from the United States 

R E P O R T S  O F  C O M M I T T E E S



2018 Annual Report

40

SM

and Canada, but there were also 
participants from Japan and Korea. Of 
the participants, nearly half were from 
Texas with another sizeable contingent 
being from Oklahoma. Themes 
covered within the workshop included 
geomechanics and fracture mechanics; 
reservoir-engineering perspectives; 
ground motion and seismic hazard; 
integrated case studies of injection-
induced seismicity from disposal; 
hydraulic fracturing; geothermal; 
regulatory and operational protocols; 
risk assessment, management, and 
mitigation; stakeholder engagement, 
communication, and public education; 
and the intersection of evolving science, 
regulations, and existing tort systems. 
The workshop concluded with a panel 
discussion about public outreach. 

A look back at the workshop series 
brings into focus the key enabling 
concepts for the rapid progress 
that has occurred — collaboration, 
integration, communication, 
transparency, and trust. 

Strategy and Planning 
Robert R. Stewart, chair

SEG, with its diligent staff, remarkable 
volunteers, and avid membership, 
runs very well. The Annual Meeting, 
The Leading Edge, Geophysics, 
SmartBrief, and other materials and 

courses arrive with practiced regularity. 
However, with a constantly changing 
environment and the demands to 
make our Society more efficient and 
effective, Bill Abriel and other Board 
members led the charge to reorganize 
SEG into an activity- or portfolio-based 
structure. The portfolios, which are 
composed of like-directed committees 
and operations, are now producing 
their own business plans and reports. 

The Strategy and Planning Committee 
(SPC) was created in late 2017 to 
evaluate and assist the portfolios 
with their plans and progress. 
The committee is chaired by the 
current president-elect and includes 
appointed members and the SEG 
executive director. 

SPC is charged with helping to 
create and periodically update the 
design of a streamlined business 
organization along the portfolios so 
staff can increase their effectiveness 
and capability and SEG volunteers 
can be more engaged in assisting the 
organization with the following.

• Moving forward 

• Delivering business-related plans 
and recommendations in close 
coordination with SEG business 
units, the Finance Committee, 

executive staff, and the Board of 
Directors 

• Working with SEG business units, 
the Finance Committee, and 
executive staff to develop and 
recommend an annual SEG program 
and budget 

In addition, SPC is intended to bring 
large-scale views and ideas about the 
geophysics world into SEG focus for 
the Board’s consideration.

The committee was especially 
fortunate to be able to enroll a 
number of wonderfully successful 
geophysicists to provide advice and 
guidance to the SEG Board for the 
benefit of our members. Longtime 
SEG leaders and industry lighthouses 
Peter Duncan, Tom Smith, Lee 
Bell, and Allen Gilmer have ably 
volunteered their time and effort. 

Throughout 2018, the committee 
and Board had the opportunity to 
constitute and refine its charge. The 
first salvo of portfolio business plans 
started arriving in the middle of 2018. 
Pertinent reviews of the portfolio 
plans have helped guide the staff and 
Board’s development and approval of 
the 2019 budget.

We continue to polish the SPC 
process with its linkage into the flow 

of operations and directions of the 
Society. We look forward to further 
effectiveness of SEG’s planning 
for the near and far future with the 
committee’s activity and wisdom.

Technical Standards
Victor Ancira, chair

The Technical Standards Committee 
serves as a forum for discussion of 
geophysical developments for which 
standards need to be defined. When 
standardization problems of sufficient 
magnitude to warrant action by 
SEG are identified, an appropriate 
subcommittee is appointed to 
develop a standard and make a 
recommendation to the SEG Board of 
Directors concerning its adoption.

Victor Ancira, Troika International, 
served as the chair and will continue to 
serve as chair for the 2018–2019 term. 
Shawn New, BHP, served as vice chair 
and will continue to serve as vice chair 
for the 2018–2019 term. Jill Lewis is 
past chair.

Under the committee’s guidance, SEG 
released SEG-Y_r2.0 in January 2018. 
Companies are looking at taking up the 
standard — generating and requesting 
data in the format. The committee plans 
to make minor tweaks in 2019 such as 
to add the data type (2D, 3D, poststack, 

prestack, field, etc.). Geophysicists 
using microseismic and passive-
seismic methods will be contacted to 
see if this update is sufficient for their 
requirements. Many still are using SEG-
2, an outmoded standard.

The major challenge for the committee 
is to continue to gain industry adoption 
of SEG standards. As a committee, 
we have been contacting the major 
vendors to ensure they are both  
aware of new standards and are 
moving toward adoption. We state 
that if you already have revision 1, then 
an update to revision 2 usually does 
not require too much effort, obviously 
depending on the implementation and 
discipline involved.

One method of promoting adoption will 
be to put together reference examples 
and place them in an appropriate 
location online, probably the SEG Wiki. 
Another method under consideration 
is online recognition of companies that 
adopt SEG-Y_r2.0.

The committee also expects to 
 issue minor updates to SEG-D_
r3.0, having received requests to 
support more traces and update 
manufacturer’s codes.

The committee aims to continue 
strengthening its working relationships 
with Energistics (especially with 
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respect to RESQML) and the 
International Association of Oil and 
Gas Producers (IOGP) (positioning 
standards). IOGP has agreed to 
examine whether it would be wise to 
make the Shell Processing Support 
Format (SEG SPS) an extension of the 
P1/P11 standard.

A group has been formed to look at 
blockchain for seismic data. This group 
includes operators only and is led by 
Augustin Diz from Repsol. Blockchain 
may make sense to track ownership 
and contracts. Putting logs and 
positioning data into the blockchain 
has been suggested, but committee 
members don’t think these data 
belong in blockchain.

SEG standards are available online.

The Leading Edge Editorial 
Board
Mosab Nasser, chair

The Leading Edge (TLE) Editorial Board 
members for the 2017–2018 term were 
Mosab Nasser (chair), Doug Foster, 
Yongyi Li, Baishali Roy, Steve Sloan, 
Kyle Spikes, and Ulrich Zimmer. Two of 
those members — Foster and Nasser 
— completed terms of service during 
the 2018 Annual Meeting, and were 
replaced by two incoming members — 
Margarita Corzo and Michael Kemper. 

Roy took over the role of chair for 2018–
2019 at the conclusion of the Annual 
Meeting.

In early 2018, the TLE Editorial Board 
voted to apply to Clarivate Analytics 
for recognition of TLE in the Science 
Citation Index Expanded with the aim of 
making the publication a more attractive 
publication channel for more authors. 
As of year-end 2018, Clarivate Analytics 
had yet to report on the results of its 
evaluation of TLE, but this was not 
unexpected as the evaluation process is 
known to take quite some time.

In calendar year 2018, 83 technical 
articles were published in TLE with 47 
of those being assigned to specific 
special sections and the other 36 
appearing as “standalone” technical 
papers. Additionally, five open-access 
Geophysical Tutorials were published 
as well as numerous nontechnical 
articles related to Society events and 
activities. A new department titled 
Near-Surface Views and News was 
established in 2018 with the intention 
that it would be published on a 
quarterly basis going forward.

SPECIAL SECTION TOPICS COVERED 
IN CALENDAR YEAR 2018

• January: Advancements in 3D 
seismic processing

• February: Induced seismicity

• March: The Permian Basin

• April: Latin America

• May: Geomechanics

• June: Advancements in image 
processing

• July: Spotlight on the Mediterranean

• September: Cross-disciplinary 
applications of geophysics

• October: Infrastructure assessment

The August, November, and December 
2018 issues of TLE did not feature 
special sections and were instead open 
to general submissions. This effectively 
eliminated the backlog of standalone 
technical articles that had been growing 
for quite some time and should result in 
more timely publication of non-special 
section articles going forward.

The 2017 TLE Best Paper Award was 
presented to authors Charles Mosher, 
Chengbo Li, Frank Janiszewski, 
Laurence Williams, Tiffany Carey, 
and Yongchang Ji for their article 
titled “Operational deployment of 
compressive sensing systems for 
seismic data acquisition.” 

Additionally, three Honorable Mentions 
were awarded to the following 
manuscripts: 

• “Impact of high-resolution FWI in 
the Western Black Sea: Revealing 
overburden and reservoir 
complexity” by Partha Routh, 
Ramesh Neelamani, Rongrong 
Lu, Spyros Lazaratos, Hendrik 
Braaksma, Steve Hughes, Rebecca 
Saltzer, Jonathan Stewart, Kiran 
Naidu, Heather Averill, Vijay 
Gottumukkula, Peter Homonko, 
Joseph Reilly, and Damian Leslie 

• “Hydraulic-fracture geometry 
characterization using low-frequency 
DAS signal” by Ge Jin and Baishali 
Roy 

•  “4D DAS VSP as a tool for frequent 
seismic monitoring in deep water” 
by Albena Mateeva, Jorge Lopez, 
David Chalenski, Maria Tatanova, 
Paul Zwartjes, Zhaohui Yang, Sudhish 
Bakku, Koos de Vos, and  
Hans Potters

Translations 
Raul Cova, chair

The main activity of the Translations 
Committee during 2017–2018 was 
the translation of Robert Sheriff’s 
Encyclopedic Dictionary of Applied 

Geophysics (fourth edition) into 
Spanish. Other teams started the 
translation into Mandarin, but not much 
progress was made. 

The Spanish translation project 
consists of six teams of professionals 
and students based in eight countries 
who translate the words assigned by 
the team leader. Team leaders meet 
every two weeks (with the help of 
SEG staff) to discuss progress and 
address specific issues related to 
the translations. The main challenge 
of the project has been to keep the 
pace of the translations because the 
dedication of most translators seems 
to diminish over time. Even though 
new volunteers are being recruited 
on a regular basis, other productive 
translators have left the project, 
and the overall effect has been a 
substantial slowdown in progress.

Progress as of 1 January 2019:

•  6137 (91%) of words translated (out 
of 6743) 

• 68 contributors 

•  44,157 total edits 

• 20% of figures and tables translated 

The graph shows the progress since 
the beginning of the project.
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At the current pace, we expect to 
have a version of the dictionary that 
is ready for print by the end of 2019. 
Even though the translations are 
reviewed by team leaders as they are 
completed, the committee designed a 
strategy to complete a second review 
of the entire translation to ensure 
consistency and proper referencing of 
figures and tables.

For more details about the volunteers 
who have participated in this project, 
refer to “Honoring volunteers and 
sharing knowledge on the SEG Wiki” by 
Andrew Geary published in the January 
2019 issue of The Leading Edge.

A related goal of the committee in this 
period was to demonstrate that the 
translation of books can be completed 
by using a similar collective approach 

instead of relying on a single translator. 
By promoting this kind of teamwork, 
we believe the committee can serve 
members who speak languages other 
than English without abandoning its 
traditional role of translating books 
written in other languages to English. 

Travel Grants 
Kyle Spikes, chair

SEG Members from industry and 
academia compose the SEG Travel 
Grants Committee. The primary 
work of the committee centers on 
evaluating applications from students 
who wish to participate in SEG-
sponsored student programs and, to 
a lesser extent, who seek funding for 
research. In 2018, students applied to 
participate in programs including the 
SEG/ExxonMobil Student Education 
Program and the SEG/Chevron 
Student Leadership Symposium, 
both conducted at the SEG Annual 
Meeting. Applications for travel grants 
and assistance were evaluated for 
the SEG Technical Program Travel 
Grant. Applications for the SEG 
Near-Surface Research Award were 
evaluated as well.

In 2018, the Travel Grants Committee 
was divided into two evaluation groups 
who together evaluated applications for 

four programs. The programs, number 
of applicants, and recipients selected:

• SEG/ExxonMobil Student Education 
Program in Anaheim: 30 recipients 
were selected from 122 applicants

• SEG/Chevron Student Leadership 
Symposium: 50 recipients were 
selected from 95 applicants

• Technical Program Travel Grant: 10 
recipients were selected from 61 
applicants

• Near-Surface Research Award: one 
recipient was selected from  
15 applicants

The committee members were Kyle 
Spikes (chair), Andrew Munoz, Anna 
Lim, Blaine Bockholt, Brian Miller, 
Chandra Dubey, Chelsea Squires, 
Emma Butler, Francesca Fazzari, Martin 
Correa, Payson Todd, Seth Haines, Tim 
Maciejewski, Titus Emmanual, Tyler 
Schwenk, and Zhiguo Wang.

OBJECTIVES

• Refine application questions to 
encourage personal-development 
descriptions and, separately, 
development in geophysical activities

•  Provide to the committee additional 
information for each application 

to assist in statistical analysis of 
standard metrics in the applicant 
pool

• Adjust the evaluation schedule 
to allow for greater attention to 
evaluations by reducing the last-
minute scramble to evaluate

•  Further increase communication with 
the committee before applications 
are released, such as by holding 
conference calls, to help increase 
participation and improve the quality of 
evaluations from committee members

Wiki
John Stockwell, chair

As of 31 December 2018, 6137 
entries, or 91%, of Robert Sheriff’s 
Encyclopedic Dictionary of Applied 
Geophysics, have been translated 
into Spanish by 68 volunteers 
using the SEG Wiki. The Spanish 
translation project volunteers 
collectively made 44,157 edits to the 
wiki. Discussions are ongoing about 
creating a physical book for the  
SEG community.

Two other translation projects are 
under way for the dictionary. Alfred 
Liaw, Jianxiong Chen, the Chinese 
American Petroleum Association, 
and several volunteers have started 

work on translating the dictionary into 
Mandarin. As of 7 October 2018, 3507 
entries had been translated in their 
entirety by 37 volunteers. More than 
50% of this translation is complete. 
An Arabic translation also has started, 
led by Abdullatif Al-Shuhail and 
Mohammed Aqel.

In addition, volunteers added 
biographies of past SEG award 
winners and SEG presidents to the 
wiki. Moving forward, volunteers will 
make updates to reflect new award 
winners and SEG presidents. We 
encourage edits and additions of new 
biographies of geophysicists.

Hundreds of volunteers have played a 
part in writing 117,305 changes to the 
wiki and counting. In 2018, classroom 
partnerships with the University 
of Houston and the University of 
Oklahoma resulted in the contribution 
of dozens of new articles. In fact, a 
student from the University of Houston 
contributed the wiki’s 100,000th 
lifetime edit in March.

The 2018 SEG Wiki Champion, 
Heather Bedle of the University of 
Oklahoma, was selected from this class 
partnership. Bedle said, “I got involved 
because I was looking for a way to 
volunteer within SEG. Plus, working 
on expanding the wiki is important to 
me as an educator. I am glad to be 
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part of such a tremendous effort in the 
geophysics community. As long as 
there are topics to write about, I plan on 
letting my students continue creating 
new wiki pages for years to come.” 

The SEG Wiki also received a new 
sustaining sponsor this year, In-Depth 
Geophysical, led by Joe Meng. 
The wiki’s sustaining investors are 
Apache (founding sponsor), Shell, IHS 
Markit, and In-Depth Geophysical. 
We appreciate these companies’ 
commitment to knowledge sharing 
through the SEG Wiki.

Volunteers will continue to play a key 
role in 2019. New Wiki Committee 
Chair Karl Schleicher will lead the wiki 
to new areas, such as growing the 
class partnerships and partnering with 
the Geophysical Society of Houston to 
bring its geoscience museum to the 
public through the wiki. 

Women’s Network
Maria Angela Capello, chair

The SEG Women’s Network 
Committee (WNC) was created in 2011 
to raise awareness and find solutions 
for the challenges women encounter in 
applied geophysics. 

STRATEGIES

•  Empower women’s participation and 
leadership in applied geophysics 
worldwide

• Enhance opportunities for 
participation, representation, 
self empowerment, leadership, 
networking, technical offerings, and 
sharing of best practices for women 
in SEG, connected societies, and 
the profession 

• Create a community for mutual 
support among female SEG Members

• Elevate awareness of the value of a 
diverse workforce in the profession 
and implement solutions for 
women’s challenges in geophysics

OBJECTIVES

• Promote SEG Membership among 
women globally by creating 
beneficial activities that increase 
awareness of diversity issues and a 
sense of community

 º Create opportunities for women’s 
networking in all regions of SEG 
following an incremental approach

 º  Provide self-empowerment 
and self-training opportunities 

in technical and soft skills via 
webinars and other means

 º Maintain a sustained effort in 
nominating women for SEG 
governance roles, participation in 
committees and programs, and in 
awards and recognitions

• Enhance the effectiveness of 
WNC activities by enhancing 
communication and by working with 
WNC key stakeholders in other SEG 
committees, programs, and activities

• Mentor students and early-career 
professionals

• Maintain updated visibility on 
women’s challenges in geophysics 
by identifying changing opportunities 
and needs by communicating 
these challenges in a constructive 
and grounded way that is aimed to 
identify and implement solutions 

• Expand outreach to members to 
raise collective awareness on gender 
diversity and inclusion

 º  Publish a series of articles in the 
Full Spectrum column in The 
Leading Edge (TLE)

 º Advertise WNC on the SEG 
website and in other society’s 
publications

 º Create and maintain a strong, 
informative, and inspirational 
presence of WNC on social media

 º Establish and enrich SEG 
resources on diversity in the SEG 
Wiki and by hosting SEG webinars 
to widely share women role 
models in geophysics as well as 
gender-diversity statistics, issues, 
solutions, trends, and inclusion-
related articles

•  Enrich the Annual Meeting program 
with specific activities created to 
raise awareness about diversity 
and inclusion in geophysics and the 
empowerment of women, specifically 
focusing on young professional and 
student segments of SEG

WNC has made significant 
contributions toward increasing the 
effective participation of women in SEG 
by boosting the nomination of women 
for SEG governance roles and awards 
over the last eight years. 

WNC also has been instrumental in 
raising the collective awareness of 
women’s challenges and contributions 
to geophysics through a series of 

communicative, informative, and 
educational strategies such as the Full 
Spectrum column in TLE, presence 
on social media (LinkedIn, Facebook, 
Twitter, and Instagram), workshops, 
courses, and networking events. 

Additionally, WNC has conducted 
several surveys to gather demographic 
and experiential information on 
the current state of diversity within 
SEG Membership, aiming to raise 
awareness about the challenges that 
women experience in geophysics. 

WNC IN 2017–2018

The committee made significant 
advances.

• WNC took the lead in formulating 
GROWTH — a portfolio proposal 
that clusters SEG actions related 
to leadership, diversity, and talent, 
aligning the activities of WNC, EPIC, 
and students. It was comprised of a 
presentation package supported by 
a report and a preliminary budget 
plan. The GROWTH proposal was 
presented to the SEG Board of 
Directors in October 2018, receiving 
full endorsement and a mandate to 
be further detailed and streamlined 
for its implementation.
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• WNC envisioned, organized, and 
launched its first-ever special 
session at the 2018 Annual 
Meeting titled “Geophysicists in the 
workforce.” The session included 
eight speakers.

• The Career Workout course, aimed 
to boost strategies to prepare a 
solid LinkedIn presence, enhance 
professional branding, and prepare 
a career strategy, was hosted in 
conjunction with Lincoln Leadership 
and held during the 2018 Annual 
Meeting. 

• WNC expanded to five regions (Asia, 
Middle East, Europe, Latin America, 
and Africa). Student chapter 
presidents were invited to participate 
in the committee and to lead the 
expansion of WNC in their respective 
areas of influence. 

• Activities with connected societies 
were a focus this year. A mid-year 
Career Toolkit workshop was held 
in conjunction with the Geophysical 
Society of Houston, garnering 65 
attendees. 

• The SEG Board endorsed the 
American Geosciences Institute 
antiharassment statement at the 
petition of WNC.

•  A monthly TLE publication schedule 
was established through early 2019. 
Three articles have been proposed. 

• WNC sponsored SEG student 
memberships for 13 young women 
from the student chapter in 
Botswana.

• WNC sponsored 10 students to 
attend the annual networking event 
held at the SEG Annual Meeting.

• Letters were sent to all SEG 
committee chairs encouraging 
them to include more women 
representatives.

• WNC petitioned the Board to have 
a training session on unconscious 
bias. The petition was approved and 
the training took place at the April 
2018 meeting.

• WNC celebrated International 
Women’s Day by sponsoring a 
contest for SEG Members to win 
a free book of their choice on 
leadership and resilience. Three 
winners were chosen. 

• A series sharing profiles of “Women 
of SEG” was established in TLE.

• Manika Prasad and Maria Angela 
Capello were elected to the SEG 
Board.

• WNC membership expanded by 40%.

• A WNC succession plan, including 
nomination and election procedures, 
was established. The aim is to 
ensure sustainability, continuity, and 
renewal of leadership. 

• The 8th Annual Women’s 
Networking Event was held at the 
2018 Annual Meeting. Christina 
Sistrunk, the first woman CEO of a 
U.S. oil company (Aera Energy), was 
the featured speaker. 

• Mentoring365 was held during the 
2018 Annual Meeting in collaboration 
with the American Geophysical 
Union and the Association for 
Women Geoscientists for students 
and emerging professionals. WNC 
provided several mentors for this 
activity and contributed to the 
advertising.

• Nominations of women for SEG 
Honors and Awards was advanced, 
resulting in the selection of Maria 
Angela Capello for the Special 
Commendation Award, Christine 
Krohn and Maria Angela Capello 
as Honorary Lecturers 2018, and 
Hendratta Ali and Kristina Keating 
as recipients of the 2018 SEG 
Outstanding Educator Award. The 
2017 Best Paper in Geophysics 
was “Exploiting surface consistency 

for surface-wave characterization 
and mitigation — Part 1: Theory 
and 2D examples” and “Part 2: 
Application to 3D data,” by Christine 
E. Krohn and Partha S. Routh.

PLANS FOR 2018–2019

• Lead and support the implementation 
of the professional-development 
portfolio, GROWTH, in conjunction 
with EPIC and student chapters

• Continue efforts to globalize 
WNC with regional committees, 
initiatives, and activities led by young 
professionals and student women 
SEG Members

• Increase the frequency of 
publications of the TLE Full 
Spectrum column

• Augment joint activities with 
connected societies and 
organizations that work toward 
women empowerment

• Expand dedicated mentoring of 
students for WNC global growth

2017–2018 COMMITTEE LEADERSHIP

• Maria Angela Capello, chair
• Maitri Erwin, interim vice chair

• Blair Schneider, WNC lead
• Ellie Ardakani, WNC lead

ADVISORY COUNCIL

• Eve Sprunt 
• Nancy House
•  Maria Angela Capello
• Maitri Erwin
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Professional Development 
Portfolio Alignment Project
Steve Hill, chair

In March 2018, the SEG Board of 
Directors created the Professional 
Development Portfolio Alignment 
Project Task Force. According to its 
founding document, the goal of the 
task force is to design and summarize a 
proposed future SEG learning portfolio 
that aligns job task analysis proficiencies 
of a designated petroleum geophysicist 
with SEG’s Competency Assessment.

The task force members were Steve 
Hill (chair), Malcolm Lansley, Chen 
Jiaxiong, Dean Mento, Wedyan Ayyad, 
Brandy Hawkins, Bill Harbert, Jennifer 
Thompson, and Johannes Douma. 
SEG staff liaisons were Tom Agnew, 
Marilyn Brown, and Ted Bakamjian.

The task force met weekly (via 
teleconference) until the 2018 Annual 
Meeting. The task force disbanded 
after providing its final report (oral 
and written) to the Board at a 
meeting immediately preceding the 
Annual Meeting. 

The following contains 
recommendations as duplicated 
from the final report. The selection 
included here has been slightly edited 
to maintain relevance to the Annual 

Report. A copy of the full report may 
be obtained by contacting SEG staff.

TOPICS

We recommend the Society add to its 
list of offerings following the prioritized 
list in the founding document. We 
do not suggest that these additions 
follow the delivery mechanism of the 
current Society continuing-education 
courses but include a video component 
that enables worldwide participation 
by our target audience. We now 
remark on the general trends in these 
recommendations.

Communications is at the top of 
our prioritized list. This includes oral 
and written communications. An 
argument against this high ranking is 
the paltry participation in the Society’s 
Annual Meeting continuing-education 
technical writing course. One of us 
communicated with one company 
which had sponsored an in-house 
version of this same course, and that 
company was quite satisfied with 
course content and relevance. It simply 
appears that this topic fares poorly 
against technical topics despite its high 
value. Our team does not question the 
value of improving communication skills 
through education. From data of only 
a single example, this team reserves 
enthusiasm for our expectation of the 
popularity of such an offering.

Thinking beyond formal education 
opportunities, we remind the reader 
that through SEG volunteer activities, 
geophysicists are exposed to the 
opportunity to develop a range of soft 
skills. This volunteer work is consistent 
with our preferred, earlier-mentioned 
“on the job” learning method. 
Volunteering could be a theme for 
future Society advertising and would 
also serve the Society’s aim of bringing 
the next generation onboard.

The next significant clustering of 
topics includes those required for 
hydrocarbon interpretation. While the 
founding document reflects knowledge 
gaps in the current continuing-
education program, we also suggest 
closing the “workflow” gap in the 
interpretation arena. For interpreters, 
knowing how to apply the specialized 
knowledge is also critical for their 
success. (In addition to knowledge, 
the JTA report also includes workflow 
analysis.) Continuing with our 
“workflow” theme, even though not 
revealed by our gap analysis, we do 
recommend the addition of an offering 
instructing interpreters in a seismic 
processing QC workflow, an adjunct to 
the seismic processing workflow.

MECHANISM FOR OFFERINGS 

When faced with a multitude 
of combinations, we divided 

given learning methods into five 
components: (1) audience, (2) creator, 
(3) format, (4) transmission, and  
(5) participant feedback. The following 
elaborates on our suggestions for 
each of these mechanisms. 

• Audience: Geophysical interpreters 
with two to 10 years of experience.

•  Technical-skills provider: As noted 
earlier, the prioritized list of topics 
progresses from areas of SEG 
expertise to those more peripheral 
to SEG’s expertise. Thus, our 
suggested creators for the offerings 
transition from fellow SEG Members 
to commercial providers, depending 
on the topic’s affinity to SEG 
expertise and availability of SEG 
Member resources. There may be 
offerings by our fellow societies that 
are also relevant. For commercial 
providers, we are impressed by 
IHRDC’s offerings which satisfy 
many of the following requirements.

•  Technical-knowledge format: Lecture 
format as a standalone contribution 
or enhanced within single-topic, 
multiple-instructor education days. 

•  Technical-knowledge transmission: 
We prefer in-person lecture format. 
However, that format is greatly 
restrictive (time and space) for our 
target audience. Thus, the in-person 

element should be augmented by 
an online accessible video, either in 
real-time, or after-the-fact access. 
For remote learning, supplementary 
online reference reading material is 
also a plus. 

•  Technical-knowledge participant 
feedback: We endorse the 
participant-optional online self 
tests, such as those the Society 
provides with our current continuing-
education course offerings. To 
enhance the experience for remote 
participants, we endorse an online 
real-time community and/or online 
personal mentoring (via e-mail), both 
centered around specific offerings. 
Senior SEG Members who wish to 
contribute to the success of the next 
generation may serve as a primary 
source for this engagement.

• Soft-skills creator: Except for the 
availability of an SEG Member who 
can address the communications 
topic, we suggest commercial 
sources.

• Soft-skills format: Lecture.

• Soft-skills transmission: Combination 
of in-person classroom (for those 
who can attend) and real-time or 
delayed Internet video.
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• Soft-skills participant feedback: 
Online real-time community and 
personal mentoring (via e-mail).

NEXT-STEP OWNERSHIP

The SEG Continuing Education 
Committee wishes to take ownership 
of expanding the Society’s continuing-
education technical program following 
our earlier recommendations. 

We will not second guess those who 
created the SEG Content Management 
System program, but instead ask 
that those individuals consider the 
advisability of broadening that program 
to include geophysical technical 
knowledge elements required for 
unconventionals.

With the disappointing response to the 
Society’s continuing-education technical 
writing offering, we are cautious in 
advising how to proceed other than to 
advertise SEG’s volunteer opportunities 
to enhance one’s soft skills. 

With its wide variety of offerings, we 
suggest the SEG staff consider an 
advertising campaign centered on the 
Society as a knowledge source.



 
REPORTS OF REPRESENTATIVES “URTeC 2018 attendance was the highest ever at 

more than 6400 — possibly due to a combination 
of strong unconventional activity and the Houston 
location.” 

— Frank Brown, representative 
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GeoScienceWorld
Ted Bakamjian, representative

GeoScienceWorld (GSW) is 
a nonprofit collaborative and 
comprehensive Internet resource for 
research and communications in the 
earth sciences that is built on a core 
database of peer-reviewed journals 
and is integrated with the GeoRef 
index. SEG is one of GSW’s seven 
founding organizations, along with the 
American Association of Petroleum 
Geologists (AAPG), the Geological 
Society of America (GSA), the 
Geological Society of London (GSL), 
the American Geosciences Institute 
(AGI), the Mineralogical Society of 
America (MSA), and the Society for 
Sedimentary Geology (SEPM). 

The journals aggregation launched 
in February 2005 and today includes 
46 journals from 28 publishers. SEG 
has three journals available through 
GSW: Geophysics, The Leading Edge 
(TLE), and Interpretation (copublished 
with AAPG). SEG also is one of 11 
publishers participating in GSW 
eBooks, which launched in 2014 
and includes more than 1200 titles, 
including more than 100 from SEG. 
SEG added approximately 30 books 
from its Investigations in Geophysics 
and Geophysical Developments series 
to GSW eBooks for 2018. 

GSW is supported by institutional 
journal and book subscriptions and 
perpetual-access sales of books to 
institutions. Institutions subscribing 
to the journals are required to 
purchase access to the entire journals 
aggregation. Compensation to the 
publishers is based on a combination 
of the amount of content the publisher 
contributes and how much it is used. 
By participating in GSW, SEG extends 
the usage of its publications beyond 
the SEG Library while also earning 
royalties. Approximately one-third 
of usage of Geophysics, TLE, and 
Interpretation occurs through GSW, 
with nearly all of the rest enabled by 
the SEG Library.

Journals payout to SEG for its 
participation in GSW was US$390,901 
for 2017. GSW eBooks royalties for the 
reporting period that ended in June 
2017 were US$31,086.34.

GSW spent much of 2018 developing 
a framework for launching a new 
business line — a multisociety open-
access journal that would be compliant 
with Plan S, the mandate initiated by 
research funding agencies from 13 
European Union government agencies. 
The mandate requires that reports of 
research financed by the cOAlition S 
agencies and other organizations that 
have signed on to Plan S be published 
only in fully open-access journals. 

SEG’s journals are hybrid open-access 
journals, meaning that authors can 
pay a fee to make their articles free 
under an open license. SEG will face a 
decision in 2019 whether to participate 
in the GSW open-access journal 
and/or try to respond to the Plan S 
mandate in another way.

International Association of Oil 
and Gas Producers
Victor Ancira, representative

Victor Ancira, Troika International, 
serves as SEG representative to the 
International Association of Oil and 
Gas Producers (IOGP) in his role as 
chair of the SEG Technical Standards 
Committee. 

Approximately a decade ago, SEG 
transferred management of its 
positioning standards to IOGP. The 
Technical Standards Committee 
continues to support IOGP in this 
endeavour. P1/P11 and P2/11 have been 
updated to P1/P11 and P2/11 version 1.1. 

IOGP has established a permanent 
committee to review the Px/11 formats. 
It is examining whether the Shell 
Processing Support Format (SEG 
SPS), adopted in 1995, can become 
an extension of the P1/11 format.

IPTC Management
Joseph Reilly and Mohammed 
Badri, Board members

The International Petroleum Technology 
Conference (IPTC) rotates between 
Asia Pacific and Middle East locations. 
IPTC is organized to advance 
technology related to exploration, 
drilling, and production as well as 
transportation and processing covering 
upstream and midstream technologies. 
IPTC partners are the American 
Association of Petroleum Geologists 
(AAPG), the European Association of 
Geoscientists and Engineers (EAGE), 
the Society of Petroleum Engineers 
(SPE), and SEG. SPE operates IPTC on 
behalf of the partnership. 

Key factors responsible for IPTC’s 
success are the host national oil 
company, an international oil company 
cohost, and service-sector support. 
Structurally, IPTC is incorporated 
with the four societies as owners 
(20% interest to SEG). The board of 
directors consists of eight members, 
two appointed from each society. 
Joe Reilly with ExxonMobil and 
Mohammed Badri with Schlumberger 
are SEG’s IPTC board of directors 
representatives. Joe’s term as chair 
of IPTC’s board of directors will end 
following IPTC 2019. His term on the 
board does not end until December 
2019, and there is the possibility that 

he will serve a third term. During 
2018, Mohammed was appointed 
for a second term extending through 
December 2021.

IPTC skipped its Middle East rotation in 
2018 due to Qatar Petroleum’s decision 
to only host the event every four years. 
There was insufficient time to plan an 
alternative location. IPTC in its Asia 
Pacific rotation was moved to March, 
meaning the next conference is actually 
IPTC 2019. After careful consideration 
of options for the Middle East rotation 
during 2017 and 2018, the IPTC board 
approved Dhahran, Saudi Arabia, for 
IPTC 2020. IPTC 2020 will be the first 
international multidisciplinary intersociety 
oil and gas conference and exhibition 
held in Saudi Arabia. 

IPTC 2019 (26–28 MARCH 2019)

The theme is “Partnership and 
Innovation: The Silk Road towards 
a Sustainable Energy Future.” The 
China National Petroleum Corporation 
(CNPC) is the host organization, and 
Saudi Aramco is the cohost. More 
than 2400 abstracts were submitted, 
and 550 will be presented (oral and 
e-poster combined) in 70 technical 
sessions. This is again a record for 
IPTC conferences. Overall, content 
is well balanced between petroleum 
engineering and geoscience. Including 
special and panel sessions and 
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opening and closing ceremonies, there 
are a total of 89 sessions. To further 
enhance an already strong technical 
program, additional elements include 
top papers from sponsoring societies, 
an oil and gas project case study 
session, ask the expert sessions, and 
the society president’s panel session.

A special CEO plenary session 
moderated by Tor Fjaeran, president 
of the World Petroleum Council, will 
include CEOs from CNPC (Wang Yilin), 
Saudi Aramco (Amin Al Nasser), Total 
(Patrick Pouyanne), and Woodside 
Energy Ltd. (Peter Coleman). In 
addition, there will be eight topically 
focused panel sessions. 

Education Week, which is a week-long 
program running concurrently with the 
regular technical program, provides 
third- and fourth-year international 
university students a chance to work 
in groups in selected project areas. 
Selection is very competitive. A total 
of 277 applications were received 
representing 83 universities and 28 
countries. The target is to accept 70 
top students. The students will split into 
teams to work on 10 different topics. 
Through sponsorship, IPTC provides for 
students’ travel and accommodations. 

For young professionals 35 years or 
younger or with less than 10 years 
of experience, IPTC offers a one-day 

Emerging Leaders Workshop. The goal 
is to have 80 to 100 participants who 
would like to develop their leadership 
skills and expand their professional 
networks. The program is a mix of talks 
and activities prepared and presented 
by emerging leaders, industry leaders, 
and experts. 

A staple of every IPTC conference is 
the Award for Excellence in Project 
Integration. There were 16 projects 
from 12 organizations representing four 
countries nominated. Review led to 
a short list of six project nominations 
from six organizations representing 
four countries. The Awards Committee 
met in December and three finalists 
were identified. The winners will be 
announced at the IPTC 2019 dinner 
planned in Beijing.

IPTC 2020 (13–15 JANUARY 2020) 

In preparation for the conference in 
Dhahran, Saudi Arabia, the IPTC board 
visited the Dhahran Exhibition Center 
and made a careful assessment of the 
building complex. Based on the site 
visit, several recommendations were 
made to bring the conference facility 
to a world-class center for hosting 
IPTC. An additional exhibition hall will 
be constructed next to the current 
building, and six additional technical 
session rooms will be built and added 
to the complex. 

Saudi Aramco will serve as the 
exclusive host. Sponsoring societies 
and IPTC leadership worked to 
organize volunteers and committees 
during 2018. As of 25 November 
2018, the Executive Committee 
included 29 members representing 25 
organizations and 12 countries. At that 
point in time, the Program Committee 
had 180 members representing 83 
organizations and 24 countries, and 
a followup on a number of additional 
volunteers was still under way. The call 
for papers went live in December 2018 
with a submission deadline of 4 March 
2019. The goal is to attract 2500 
submissions with 450–550 papers 
being accepted (for oral/e-paper). 
Total attendance is expected to reach 
10,000 delegates and exhibitors.

IPTC FINANCIALS

During 2018, IPTC operated from 
reserves that had purposely been 
withheld knowing there was a gap in 
scheduled events and that the oil and 
gas industry was still enduring stressful 
times. In fact, IPTC 2019 Beijing will 
incur a loss on the event. In anticipation 
of this, IPTC has retained enough 
reserves that it should not have to make 
a cash call to the sponsoring societies.

NAPE Advisory
Allen Gilmer, representative

Partners in the North American 
Prospect Expo (NAPE) are the 
American Association of Petroleum 
Landmen (AAPL), the Independent 
Petroleum Association of America 
(IPAA), the American Association of 
Petroleum Geologists (AAPG), and 
SEG. AAPL started the conference 
in 1993, IPAA joined the partnership 
in 1995, and AAPG and SEG came 
aboard in 2004. Each has a 10% 
interest. Having a majority-ownership 
position, AAPL operates NAPE. 
Partners participate through the 
NAPE Advisory Committee on which 
Allen Gilmer has served as SEG’s 
representative since 2012. In 2018, 
NAPE celebrated its 25th anniversary. 

NAPE is an environment where 
prospect developers interact with 
potential buyers with the expectation 
of doing business. This environment 
naturally draws engineers, 
geoscientists, landmen, lenders, capital 
providers, etc. Because there is the 
expectation of making deals, many 
attendees are decision makers. 

NAPE began with Winter NAPE (now 
called NAPE Summit), expanded to 
include Summer NAPE, and much 
later two regional conferences were 
added (Pittsburgh and Denver). The 

regional NAPE conferences proved 
unprofitable, so NAPE now consists of 
two conferences located in Houston: 
the large NAPE Summit in February 
and Summer NAPE in August. 

NAPE SUMMIT (8–9 FEBRUARY 2018, 
HOUSTON, TEXAS)

As industry emerged from its severe 
downturn, NAPE Summit results 
improved. Attendance held strong, 
and financial results improved due 
to continued operational changes by 
AAPL. Exposition attendance was 
12,298, and there were 701 exhibitors. 
Participation in auxiliary events was 
similarly strong with 902 attending 
the Business Conference and 1083 
attending the Charities Luncheon. Net 
surplus was US$4,610,140 (US$461,014 
distribution for SEG’s 10% ownership 
was received in May 2018).

SEG ROI FORUM AT NAPE SUMMIT 

NAPE encouraged its partners to 
develop training and events to help 
foster a NAPE week experience. 
These events would be partner events 
and not official NAPE events. NAPE 
encouraged these events by offering 
space and AV at no cost, but there 
were two caveats — events could not 
conflict with NAPE events (Business 
Conference and the exposition), and 
sponsorships could not be solicited. 

R E P O R T S  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S



2018 Annual Report

51

SM

SEG chose to develop a one-day 
forum focusing on technologies, both 
geoscience and engineering, that had 
a proven track record of delivering 
attractive rates of return. There were 
nine specially invited presentations 
and a three-person panel session. 
Attendance was only 34, and the event 
lost money. Feedback indicated the 
program lacked themes, and marketing 
was inadequate. Both shortcomings 
were addressed for a planned 2019 
ROI Forum, but forecast attendance 
did not improve and as a result the 
event was canceled.

SUMMER NAPE 2018 (10–11 AUGUST 
2018, HOUSTON, TEXAS)

Attendance remained steady at 
Summer NAPE with 2866 attending 
the exposition that featured 225 
exhibitors. The Business Conference 
drew 265 attendees. Net surplus was 
US$893,876 (US$89,388 distribution 
for SEG’s 10% ownership was received 
in December 2018). 

Offshore Technology 
Conference
Wafik Beydoun, chair

It has been a privilege and an honor to 
serve as the SEG representative on the 
Offshore Technology Conference (OTC) 
board of directors for the past nine 
years and particularly as its chairman 
for the past two years. My tenure in 
this position ends in May 2019. The 
next SEG representative of the OTC 
board of directors is Alex Martinez. 

I would like to thank Lance Cole 
(SEG’s intersociety collaboration 
manager) who has been instrumental 
in facilitating the nomination of SEG 
representatives in various OTC events, 
helping me when needed, and for 
enhancing the visibility and pertinence 
of OTC to SEG. 

OTC ASIA 2018 (20–23 MARCH 2018, 
KUALA LUMPUR, MALAYSIA)

Volunteers included Deva Ghosh 
(SEG Subcommittee chair), Stephan 
Gelinsky (vice chair), Arthur Cheng, 
Dechun Lin, Hitoshi Mikada, Elita 
Yunyue Li, Mohd Firdaus Abdul 
Halim, Sandeep Chandola, Wanida 
Sritongthae, and Chrissie Sylvester 
Lojikim. 

OTC ASIA 2018 attracted 19,003 
attendees and drew 218 exhibitors in 

an exposition that had eight national 
pavilions. Collectively, there were more 
than 5200 participating organizations 
with 71 countries represented.

The SEG Subcommittee developed 
a reservoir characterization technical 
session, took the lead in developing 
an India session, and contributed 
to a panel session titled “Talent 
management and performance 
management in oil and gas.” 

There were four Distinguished 
Achievement awards. The Individual 
Award went to Simon Ong. 
PETRONAS received the award 
for Companies, Organizations, and 
Institutions. Special Citation awards 
went to Datuk Abdullah Karim and 
Michael Usler. There were also 10 
New Technology Award winners, the 
vast majority being from the service/
provider sector. 

OTC and sponsoring societies began 
forming volunteer committees for 
OTC Asia 2020 (24–27 March 2020 in 
Kuala Lumpur) in late summer/early fall 
2018. Charles Knobloch will serve as 
SEG’s representative on the Oversight 
Committee. Chrissie Sylvester Lojikim, 
Shell, will chair SEG’s Technical Program 
Subcommittee. She provides continuity, 
like many SEG volunteers, as she also 
served on SEG’s Technical Program 
Subcommittee for OTC Asia 2018. 

OTC HOUSTON 2018 (30 APRIL–3 MAY 
2018, HOUSTON, TEXAS, UNITED 
STATES)

Volunteers included Alex Martinez (SEG 
Subcommittee chair), Brian Brookshire 
(vice chair), Charles Knobloch (Active 
Arena chair), Gail Adams, Nathan 
Bangs, Rocco Detomo, Ashwani Dev, 
Elive Menyoli, Satyam Priyadarshy, Will 
Sager, Larry Scott, and John Smythe. 

Celebrating its 50th edition, OTC 2018 
drew more than 61,300 attendees, 
slightly above OTC 2017. There were 
more than 2300 exhibiting companies 
from 44 countries covering more than 
585,000 net square feet including 
outdoor exhibits. Nearly 300 were 
new exhibitors, and international 
companies made up 55% of exhibitors. 
Confirmation of a strengthening 
offshore industry, exhibition space for 
OTC 2019 was sold out before OTC 
2018. 

SEG Subcommittee contributions 
were woven throughout the technical 
program. SEG sponsored a panel 
session on “Offshore energy, safety, 
technology, and production — 
Governmental perspectives.” Working 
cooperatively with other societies, SEG 
was part of six technical and/or panel 
sessions. SEG organized a breakfast 
luncheon on “Ocean sound and marine 
animals: Advancing the geophysical 

industry in a complex regulatory 
environment” and a luncheon 
presentation on “DOE’s approach 
to offshore oil and gas technology 
challenges.” 

When it comes to Distinguished 
Achievement awards, Brian Skeel 
won the Individual Award while 
Shell and SBM Offshore received 
the Companies, Organizations, and 
Institutions Award. A Heritage Award 
went to Cesar Del Vecchio, while Tom 
Sifferman received a Special Citation 
Award. There were 14 Spotlight on 
New Technology awards, the vast 
majority being in the engineering/
operations realm. 

OTC 2019 will occur 6–9 May 2019. 
In 2019, OTC celebrates its 50th 
anniversary. Alex Martinez continues 
to chair SEG’s Technical Program 
Subcommittee, while Stephan 
Gelinsky came aboard as vice chair. 
As of year-end 2018, the technical 
program was fully developed. The 
SEG Subcommittee made a marked 
contribution, which will be reported in 
SEG’s 2019 Annual Report. 

ARCTIC TECHNOLOGY CONFERENCE 
(5–7 NOVEMBER 2018, HOUSTON, 
TEXAS, UNITED STATES)

Volunteers included Tiffany Carey (SEG 
Subcommittee chair), Keith Millis (vice 
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chair), Ken Tubman, Ian Atkinson, Rada 
Khadjinova, and Karen Smith. 

Anticipating lower attendance than 
prior years, the Arctic Technology 
Conference (ATC) 2019 was 
moved from the George R. Brown 
Convention Center to the adjoining 
Hilton hotel. A total of 280 people 
registered for the event, and 259 
picked up their badges. There 
were 14 countries represented at 
the conference, with 23 exhibiting 
companies in the exposition. Six 
panel discussions, four breakfasts 
and luncheons, and 72 technical 
presentations were delivered. ATC 
recognized two Distinguished 
Achievement awards: Kenneth Bird 
for the Individual Award and the 
National Research Council Canada 
for the Companies, Organizations, 
and Institutions Award. 

Tiffany Carey and Rada Khadjinova 
chaired a technical session on 
regulatory and environment. Carey 
also served as comoderator for a 
sold-out luncheon presentation: 
“Prudhoe Bay at 40 years: Still a 
giant” by Scott Digert of the BP 
Alaska Resource Development. 

ATC received extensive feedback about 
the next ATC from attendees, speakers, 
and through a post show survey. 

OTC BRASIL 2019 (29–31 OCTOBER 
2019, RIO DE JANEIRO, BRAZIL)

Volunteers included Marcilio Matos 
(cochair), Manuel Peiro (cochair), Paulo 
Johann, Eduardo Lopes de Faria, William 
Meyer, Gonzalo Flores, Terrell Dhanpaul, 
and Pedro Mario Cruz E Silva. 

The 5th edition of OTC Brasil will be 
held at SulAmerica Convention Center, 
switching location from Riocentro. 
Unlike OTC Brasil 2017, it will not be 
co-located with Rio Pipeline. The 
conference theme is “Strengthening 
deepwater for the future.” The call for 
papers opened at year-end 2018, and 
the subcommittee is actively pursuing 
content before the scheduled closing 
of abstracts 12 March 2019.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Net distribution to SEG’s interest 
from all OTC events during 2018 
was US$1,266,095.73. Payments 
represent disbursements from OTC’s 
fiscal year 2018.

OTC 2018 Technical Program
Alex Martinez, chair 

Held annually since 1969, the Offshore 
Technology Conference (OTC) is 
the largest global offshore-focused 
conference in the world, often drawing 
more than 100,000 attendees. OTC 
2018, the 50th occurrence of the 
conference, was held 30 April through 
3 May at NRG Park in Houston. 

OTC 2018 drew more than 61,300 
attendees, slightly more than for 
OTC 2017. There were more than 
2300 exhibiting companies covering 
585,000 net square feet. International 
companies made up 55% of exhibitors, 
and there were nearly 300 new 
exhibitors. An early indication of a 
strengthening offshore industry is 
shown by the OTC 2019 exhibition 
space being sold out before OTC 2018.

Beyond the exposition itself, OTC offers 
an array of learning and networking 
opportunities with an extensive 
technical program including technical 
presentations and posters, panel 
discussions, breakfast/luncheon 
presentations, networking events, 
and more. The technical program 
development and coordination is 
a collaborative effort among many 
professional societies, including SEG, 
that represent a broad spectrum of 
engineering and geoscience disciplines. 

The SEG Subcommittee, alone or 
in cooperation with other societies, 
contributes to regular technical 
sessions, panel sessions, and 
breakfast/luncheons. 

Technical sessions that SEG was 
involved in: 

• Case studies and advances in 
reservoir characterization and 
monitoring

• The Hebron project

• Marine mining 

Panel sessions that SEG was involved in:

• Offshore energy: Safety, technology 
and production — Governmental 
perspectives 

• Active arena: Global intellectual 
property strategy 

• Deep pockets: Private equity 
investment in offshore projects —  
A new trend 

• One gulf reaching 50 billion BOE and 
growing 

Topics for SEG-sponsored breakfasts/
luncheons: 

• IAGC: Ocean sound and marine 
animals — Advancing the 
geophysical industry in a complex 
regulatory environment 

• DOE’s approach to offshore oil and 
gas technology challenges 

OTC would not be possible without 
the dedicated effort of volunteers from 
partner societies. Wafik Beydoun leads 
SEG volunteers. For OTC 2018, Charles 
Knobloch served as Active Arena 
chairperson. The SEG Subcommittee 
was led by me and Vice Chair Brian 
Brookshire. Additional subcommittee 
volunteers included Gail Adams, Nathan 
Bangs, Rocco Detomo, Ashwani Dev, 
Elive Menyoli, Satyam Priyadarshy, Will 
Sager, Larry Scott, and John Smyth.

OTC 2019 will be held 6–9 May 2019. 
I will continue to serve as chair of the 
Technical Program Subcommittee 
while Stephan Gelinsky has joined 
as vice chair. As of year-end 2018, 
the OTC 2019 technical program 
has been fully developed. The SEG 
Subcommittee made a marked 
contribution, which will be reported in 
SEG’s 2019 Annual Report. 

In 2019, I will step down as the 
chair of the Technical Program 
Subcommittee, and Stephan Gelinsky 
will take my place. I am taking over 
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Wafik’s position as the SEG OTC 
board of directors representative.

Unconventional Resources 
Technology Conference 
Management
Frank Brown, representative

The Unconventional Resources 
Technology Conference (URTeC) is 
a science-based annual conference 
developed as a collaboration of the 
American Association of Petroleum 
Geologists (AAPG), the Society of 
Petroleum Engineers (SPE), and SEG. 
URTeC focuses on unconventional 
reservoir development with a specific 
emphasis on integrated workflow. 
URTeC operates through the 
Management Committee outlined in a 
Sponsoring Organizations Agreement. 
Leadership of the Management 
Committee rotates among the 
societies. The Technical Program 
Committee operates with cochairs 
from the three societies. Shawn 
Maxwell served as SEG’s cochair for 
URTeC 2017 and 2018. Scott Singleton 
is SEG’s cochair for URTeC 2019. 

Although the original intent was 
for URTeC to have a home base in 
Denver, Colorado, the location has 
moved through the years due to venue 
unavailability during the desired time 
frame. After two years in San Antonio, 

URTeC 2017 was moved to Austin 
and then to Houston for URTeC 2018 
where attendance set a record. URTeC 
2019 will once again be in Denver. 
Overcoming location moves, URTeC 
has solidified its reputation within the 
industry as the place to be if involved in 
unconventional resources because of its 
focus on integration and applications.

URTeC 2018 attendance was the 
highest ever at more than 6400 — 
possibly due to a combination of 
strong unconventional activity and 
the Houston location. There were 
302 technical papers. Attendance 
was particularly strong at the 
opening plenary session titled “The 
shale revolution — Getting down to 
business” and two operators’ forums 
titled “Completion optimization” 
and “Operating in the Permian.” 
Operators’ forums are multidisciplinary 
presentations by operators. 
Technology and understanding of 
induced seismicity have advanced, 
but attendance was still strong in 
both a panel and special session 
devoted to that topic. Geomechanics 
has become almost a third discipline. 
Two technical sessions of special 
interest to geophysicists explored 
“Geophysics in the Permian Basin” 
and “The use of geophysical 
technologies in unconventional 
plays.” Luncheon presentations were 
extremely popular as well.

EXPANDING THE UMBRELLA IN 2019

In July 2018, the Management 
Committee approved two expansion 
moves. To serve local domestic U.S. 
audiences, URTeC will conduct three 
one-day workshops in Midland, 
Oklahoma City, and Pittsburgh. SEG 
will operate the workshop in Midland (5 
March 2019). 

In URTeC’s first global event, SPE 
will operate an Asia Pacific URTeC in 
Brisbane, Australia (18–19 November 
2019). If one-day workshops prove 
successful, the initiative could be 
expanded to additional domestic 
locations. Potential also exists to 
expand to additional global locations. 

FINANCIALS

Although not yet finalized as of year-
end 2018, the net surplus forecast for 
URTeC 2018 is right at US$1.4 million 
(or about US$420,000 to SEG’s 30% 
ownership). There is a note of caution 
in the financial arena as SEG Member 
attendance at URTeC significantly 
lags its ownership interest. Should 
the conditions for an ownership 
adjustment ever be met, SEG’s interest 
could be reduced. Significantly, the 
maximum reduction would be to 25%.
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Foundation Board of Directors
Michael G. Loudin, chair

The SEG Foundation, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of SEG, is the fund-raising 
arm of the parent organization. 
The Foundation is an IRS 501(c)
(3) charitable organization, which 
means donations to the Foundation 
are tax deductible in the United 
States. Around the world, SEG and 
the Foundation strive to enable 
and enhance the application of 
geophysics to understand the earth 
and provide information that enables 
the identification and management of 
energy, water, and other resources, 
as well as the mitigation of disasters 
through better planning.

The SEG Foundation financially 
supported 18 programs that benefited 
thousands of SEG Members in 
2018 by contributing more than $2.3 
million to SEG from the combination 
of endowment spending and 
numerous pass-through donations 
from corporations and individuals. 
At the end of 2018, the Foundation’s 
endowment was approximately $15.3 
million, of which about half is for 
scholarships, and our annual spending 
rate for endowed programs was 3%. 

Thank you to the many corporations 
and thousands of individuals who 
contribute their time, talent, and 
treasure to the SEG Foundation each 
year. You enable the education and 
continued development of thousands 
of members globally and the 
application of geophysics in the service 
of humanity. 

2018 FUNDRAISING RESULTS

• $1,729,092 (unaudited number)

CORPORATE GIVING: $1,310,158

• Apache Corporation — SEG Wiki: 
$50,000

• BGP Inc. — SEG on Demand: 
$250,000

• ConocoPhillips — GWB: $300,000

• In-Depth Geophysical — SEG Wiki: 
$10,000

• Shell — SEG Honorary Lecture: 
$500,000

• Schlumberger — GWB: $200,000

SOCIETY/SECTION GIVING: $2050

• AIPG Foundation — GWB: $1000

• Pacific Coast Section of SEG — 
Field Camp: $750

INDIVIDUAL GIVING: $381,279

• Major Gift Donors — Cumulative 
total: $235,114

•  29 Sustaining Trustee Associates 
($2000/year)

• Donations with SEG Membership 
dues: $37,023

• Employer Matching Gifts: $43,415

2018 FOUNDATION BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

The Board included Michael G. Loudin 
(chair), Anna C. Shaughnessy (vice 
chair), Pete W. Cramer (treasurer), 
David C. Bartel, Glenn W. Bear, Craig 
J. Beasley, Arthur Cheng, Peter M. 
Duncan, Raymond C. Farrell, Michael 
C. Forrest, Gretchen M. Gillis, Julie K. 
Hardie, Zhaobo “Joe” Meng, David J. 
Monk, Maurice M. Nessim, and Magne 
A. Reiersgard.

2019 FUNDRAISING 

In addition to a renewed focus on 
the stewardship of our current valued 
individual and corporate donors, 2019 
will see additional efforts to attract new 
donors. Specifically, we intend to reach 
out to international oil companies and 
medium-sized U.S. companies with 
sponsor opportunities that appeal 
to each sector. We plan to educate 
and engage nonenergy corporations 
and foundations in regard to our 
humanitarian efforts. In addition, we 
will build a team of young members to 
energize their peers by creating new 
ways to contribute to SEG. 

Note: All monetary values are in U.S. 
dollars.

F O U N D A T I O N  R E P O R T



 
SUBSIDIARIES REPORTS “A strong contingent of China office staff and 

affiliated volunteers provided a significant 
level of support for IPTC Beijing 2019.” 

— Rick Miller, SEG Global Inc. chair 
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SEAM Board of Directors
Josef Paffenholz, chair

The SEG Advanced Modeling 
Corporation (SEAM) is the 
research arm of SEG. We organize 
collaborations among industry, 
government, and academia to 
build realistic numerical subsurface 
models and to propagate numerical 
geophysical data through them. In 
doing so, we provide a forum for 
industry leaders to discuss geophysical 
problems of common interest, advance 
the art of modeling and computation 
by stimulating research and 
development, and provide data sets for 
industry benchmarks and educational 
purposes. Learn more here.

The 2018 SEAM Board of Directors 
included Josef Paffenholz (chair), John 
Eastwood (vice chair), Dan Ebrom 
(treasurer), Edith Miller, Maria Angela 
Capello, Paul Williamson, Adriana 
Ramirez, Ali Tura, Eric Verschuur, and 
Ken Tubman (SEG Board liaison). 

The Executive Committee was 
extremely active and effective 
throughout the year. The board has 
several working committees including 
Finance, Business Development, 
Data Storage and Distribution, 
Postconvention Workshop, 
Nominations, and Bid Review. The 

board continues to ensure that the 
operations of SEAM are conducted 
in a fiscally and legally responsible 
manner.

SEAM PROJECTS ACTIVE IN 2018

• Pressure Prediction and Hazard 
Avoidance (2014–2017) is a three-
year program of the Research 
Partnership to Secure Energy 
for America, with support of 11 
corporate sponsors, to design 
and execute a model of Gulf of 
Mexico pressure mechanisms 
and their geophysical expression. 
The purpose of the project is to 
help the industry understand the 
influence of various processes 
that affect pore pressure in subsalt 
reservoirs. Basin modeling ensured 
that properties were consistent 
with geologic history. The project 
was modified from the SEAM 
Phase I Gulf of Mexico salt model, 
including additional property 
variations resulting from pressure 
changes. Following this, geophysical 
simulations were performed and 
distributed to participants for 
the purpose of testing pressure 
prediction procedures. 

 º With adequate funds remaining in 
the Pressure Prediction budget, 
the Management Committee 

decided to issue a Request for 
Bids in June 2018 to build an 
acoustic velocity model. Work 
was completed in December 
2018, and the deliverables along 
with a final report were sent 
to all participants. The chair of 
the Management Committee is 
Cengiz Esmersoy, and the project 
manager is Mike Fehler.

• Life of Field (2016–2019) began 
active development in 2017, following 
the learnings of the 2016 Time Lapse 
Pilot (or Pore Pressure Extension) 
project. The project began with six 
participants and has grown to nine 
participants. An ambitious clastic 
model was decided on, and a 
Request for Bids was issued. Tasks 
to be completed include reservoir 
simulations, petrophysical modeling 
and cross scaling, and geophysical 
simulations including seismic.

• With the addition of more 
participants, a carbonate model will 
be executed as well. Work will begin 
in the second quarter of 2019 and be 
completed by December 2019. The 
project manager is Mike Oristaglio, 
and the Management Committee is 
chaired by Shauna Oppert.

• A successful SEAM workshop was 
held at the 2018 Annual Meeting. 

Seven companies 
presented how they 
have utilized SEAM data. 
Additionally, a discussion 
session was held on 
upcoming projects. 

PROJECT DEVELOPMENT 

SEAM anticipates the 
launch of two new projects 
in 2019: the Artificial 
Intelligence project and 
the Microseismic project. 
The Artificial Intelligence 
project, led by Bill Abriel as 
the business development 
contractor, has advanced 
to a stage that startup 
mid-2019 is a realistic goal. 
The smaller Microseismic 
project, led by Stephen 
Wilson, has garnered 
some interest and will potentially 
launch in 2019. 

FINANCES

SEAM is currently financially self 
sufficient. Control of cost structures 
has been achieved. Data storage costs 
of approximately US$50,000/year 
have been eliminated by contracting 
with Polaris E&E Services Inc. to share 
a portion of the data license fees 
as opposed to a fixed annual cost. 

Additionally, the SEAM treasurer tracks 
monthly income and expenses.

The contract with SEG for provision 
of services is up for renewal and 
renegotiation in February 2019.

SEAM DATA LICENSING

A detailed description of the available 
data sets and license fees can be 
found here. Polaris E&E Services Inc. 
will provide storage for all of SEAM’s 

S U B S I D I A R I E S  R E P O R T S
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data. Polaris and SEAM are working 
together on marketing the data to the 
geophysical community. 

Licensing of the Phase II land data has 
been slow. Anecdotal evidence points 
to the large size of the data sets. In 
an effort to eliminate this barrier, the 
SEAM board has decided to make 
the Phase II and the Pore Pressure 
Prediction data sets available on a line-
by-line basis. Additionally, in response 
to feedback from the academic 
community that reduced rates for 
data licenses are still unaffordable, 
the SEAM board is currently making 
subsets of the Phase I and Phase II 
data sets available for download. 

2019 OBJECTIVES

• Completion of the Life of Field 
carbonate model 

• Launch the Artificial Intelligence 
project

• Launch the Microseismic project 

• Market Phase II data by shot line 
to satisfy a need in the geophysical 
community for smaller subsets of the 
large Phase II data sets

• Provide academia a cost-effective 
way to utilize SEAM data for 
research purposes 

SEG Global Inc. Board of 
Directors 
Rick Miller, chair

SEG Global Inc. (SGI) is the for-profit 
subsidiary of SEG that currently 
operates the SEG China regional 
office. SGI is the SEG business unit 
established to promote and expand the 
global footprint of applied geophysics 
through support of the many 
professionals engaged in geophysics 
around the world. Originally tasked 
with operating all of SEG’s regional 
offices, within the last half decade 
the scope of SGI’s business interests 
has been concentrated in China with 
the oversight of the China office. After 
several years with minimal revenue 
relative to expenses, the China office 
has operated with a positive budget 
in 2017 and a slightly negative budget 
for 2018. This accomplishment is 
monumental and an indication of the 
insight and business skills of both SEG 
headquarters and China office staff. 

The SGI Board of Directors continues 
to be populated with leaders in the 
global community and serves to 
complement the SEG China Advisory 
Board. Several SGI board members 
completed their terms during 2018 and 
left the board with SGI in better fiscal 
shape than when they joined.

SGI BOARD OF DIRECTORS

• Rick Miller (chair)
• Huasheng Zheng 
• Said Sadykhov 
• Tien-When Lo 
• Bruce Shang 
• Turki M. Al-Ghamdi
• Alfred Liaw 

The China office endured a challenging 
staff turnover during 2018, with the 
general manager resigning at the end 
of the first quarter. Fortunately, a well-
designed succession plan was in place 
and Flora Wu assumed the duties of 
the general manager, with no apparent 
drop in office efficiency or productivity. 
Flora is now the legal representative 
of the SEG China wholly owned 
foreign entity (WOFE). Additionally, 
XuLing Lv joined the staff to assume 
the role of meetings manager. Key 
to the China office success has 
been the outstanding guidance and 
perseverance of Alfred Liaw, who acts 
as the China office volunteer business 
advisor.

A strong contingent of China office 
staff and affiliated volunteers provided 
a significant level of support for IPTC 
Beijing 2019. SEG had representation 
on the Technical Committee and 
worked with organizers to provide 
logistical support.

In 2018, the China office organized and 
operated seven WOFE events:

• China Petroleum Society (CPS)/SEG 
Conference 

 º 24–27 April

 º Beijing

 º Operated by the Society of 
Petroleum Geophysicists

• Rock Physics and Digital Rock 
Workshop 

 º 20–23 May 

 º Beijing 

 º Operated with the China University 
of Petroleum, Harvard Joint 
Lab, and the CPS Rock Physics 
Committee

• Reservoir Geophysics Workshop 

 º 5–7 August

 º Daqing oilfield

• BGP In-house Training 

 º 1–14 September

 º Zhuzhou

• SEG/Society of Petroleum Engineers 
Maximizing Asset Value Through 
Artificial Intelligence and Machine 
Learning 

 º 17–19 September

 º Beijing

• Borehole Geophysics Workshop 

 º 28–30 October

 º Guilin

• Seismic Imaging Workshop 

 º 12–14 November

 º Beijing

The China office has gone from an 
operational unit fully subsidized by 
the SEG headquarters to budgetary 
independence as evidenced by the 
reporting of a positive budget in 2017 
and a slightly negative budget for 2018. 
Based on the vision of the Global 
Development Advisory Committee in 
2006, SEG opened the China office in 
2008. Through a period of operational 
challenges, the China office matured 
from a representative office unable 
to accept revenue and without a 
revenue-based business plan to a 
WOFE office in 2017, with a focused 
business plan and a balanced budget-

S U B S I D I A R I E S  R E P O R T S
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based philosophy complemented 
by the ability to accept revenue and 
therefore fully manage conferences 
and exhibitions.

SGI is well positioned to help SEG 
continue success in establishing 
and advising effective and beneficial 
regional offices. The Middle East and 
China offices are models of success!

SEG Real Estate Corporation 
Board of Directors
Keith Willson, chair

The SEG Real Estate Corporation is 
a subsidiary of SEG that was formed 
in 2011. The board is charged with 
oversight of all activities associated 
with the Geophysical Resource 
Center in Tulsa, Oklahoma. The 
property consists of two Class A 
buildings with a combined office 
space for rent of almost 180,000 
square feet situated on 11 acres at 
8801 South Yale Avenue and 8811 
South Yale Avenue. The original 
building was completed in 1986, and 
the second building was completed 
in 2015. SEG staff are located on the 
fifth floor of the original building.

During 2018, a change in leasing 
agents to focus on marketing the 
remaining smaller spaces in building 
1 led to increased leasing activity. 

As a result, building 1 is up 16% 
to 83%, with higher occupancy 
rates anticipated in 2019. Building 2 
increased 3% to 95% occupancy. 
Combined occupancy of the two 
buildings ended 2018 at 89%, up 10% 
from the previous year.

All management options were 
evaluated including total outsourcing 
in order to further minimize operational 
costs. Because no significant savings 
could be achieved, management of the 
property continues to be handled by 
SEG staff.

Valuation studies and debt refinancing 
options were completed. In conjunction 
with the SEG Board of Directors, a 
decision to market the property in 
order to determine the market price 
and fully address a buy/sell decision 
was made. Listing brokers submitted 
proposals in late December.

In 2019, the strategic focus will be to:

• Continue leasing efforts focused 
on building 1 in order to increase 
occupancy

• Complete the sale plan and decide 
whether to sell the property

2018 Real Estate Board of Directors: 

• Keith Willson (chair) 

• Steve Simmons (vice chair) 
• Dorsey Morrow (secretary)
• Bill Underwood (Finance Committee 

chair) 
• Kim Guyer (Buildings and Grounds 

Committee chair)
• Ray Early (Audit Committee chair)
• Dan Piazzola (Board member)

S U B S I D I A R I E S  R E P O R T S
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Board of Directors
Society of Exploration Geophysicists

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Society of Exploration 
Geophysicists and its affiliates (the Society), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as 
of December 31, 2018, and the related consolidated statements of activities, functional expenses and cash flows 
for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively, the financial 
statements).

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our 
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.  Accordingly, we express 
no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Basis for Qualified Opinion

The Society is the sole corporate member of SEG Foundation (the Foundation) and as a result has a controlling 
financial interest in the Foundation.  The Society does not include the accounts of the Foundation in these
financial statements.  Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
consolidation of an entity when the reporting entity has a controlling financial interest in that entity.  If SEG 
Foundation were consolidated in these financial statements and intercompany accounts and transactions had 
been eliminated, assets, liabilities and net assets would increase by $20,030,287, $9,720 and $20,020,567,
respectively, as of December 31, 2018.  Also, expenses would increase by $309,821 and revenues and change 
in net assets would decrease by $2,179,612 and $2,489,433, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2018.

www.hogantaylor.com 
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Qualified Opinion

In our opinion, except for the effects on the 2018 financial statements of not consolidating the SEG Foundation 
as described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, the financial statements referred to above present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Society of Exploration Geophysicists and affiliates as 
of December 31, 2018, and the changes in their net assets and their cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Tulsa, Oklahoma
May 30, 2019
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SOCIETY OF EXLORATION GEOPHYSICISTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31, 2018

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 3,510,149$
Accounts receivable, less allowance for

doubtful accounts of $61,051 2,038,616
Accounts receivable, SEG Foundation 921,566
Inventories 317,506
Prepaid expenses 605,200
Assets held for sale 24,135,496

Total current assets 31,528,533

Investments 8,489,679
Property and equipment, net 359,550
Other long-term assets 250,000

Total assets 40,627,762$

Liabilities and Net Assets
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,938,148$
Current portion of capital lease obligation 55,811
Current portion of deferred revenue 3,513,927
Liabilities held for sale 18,416,831

Total current liabilities 23,924,717

Capital lease obligation, less current portion 220,896
Deferred revenue, less current portion 94,903

Total liabilities 24,240,516

Net assets without donor restrictions 16,387,246

Total liabilities and net assets 40,627,762$

See notes to consolitdated financial statements on page 70
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SOCIETY OF EXLORATION GEOPHYSICISTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year ended December 31, 2018

Revenues:
Membership dues 958,310$
Conferences and meetings 7,969,463
Publication sales and advertising 3,058,625
Professional development 433,498
Research and data 1,077,874
Foundation support for programs 2,318,791
Investment loss (676,848)

Total revenues 15,139,713

Expenses:
Program expenses:

Membership record services 305,613
Conferences and meetings 4,349,182
Publications and advertising 2,674,580
Professional development 1,009,340
Humanitarian, student and early careers 1,789,029
Global outreach and business development 185,499
Research and data 779,955
Other 111,944

Total program expenses 11,205,142

Support expenses:
Management, general and administrative 3,294,914

Total expenses 14,500,056

Increase in net assets from continuing operations 639,657

Loss from discontinued operations (496,464)

Change in net assets 143,193

Net assets, beginning of period 16,244,053

Net assets, end of period 16,387,246$

See notes to consolitdated financial statements on page 70See notes to consolitdated financial statements on page 70
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SOCIETY OF EXLORATION GEOPHYSICISTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

Year ended December 31, 2018

Global
Membership Publications Humanitarian, Outreach and Management,

Record Conferences and Professional Student and Business Research General and
Services and Meetings Advertising Development Early Careers Development and Data Other Administrative Total

Staffing 194,449$ 1,567,755$ 1,192,029$ 323,661$ 236,775$ 143,782$ 93,220$ 76,685$ 2,454,651$ 6,283,007$
Travel 5,670 310,058 35,497 271,092 15,620 8,893 2,419 4,760 156,101 810,110
Office 19,061 331,294 193,034 75,074 33,835 6,071 (2,920) 4,966 184,750 845,165
Program awards - - - - 1,175,927 - - 1,740 5,716 1,183,383
Production - - 686,448 - - - - - - 686,448
Postage 9,100 26,232 151,685 14,771 7,484 355 35 679 9,279 219,620
Commissions, honor

and royalties - - 100,393 155,396 - - - - - 255,789
Cost of sales - - 68,255 28,431 - - 683,395 354 28 780,463
Events 7,879 1,808,213 19,387 93,116 103,509 793 - 10,798 59,227 2,102,922
Outside services 38,473 150,263 63,431 24,803 164,589 20,464 (13) 1,127 158,664 621,801
Promotion costs 

and other 13,789 73,504 26,267 2,217 2,454 - 622 6,277 12,528 137,658
Rent 14,162 52,078 114,674 12,788 14,162 3,197 3,197 3,198 137,441 354,897
Taxes 359 16,428 2,109 1,758 32,003 163 - 469 30,713 84,002
Depreciation and 

amortization 2,671 13,357 21,371 6,233 2,671 1,781 - 891 39,362 88,337
Foundation support 

costs - - - - - - - - 46,454 46,454

Total 305,613$ 4,349,182$ 2,674,580$ 1,009,340$ 1,789,029$ 185,499$ 779,955$ 111,944$ 3,294,914$ 14,500,056$

Program Expenses

672018 Annual Report
See notes to consolitdated financial statements on page 70
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SOCIETY OF EXLORATION GEOPHYSICISTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31, 2018

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Increase in net assets from continuing operations 639,657$
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets 

to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 88,155
Gain on disposal of assets (1,750)
Net realized/unrealized loss on investments 795,802
Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (722,937)
Accounts receivable, SEG Foundation (403,272)
Inventories 2,988
Prepaid expenses (109,872)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 257,056
Deferred revenues 59,262

Net operating cash flows from continuing operations 605,089
Net operating cash flows from discontinued operations 669,320

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,274,409

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchases of property and equipment (21,632)
Purchases of investments (14,407,656)
Proceeds from sale of investments 14,354,307

Net investing cash flows from continuing operations (74,981)
Net investing cash flows from discontinued operations (92,636)

Net cash used in investing activities (167,617)

Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Payments on capital lease (42,962)
Payments on long-term debt from discontinued operations (632,505)

Net cash used in financing activities (675,467)

Net increase in cash 431,325

Cash, beginning of period 3,078,824

Cash, end of period 3,510,149$

Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures
Interest paid 717,211$

Noncash Investing and Financing Activities
Pending trades to purchase investments 769,729$

Purchases of equipment with capital lease 307,608$

See notes to consolitdated financial statements on page 70
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SOCIETY OF EXLORATION GEOPHYSICISTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31, 2018

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Increase in net assets from continuing operations 639,657$
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets 

to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 88,155
Gain on disposal of assets (1,750)
Net realized/unrealized loss on investments 795,802
Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (722,937)
Accounts receivable, SEG Foundation (403,272)
Inventories 2,988
Prepaid expenses (109,872)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 257,056
Deferred revenues 59,262

Net operating cash flows from continuing operations 605,089
Net operating cash flows from discontinued operations 669,320

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,274,409

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchases of property and equipment (21,632)
Purchases of investments (14,407,656)
Proceeds from sale of investments 14,354,307

Net investing cash flows from continuing operations (74,981)
Net investing cash flows from discontinued operations (92,636)

Net cash used in investing activities (167,617)

Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Payments on capital lease (42,962)
Payments on long-term debt from discontinued operations (632,505)

Net cash used in financing activities (675,467)

Net increase in cash 431,325

Cash, beginning of period 3,078,824

Cash, end of period 3,510,149$

Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures
Interest paid 717,211$

Noncash Investing and Financing Activities
Pending trades to purchase investments 769,729$

Purchases of equipment with capital lease 307,608$

See notes to consolitdated financial statements on page 70
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SOCIETY OF EXLORATION GEOPHYSICISTS

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2018

Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of organization

The Society of Exploration of Geophysicists (the Society or SEG), was organized in 1930 as a not-for-
profit organization. The objectives of the Society are to promote the science and common scientific 
interests of geophysicists, and to maintain a high professional standing among its members. The Society 
accomplishes these objectives by publishing scientific literature, conducting professional development and 
student programs, hosting technical meeting and conferences, and providing other informational services.

The Society maintains offices in the United States, United Arab Emirates, and China. The corporate 
headquarters are in Tulsa, Oklahoma.

Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Society and its subsidiaries, SEG 
Advanced Modeling Corporation (SEAM), SEG Real Estate Corp (REC), and SEG Global, Inc. All 
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

These consolidated financial statements do not include the SEG Foundation (the Foundation), an affiliated 
not-for-profit organization governed by a separate board of directors. The Foundation receives 
contributions to support scientific, educational, and charitable activities to benefit geophysicists and their 
professional community. The Society is the sole corporate member of the Foundation.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in banks and all highly liquid investments with an original maturity 
of three months or less. Accounts at each institution are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation up to $250,000. At times, cash exceeds federally insured limits, but management believes any 
possible risk of loss is minimal. At December 31, 2018, the Society and SEAM had deposits in excess of 
the federally insured limit.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable largely consists of uncollateralized billings for exhibit space, research completed and 
in progress, the Society's share of revenues related to collaborative conferences, advertising, page charges, 
and reimbursements for tenant improvement costs. Accounts receivable are stated at the amount billed,
less an allowance for uncollectible accounts.

The Society provides for losses on receivables using the allowance method. The allowance is based on
experience, terms of agreements, and other circumstances affecting the ability of customers to meet their 
obligations. Outstanding balances are written off when management determines that the receivables will
not be collected. The Society provides for probable uncollectible amounts through a provision to bad debts 
expense and a corresponding amount to the allowance based on management's assessment of the current 



712018 Annual Report
8

status of individual accounts.  Unpaid amounts that remain after management has pursued reasonable 
collection efforts are written off through a charge to the allowance for uncollectible accounts and a credit 
to accounts receivable. Interest is not charged on outstanding balances. At December 31, 2018, 
management estimates that the allowance for uncollectible accounts of $61,051 is adequate to absorb losses
arising from nonpayment. 

Inventories

Inventories of publications for resale are valued at the lower of cost, determined by the average method, or 
net realizable value.

Investments

Investments in marketable securities are carried at estimated fair value as reported by the asset custodians.
See Note 3 for description of the fair value inputs and methodologies utilized.  Unrealized gains and losses 
are included in the statement of activities. 

Property and equipment

The Society capitalizes all expenditures for property and equipment in excess of $1,000. Property and
equipment are carried at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method based on the
estimated useful lives of the assets. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related 
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is included in the 
statement of activities. Expenditure for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Major 
improvements are capitalized. The lives used in computing depreciation are as follows: building 40 to 50 
years; software, tenant improvements, furniture and equipment three to ten years.

The Society reviews the carrying value of property and equipment for impairment whenever events and
circumstances indicate that the carrying values of long-lived assets may not be recoverable from the future
cash flows expected to result from their use and ultimate disposition. In cases where the undiscounted 
expected future cash flows are less than the carrying values, an impairment loss is recognized equal to the 
amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of each asset. The factors considered by the 
Society in performing an impairment assessment include current operating results, trends, and prospects, 
and the effects of obsolescence, demand, competition, and other economic factors. Based on these criteria, 
there was no impairment for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Net assets

Net assets and income, expenses, gains and losses are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions. Accordingly, the Society's net assets and changes therein are classified and reported 
as follows:

Without donor restrictions – Net assets without donor restrictions represent those resources that 
are not restricted by donors.

With donor restrictions – Net assets with donor restrictions reflect donor-imposed restrictions that 
require the Society to utilize or expend the related assets as specified. The Society does not have 
any net assets with donor restrictions at December 31, 2018.
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Revenue recognition

Funding for certain program activities is received in advance, recorded as deferred revenue and recognized 
as follows:

• Membership dues and publication subscription revenues are recognized ratably over the applicable 
membership or subscription period;

• Meeting revenues are recognized as revenue at the time of the meeting; and
• Research revenues are recognized as the related services are performed in accordance with the

terms of the contracts.

Foundation support for programs

The Society recognizes foundation support revenue from the Foundation as it incurs expenses that the 
Foundation has agreed to reimburse.

Building lease operations

Office space that is not used by the Society is leased to other organizations. Income from these operations 
is recognized ratably over the lease term.

Deferred leasing costs consist of costs incurred to obtain new tenants, including leasing commissions and 
incentives, that are paid in advance and due upon occupancy.  These costs are recognized over the life of
the lease.

Functional expenses

The costs of providing various programs and supporting activities have been summarized on a functional 
basis in the consolidated statement of activities.  The consolidated statement of functional expenses present 
expenses by function and natural classification.  Expenses directly attributable to a specific functional area 
of the Society are reported as expenses of those functional areas while indirect costs, include salaries and 
benefits, that benefit multiple functional areas have been allocated among the various functions based on 
estimated cost attributable to each function.

Income taxes

The Society is exempt from federal income tax under Section 50l(c)(6) of the Internal Revenue Code and 
is not considered a private foundation. Income from its consolidated for-profit subsidiary is subject to 
income tax. Advertising income not directly related to the Society's tax-exempt purpose and income from
debt-financed real estate are subject to taxation as unrelated business income. The Society did not report
any tax expenses associated with unrelated business income or its subsidiary for the year ended 
December 31, 2018.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reported period. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates.



732018 Annual Report
10

Recently adopted accounting pronouncement

In August 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update 
(ASU) 2016-14, Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958): Presentation of Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit 
Entities, which provides more relevant information about available resources (and the changes in those 
resources) to donors, grantors, creditors and other users.  The most significant aspects of the ASU are as 
follows:  (1) it replaces the current presentation of three classes of net assets (unrestricted, temporarily 
restricted, and permanently restricted) with two classes of net assets – net assets with donor restrictions and 
net assets without donor restrictions, (2) it expands the disclosures about the nature and amount of any 
donor restrictions, board designations of net assets without donor restrictions, (3) it requires expenses to be 
presented by nature and function, as well as an analysis of the allocation of these expenses, and (4) it 
requires specific quantitative and qualitative disclosures to improve the ability of financial statement users 
to assess the entity's available financial resources and the methods by which it manages liquidity and 
liquidity risk.  The Society has adopted the standard as of December 31, 2018.

Accounting pronouncements not yet adopted

In May 2014, FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). The 
standard is a comprehensive new revenue recognition model that requires revenue to be recognized in a 
manner to depict the transfer of goods or services to a customer at an amount that reflects the consideration 
expected to be received in exchange for those goods or services.  The FASB has also issued a number of 
updates to this standard.  The standard is effective for the Society beginning January 1, 2019.  Management 
is still assessing the effects this standard will have on the consolidated financial statements and operations.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which amends the existing 
accounting standards for lease accounting, including requiring lessees to recognize most leases on their 
balance sheets.  The Society plans to early adopt this standard effective January 1, 2019.  The standard 
requires a modified retrospective transition approach for all leases existing at, or entered into after, the date
of initial application, with an option to use certain transition relief.  The primary impact of the adoption is 
that the Society will recognize right-of-use assets and offsetting lease liabilities for the present value of the 
future operating lease payments (See Note 10).

Subsequent events

Management has evaluated subsequent events through May 30, 2019, the date the consolidated financial 
statements were available to be issued.

Note 2 – Discontinued Operations

During 2018, the Board of Directors made the decision to market the office buildings held by REC.  The 
Society is selling these buildings to focus its operations on its core mission to advance the science of 
geophysics and the profession. After the sale, the Society plans to continue to lease its current headquarter 
office space located in the buildings held for sale through the foreseeable future. The Society incurred 
intercompany lease expense for this office space of $358,094, which was included in continuing operations, 
for the year ended December 31, 2018.  Future annual lease expense will approximate the amount of lease 
expense incurred in 2018. All the assets and liabilities for REC are classified as held for sale on the 
statement of financial position.  In addition, all of the operations of REC have been reported as discontinued 
operations for the period ended December 31, 2018.
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Assets held for the year ended December 31, 2018, are as follows:

Carrying amounts of major classes of assets
included as part of discontinued operations:

Accounts receivable 85,184$
Prepaid expenses 31,654
Deferred leasing costs 821,228
Property and equipment 23,197,430

Total assets of the disposal group classified
as held for sale 24,135,496$

Carrying amounts of major classes of liabilities
include as part of discontinued operations:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 270,342$
Current portion of long-term debt 657,108
Deferred revenue 20,484
Long-term debt 17,468,897

Total liabilities of the disposal group classified 
as held for sale 18,416,831$

Discontinued operations were comprised of the following for the year ended December 31, 2018:

Building lease revenue 2,957,872$
Building lease operation expenses (1,553,483)
Depreciation (1,183,642)
Interest (717,211)

Loss on discontinued operations (496,464)$

Operating cash flows from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2018, are as follows:

Loss from discontinued operations (496,464)$
Adjustments to reconcile loss from discontinued operations

to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 1,183,642
Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (57,565)
Prepaid expenses 2,314
Deferred leasing costs 88,408
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (51,015)

Net cash provided by operating activities of
discontinued operations 669,320$
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Note 3 – Investments

Fair value measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  Accounting Standards provide a 
consistent framework for measuring fair value and a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to 
valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted 
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest 
priority to measurements involving significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three 
levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

• Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical securities

• Level 2 – Other significant observable inputs (including quoted prices for similar securities)

• Level 3- Significant unobservable inputs 

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which a fair measurement in its entirety is based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.  There were no investment 
transfers due to changes in the observability of significant inputs between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 
assets during the year ended December 31, 2018.

Investments measured at fair value on a recurring basis consisted of the following:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Mutual funds 3,347,443$ -$ -$ 3,347,443$
Equity securities 4,657,813 - - 4,657,813
Fixed income and preferreds - 175,194 - 175,194
Government securities 119,183 190,046 - 309,229

Total investments at fair value 8,124,439$ 365,240$ -$ 8,489,679$

Fair Value of Measurements as of December 31, 2018

Investment loss consists of the following at December 31:

Interest and dividend income 179,523$
Realized/unrealized loss on investments (795,802)
Investment fees (60,569)

(676,848)$
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Note 4 – Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following at December 31, 2018:

Held for Held for
Long-Term Sale
Purposes (see Note 2)

Land -$ 489,605$
Building and leasehold improvements 23,219 31,282,525
Application development 594,362 -
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 654,314 27,564
Capital lease equipment 307,609 -

1,579,504 31,799,694
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,219,954) (8,602,264)

Property and equipment, net 359,550$ 23,197,430$

Depreciation and amortization expense (including $1,183,460 classified as part of the loss from 
discontinued operations) totaled $1,271,797 for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Note 5 – Related Party Transactions

The Society and Foundation support each other with contributions, and the Society provides services to the 
Foundation, some of which are reimbursed by the Foundation. During the year ended December 31, 2018,
the Society implemented a requirement for related parties to reimburse a portion of the costs of shared 
services (indirect costs).

Transactions for the year ended December 31, 2018, are as follows:

Foundation support for the program activities 2,318,791$

Reimbursement from the Foundation for direct 
fundraising and administrative services 139,379

Reimbursement from the Foundation for indirect 
administrative services 69,692

2,527,862$

In-kind contributions to the Foundation consist of the portion of allocation of indirect costs not required to 
be reimbursed totaling $46,461 for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Note 6 – Retirement Plan

The Society sponsors a defined contribution plan. The plan is nondiscriminatory and covers all SEG 
employees who are foreign nationals or legal residents of the United States and have attained the age of 21. 
The Society's contributions to this plan are computed based on a safe-harbor nonelective 3% of salaries and 
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a one-for-one safe-harbor matching contribution of employees' contributions, up to a maximum of 3% of 
salaries. In addition, a discretionary profit-sharing contribution can be made after reaching the end of the 
plan year. The discretionary contribution, if any, will be determined from year to year.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Society's expense for the safe-harbor match and safe-harbor 
nonelective contributions was $247,836. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Society made a 
$43,552 discretionary contribution to the plan.  

Note 7 – Long-Term Debt

REC has financing arrangements incurred for construction of a building. The financing is divided among 
three tranches and is collateralized by all assets of REC and is guaranteed by the Society. REC and the 
Society have semi-annual financial reporting requirements and affirmative covenants including: 1) a
requirement for the Society to maintain liquid assets of at least $5 million, 2) a requirement for the Society 
and REC to maintain a combined tangible net worth of at least $10 million, and 3) a requirement for debt 
service ratio of a minimum of 1.30 to 1.00. The Society has failed to meet certain covenants and has 
received waivers from the lender until the next reporting period. All of these liabilities are held for sale as 
of December 31, 2018, see Note 2.

Long-term debt under the agreement is as follows:

Note payable to a bank with monthly payments of $14,198
The note bears interest at 3.40% and matures October 2020 
with a balloon payment due at maturity 1,667,585$

Note payable to a bank with monthly payments of $29,549
The note bears interest at 3.70% and matures October 2022
with a balloon payment due at maturity 4,448,999

Note payable to a bank with monthly payments of $68,818
The note bears interest at 4.00% and matures October 2025
with a balloon payment due at maturity 12,009,421

18,126,005$

Long-term debt maturities are as follows:

2019 657,108$
2020 2,113,450
2021 585,526
2022 4,242,558
2023 409,594

Thereafter 10,117,769

18,126,005$

Interest expense (all included in the loss from discontinued operations) totaled $717,211 for the year ended 
December 31, 2018.
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Note 8 – Capital Leases

The Society leases certain equipment under a capital lease and has recorded an outstanding obligation and 
related lease assets. The capital lease asset of $271,721 (amount net accumulated amortization of $35,888)
as of December 31, 2018, is include in property and equipment. Amortization of the leased property is 
included in depreciation and amortization expense.

The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments under capital leases as of December 31, 
2018:

2019 72,380$
2020 72,380
2021 72,380
2022 72,380
2023 30,159

Total minimum lease payment 319,679
Less interest (42,972)

Total present value 276,707
Less current portion (55,811)

Capital lease, net of current portion 220,896$

Interest expense on the capital lease obligation was $11,405 for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Note 9 – Future Rental Commitments

REC leases approximately 80% of the office space in its first building and 95% in the second building to 
unaffiliated parties under noncancelable operating leases. These buildings are held for sale as of 
December 31, 2018 (See Note 2).

The following is a schedule of minimum future rental revenues from unaffiliated tenants, including leasing
commitments made subsequent to December 31, 2018, as of:

2019 2,750,928$
2020 2,614,993
2021 2,455,063
2022 2,099,470
2023 1,640,845

Thereafter 2,801,452

14,362,751$

Note 10 – Operating Leases

The Society leases certain equipment under noncancelable operating leases. Rental expense for the year 
ended December 31, 2018, totaled $59,410.
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Future minimum rental payments are as follows at December 31, 2018:

2019 101,835$
2020 107,849
2021 107,849
2022 47,187
2023 27,899

Thereafter 11,624

Total 404,243$

Note 11 – Financial Assets and Liquidity Resources

The Society's financial assets available for general expenditures within one year of the December 31, 2018,
consolidated statement of financial position are as follows: 

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 3,510,149$
Accounts receivable, net 2,038,616
Accounts receivable, SEG Foundation 921,566
Investments 8,489,679

Total financial assets available to management
for general expenditures within one year 14,960,010$

The Society maintains a policy of structuring its financial assets to be available as its general expenditures, 
liabilities and other obligations come due.  The Society follows the practice of maintaining six months of 
operating expenses in reserve.  In addition, the Society received a payment of $1 million from an insurance 
settlement related to Annual Meeting losses during Hurricane Harvey, which will be moved to the 
investment accounts as a reserve.  

Note 12 – Subsequent Events

Due to Hurricane Harvey, the convention revenue for the meeting that was held in Houston, Texas, in 2017 
was negatively affected.  The Society received an insurance settlement of $1 million dollars for the negative 
impact to this event in 2019.  
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2018 financials 
The following charts display the sources of revenue and program and support expenses for 2018 and 2017:  
 
 
Revenues 2018 2017 
Contributions $ 1,702,000 $ 782,000 
In-kind support from SEG 46,000 102,000 
Unrealized Gain/Loss (1,552,000) 2,690,000 
Loss on Bad Debt (10,000) (39,000) 
 $ 186,000 $ 3,535,000 

 
 
Expenses 2018 2017 
SEG Program Support $ 2,319,000 $ 2,374,000 
Management & General 220,000 322,000 
Fundraising 136,000 141,000 
Community Grants - 100,000 
 $ 2,675,000 $ 2,937,000 

 
 
Net Assets 2018 2017 
Beginning of Year $ 22,510,000 $ 21,912,000 
End of Year 20,021,000 22,510,000 
 ($ 2,489,000) $ 598,000 

 
 
 

All monetary amounts are in U.S. dollars. Complete audited financial statements are available at seg.org/foundation. 

FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE 

87% 
PROGRAM 

$2,319,000 

5% 
FUNDRAISING 

$136,000 

8% 
ADMINISTRATION 

$220,000 

SEG Foundation Financial Summary for 2018
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2018 Financial Summary 
SEG program and Foundation support expenses are funded by contributions from corporate and individual 
donors, the Foundation’s Development Reinvestment Fee, and the Annual Fund. The Foundation continued 
to see the effects of the industry downturn with fewer contributions (both in number and in size) than in 
previous years. The Foundation maintained basic management and general support services throughout the 
year. However, the Board of Directors also began serious discussion regarding the need for another major 
gifts campaign to benefit new and existing SEG programs – in particular, Geoscientists Without Borders®. 
The Foundation net assets were slightly more than $20 million at the end of 2018.  
 
Foundation-funded SEG Programs 
During 2018, Foundation donors supported 18 SEG programs/activities, providing grants to SEG totaling 
more than $2.3 million. These programs include: Professional Development (Distinguished Lecture, 
Honorary Lecture, Distinguished Instructor Short Course, SEG on Demand, SEG Wiki; $613,000), Experiential 
Learning (EVOLVE, Field Camps; $354,000), Social Impact (Geoscientists Without Borders®; $435,000), 
Student Programs (Student Chapters, Scholarships, Student Leadership Symposium, Student Education 
Program, Travel Grants, Challenge Bowl, Near Surface Geophysical Research Award; $901,000), and Others 
(Historical Preservation, SEG Online, SEG Publications; $16,000).  
 
Revenues: Contributions 
With generous renewed, multi-year commitments from sustaining investors BGP, Inc. (SEG on Demand) and 
Shell E&P (Honorary Lecture), the Foundation saw a significant increase in corporate fundraising over 2017. 
In addition, 11 major gift individuals contributed more than $235,000 to support the Annual Fund and other 
designated SEG program funds. (Note that revenue reported by the Foundation includes new pledges and 
contributions made in the current year and does not reflect additional cash received from pledges made in 
prior years.) 
 
Expenses: Supporting services 
The Foundation’s expenses include program support, management and general, and fundraising. Program 
support is directly related to program grant awards to SEG. Management and general are related to the 
general administration and operation of the Foundation. Fundraising is directly related to the development 
and stewardship of Foundation donors.  
 
Fundraising Efficiency 
A commonly used metric for monitoring fundraising efficiency is the 
“fundraising cost ratio”. To calculate the cost per dollar raised, divide the 
fundraising expenses by total contributions. Calculating fundraising 
expenses and revenues using rolling averages over a period of three to 
five years reduces the impact on any one large gift, bequest, grant, or a 
low-revenue year on the fundraising cost ratio in any given year. The 
Foundation has chosen to use this three-year rolling average, and feels to 
be most prudent of donor intent, this ratio should not exceed 20%.   
 
Fundraising efficiency formula 
 

 fundraising expenses     x          $100          =          dollars spent 
      contributions    per $100 raised 
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Self-Identified Efficiency Goal

SEG Foundation (3 year average)
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